The Vault

https://prism.ucalgary.ca

Open Theses and Dissertations

2014-09-30

Nanofiller Modification and Incorporation into Fluoropolymer Nanocomposites and the Properties thereof

Khajehpour, Maryam

Khajehpour, M. (2014). Nanofiller Modification and Incorporation into Fluoropolymer Nanocomposites and the Properties thereof (Doctoral thesis, University of Calgary, Calgary, Canada). Retrieved from https://prism.ucalgary.ca. doi:10.11575/PRISM/27053 http://hdl.handle.net/11023/1883 Downloaded from PRISM Repository, University of Calgary

UNIVERSITY OF CALGARY

Nanofiller Modification and Incorporation into Fluoropolymer Nanocomposites and the

Properties thereof

by

Maryam Khajehpour

A THESIS

SUBMITTED TO THE FACULTY OF GRADUATE STUDIES IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

GRADUATE PROGRAM IN CHEMICAL AND PETROLEUM ENGINEERING

CALGARY, ALBERTA

SEPTEMBER, 2014

© Maryam Khajehpour 2014

7o: My Beloved Parents

Acknowledgment

This thesis was made possible by the support and help of many people whom I would like to sincerely appreciate.

First and foremost, I would like to express my sincere gratitude to my advisor Professor Uttandaraman Sundararaj because of his continuous support and encouragement during my PhD career. It is an honor for me to do my doctoral program under his supervision and have the opportunity to learn from his personality, attitude, enthusiasm, and immense knowledge. I am truly grateful for his patience and guidance which had great effect on both my personal and academic development during my graduate life at University of Calgary.

My special appreciation goes to all the friendly and cheerful Polymer Processing Group members. In particular, I would like to acknowledge Dr. Mohammad Arjmand, Dr. Genaro Gelves, Mr. Alireza Zehtab Yazdi, and Mr. Soheil Sadeghi for their good collaboration and assistance with analyzing the results. Other past and present group members that I have had pleasure to work with are Ivonne Otero, Ali Sarvi, Shadi Jamshidi and Ahmed Abouelmagd.

I would like to take this opportunity to thank Dr. Nader Mahinpey and Dr. Pedro Pereira Almao for serving as my supervisory committee members and their helpful comments. Also, I would like to thank my examiners for their time and useful insight, namely: Dr. Marianna Kontopoulou, Dr. Les Jozef Sudak, and Dr. Brij Maini.

I highly appreciate the financial supports from Natural Science and Engineering Research Council (NSERC) and Weatherford Company for this PhD work. Special thanks to Dr. Michael Schoel, Dr. Tobias Furstenhaupt and Dr. Wei Dong at Health Science Department, University of Calgary, for microscopic imaging. I am also thankful to Mr. Wade White, Dr. Michelle Forgeron, and Mr. Jian Jun Li at Department of Chemistry, University of Calgary, for their help with elemental and spectroscopic analyses.

I owe my deepest gratitude to my friends in Calgary, Edmonton and Iran who were always sources of laughter, joy, and moral support. I would never forget the time we spent together and the true friendship that I've had with Razieh, Sabereh, Marzieh, Mitra, Sepideh, Raz, Reyhaneh, Parnian, Alya, Maryam, and Hanifeh.

Last but certainly not the least, I would like to convey my heartfelt thanks to my family. Words cannot express how grateful I am to my parents for all of their love and unconditional constant support throughout my life. I will forever be thankful to my brothers and sister in-laws. I am so proud and fortunate of having them as my family.

Abstract

Polymer nanocomposites (PNC) are of great interest owing to the many potential property enhancements possible via introducing different types of nanofillers in polymer matrices. In recent decades, increasing attention has being paid to PNCs due to their light weight, low cost, and ease of processability compared to metal alternatives and due to their novel capability to tune properties. Depending on the end-use application, certain PNCs properties are targeted and the PNC formulation and processing can be manipulated to achieve the desired properties.

In this PhD thesis, different PNC properties have been improved by employing different strategies: (1) modification of nanofillers, (2) synthesis of novel nanofillers, (3) implementation of hybrid fillers, and (4) amendment of PNC production methods. For nanofiller modification, chemical treatment of nanoclay, multiwall carbon nanotube (MWCNT) and graphene nanoribbon (GNR) were performed. For the second strategy, GNR was synthesized from parent MWCNT to benefit from higher surface area and interaction of the novel nanofillers with the polymer chains. The main objective of these two strategies is to improve the affinity and dispersion of nanofillers in the host polymer to enhance PNC properties. Utilizing a secondary filler to further enhance the desired properties was the third strategy and was accomplished via a hybrid filler PNC consisting of MWCNT and nanoclay. Finally, the fourth strategy was to develop optimized PNC production methods. The aim of the last two strategies was to obtain an improved morphology for the nanocomposite and it is well known that nanocomposite structure can be used to control the final PNC properties.

Acknowledgment	iii
Abstract	v
List of Figures	xi
List of Tables	xv
List of Symbols and Abbreviations	. xvi
Chapter 1. Introduction	1
1.1. General back ground	1
1.1.1. Clay/Polymer Nanocomposites	3
1.1.1.1. Nanoclay Modification	5
1.1.1.2. Clay/Polymer Nanocomposites Production Methods	6
1.1.2. Multi-walled Carbon Nanotube (MWCNT) and Graphene Nanoribbon (GNR)/Polymer Nanocomposites	6
1.1.2.1. MWCNT and GNR modification	7
1.2. State-of-the-Art	8
(I) Modification and synthesis of novel nanofillers	8
(II) Implementation of hybrid fillers	9
(III) Amendment of PNC production methods	10
1.3. References	12
Chapter 2. Literature Review: Materials	18
2.1. Fluoropolymers	18
2.1.1. Fluoroelastomer	20
Applications of fluoroelastomers	21
Properties of fluoroelastomers	23
2.1.2. PVDF	25
2.2. Nanofillers	26
2.2.1. Nanoclay	28
2.2.2. Carbon nanotube	30
2.2.3. Graphene nanoribbon	32
2.3. References	35
Chapter 3. Processing and Characterization	45
3.1. Processing	45
3.1.1. Mixers	45
3.1.1.1. Melt mixing	45
Haake Batch mixer	46

Table of Contents

Miniature batch mixer	46
Alberta Polymer Asymmetric Minimixer (APAM)	46
3.1.1.2. Solution mixing setup	47
3.1.2. Ultrasonication and Homogenizers	47
Bath sonicator	49
Probe sonicator	50
Digital Homogenizer	50
3.1.3. Carbon Nanotube Synthesis Setup	50
Nitrogen doped Carbon Nanotube Synthesis setup	51
3.1.4. Graphene nanoribbon Synthesis Procedure	52
3.2. Sample preparation techniques for characterization tests	53
3.2.1. Molding	53
Compression molding	53
3.2.2. Ultramicrotome	55
3.3. Characterization	56
3.3.1. Thermal Gravimetric Analysis	56
3.3.2. Differential Scanning Calorimetry	56
3.3.3. X-Ray Diffraction	57
3.3.4. Fourier transform infrared	57
3.3.5. Nuclear Magnetic Resonance	58
3.3.6. Microscopic Imaging	59
Transmission electron microscopy	59
Scanning electron microscopy	59
3.3.7. Electrical properties	60
Electrical conductivity	60
Electromagnetic interference (EMI) shielding	63
Dielectric Permittivity	66
3.3.8. Tensile test	68
3.3.9. Rheometery	68
3.4. References	70
Chapter 4. Modification of Montmorillonite with Alkyl Silanes and Fluorosurfactant for Clay/Fluoroelastomer (FKM) Nanocomposites	73
4.1. Presentation of the Article	73
4.2. Abstract	74
4.3. Introduction	75

4.4. Experimental	77
4.4.1. Materials	77
4.4.2. Clay modification	78
4.4.3. Clay polymer nanocomposite preparation	79
4.4.4. Characterization	80
4.5. Results and discussion	82
4.5.1. Clay modification	82
4.5.1.1. Silane grafting	82
4.5.2. Effect of surfactant modification	89
4.6. Modified clay/FKM nanocomposites	92
4.6.1. Dispersion and morphology	92
4.6.2. Thermal stability	96
4.7. Conclusion	97
4.8. References	99
Chapter 5. Tuning the curing behavior of fluoroelastomer by incorporation of nitrogen nanoribbons	en doped graphene 105
5.1. Presentation of the Article	105
5.2. Abstract	
5.3. Introduction	
5.4. Experimental	110
5.4.1. Materials	110
5.4.2. Method	111
5.4.2.1. Nanocomposites preparation	111
5.4.2.2. Characterization	111
5.5. Results and discussion	112
5.5.1. TEM images	112
5.5.2. Surface Chemistry of Nanoparticles	114
5.5.3. DSC	118
5.5.4. Fourier transform infrared spectroscopy (FTIR) and reactions	122
5.5.5. Rheology	125
5.6. Conclusion	131
5.7. References	133
Chapter 6. Dielectric Properties of Multi-Walled Carbon Nanotube (MWCNT)/Clay/Properties (PVDF) Nanocomposites: Effect of Clay Incorporation	olyvinylidene fluoride 138
6.1. Presentation of the Article	138
6.2. Abstract	139
6.3. Introduction	140

6.4. Experimental	141
6.4.1. Materials	141
6.4.2. Composite preparation and molding	142
6.4.3. Characterization tests	142
6.5. Results and Discussion	143
6.5.1. Crystallization	143
6.5.2. Morphology	148
6.5.3. Dielectric Properties	150
6.6. Conclusion	155
6.7. References	157
Chapter 7. Influence of Melt-Mixing Process Conditions on Mechanical Performance of Organoclay/Fluoroelastomer Nanocomposite	160
7.1. Presentation of the Article	160
7.2. Abstract	161
7.3. Introduction	162
7.4. Experimental	164
7.4.1. Materials	164
7.4.2. Clay/ FKM Nanocomposite preparation	165
7.4.3. Nanocomposite Characterization	167
7.4.4. Cross-linking Density Measurement	167
7.5. Results and Discussion	168
7.5.1. Thermal Stability	168
7.5.2. Morphology	168
7.5.3. Rheometry and Crosslinking Measurement	171
7.5.4. Mechanical Properties	175
7.6. Conclusion	178
7.7. References	180
Chapter 8. Summary, Conclusion, and Future Work	185
8.2. Conclusion	186
8.2.1. Montmorillonite modification for clay/FKM nanocomposite	187
8.2.2. Tuning the curing behavior of FKM by incorporation of Nitrogen-doped Graphene Nano Robbon (CNx-GNR)	187
8.2.3. Hybrid fillers/PVDF nanocomposites	188
8.2.4. Melt-mixing process conditions optimization for clay/FKM nanocomposite mechanical performance	190
8.3. Recommendations for future work	191
8.3.1. Mathematical modeling	191

8.3.1.1. Interfacial interaction between polymer and nanofillers in PNCs	192
8.3.1.2. Mechanical performance of PNCs	193
8.3.2. Hybrid fillers	194
8.3.3. GNR/FKM nanocomposites	195
8.3.3.1. Mechanical and electrical properties	195
8.3.3.2. Improve compounding protocol	196
8.3.4.3. Different curing system for GNR/FKM nanocomposites	197
8.4. References	198

List of Figures

Figure 1-1. Morphologies of layered silicate-polymer composite	4
Figure 1-2. Experimental strategy flowchart	11
Figure 2-1. Progressive Cavity Pump	22
Figure 2-2. Surface area/volume ratio for three different classes of nanomaterials	27
Figure 2-3. Montmorillonite structure	29
Figure 2-4. Atomic structures of (a) armchair and (b) zig-zag carbon nanotubes	30
Figure 2-5. Structure of (a) graphene, (b) graphite, and (c) graphene nanoribbon	32
Figure 3-1. Melt-intercalation mixers; a) Haake internal, b) Miniature batch, and c) APAM	47
Figure 3-2. a) Stirrer, hot plate, and thermocouple, b) Schematic of solution mixing	
process	48
Figure 3-3. a) Bath sonicator, b) probe sonicator, and c) digital homogenizer	49
Figure 3-4. CNT synthesis setup	51
Figure 3-5. Schematic longitudinal unzipping of MWCNT	52
Figure 3-6. GNR synthesis process	53
Figure 3-7. (a) Hot press setup, and (b) Compression molding steps	54
Figure 3-8. Ultramicrotome system for sectioning materials prior to microscopy	56
Figure 3-9. Electrical conductivity range for polymer composites	60
Figure 3-10. Resistivity measurement setup; a) Loresta, b) Hiresta, and c) Keithley	62
Figure 3-11. (a) 4-Pin probe for and (b) Ring electrode probe resistivity measurement	62
Figure 3-12. The equivalent circuit for Keithley 8009 Test Fixture	63
Figure 3-13. EMI shielding and dielectric permittivity measurement setup	64
Figure 3-14. (a) Schematic of tensile test, and (b) TensiTech machine	68
Figure 3-15. (a) Parallel plate rheometry schematic, and (b) MCR 302 Anton Paar	
Rheometer	69
Figure 4-1. Schematics for (a) Mnt modification with alkylsilanes and (b) Mnt modification	
with surfactant	79
Figure 4-2. Modified clay/FKM nanocomposite preparation	80

Figure 4-3. TGA and differential TGA results for (a) unmodified Mnt, (b) Mnt modified	
with 7-octenyltrimethoxysilane, (c) Mnt modified with octadecyltrimethoxysilane, (d) Mnt	
modified with 10-undecenyltrimethoxysilane, (e) Cloisite	84
20A	
Figure 4-4. FTIR results for (a) unmodified Mnt, Mnt modified with (b) 7-	
octenyltrimethoxysilane, (c) 10-undecenyltrimethoxysilane, and (d)	86
octadecyltrimethoxysilane	
Figure 4-5. NMR results for (a) Mnt modified with octadecyltrimethoxysilane, (b) Mnt	
modified with 10-undecenyltrimethoxysilane, (c) Mnt modified with 7-	88
octenyltrimethoxysilane, and (d) unmodified Mnt	
Figure 4-6. XRD results for (a) unmodified Mnt and (b) modified Mnt using method 1	
(surfactant addition prior to that of silane), and (c) modified Mnt using method 2 (silane	90
addition prior to that of surfactant)	
Figure 4-7. FTIR results for (a) unmodified Mnt and modified Mnt using silane and	
surfactant with (b) method 1 (surfactant addition prior to that of silane), and (c) method 2	91
(silane addition prior to that of surfactant)	
Figure 4-8. XRD results for unmodified clay (Mnt), silylated clay (18CSI-Mnt), and clay	
modified with silane and surfactant (18CSI-SF-Mntn) and the respective nanocomposites	93
with FKM	
Figure 4-9. d-spacing decrease during nanocomposite production	94
Figure 4-10. TEM image of (a) unmodified Mnt /FKM, (b) organosilane-modified Mnt	
/FKM	95
Figure 4-11. TEM images of (a) silane-modified Mnt /FKM and (b) surfactant and silane	
modified Mnt /FKM	95
Figure 4-12. SEM images of (a) silane-modified Mnt /FKM and (b) silane and surfactant	
modified Mnt /FKM	96
Figure 5-1. TEM images of (a) undoped MWCNT before unzipping, (b) undoped MWCNT	
after unzipping, (c) N-doped bamboo structure MWCNT before unzipping and (d) after	113
unzipping	
Figure 5-2. TEM images of (a) CNx-MWCNT /FKM and (b) O-CNx-GNR/FKM	
nanocomposites after curing	114

Figure 5-3. C1s XPS spectra for (a) CNx-MWCNTs, oxidized, reduced, and (b) Un-	
MWCNTs, oxidized,	115
reduced	
Figure 5-4. N1s XPS spectra for (a) N-MWCNT, oxidized, reduced, (b) after oxidation, and	
(c) after reduction	117
Figure 5-5. ΔT_g over curing reaction as a function of filler loading for N-doped	
MWCNT/FKM, undoped MWCNT/FKM, CNx-GNR/FKM, and undoped GNR/FKM	120
nanocomposites	
Figure 5-6. DCS results for curing process heat flow for; (a) 0.5 wt% filler/FKM	
nanocomposites (fillers: CNx-doped MWCNT, undoped MWCNT, CNx-doped GNR, and	
undoped GNR/FKM) (b) different loadings of CNx-GNR/FKM nanocomposites, and (c)	121
different loadings of undoped GNR/FKM nanocomposites	
Figure 5-7. FTIR results for FKM and GNR/FKM nanocomposites (a) 800 to 1800 cm ⁻¹ , and	
(b) 2800 to 3000 cm ⁻¹	124
Figure 5-8. Frequency dependence of elastic modulus for uncured MWCNT/FKM and	
GNR/FKM compounds before curing at 90 °C	126
Figure 5-9. Temperature evolution of elastic modulus for (a) un-doped oxidized GNR, (b)	
oxidized CNx-GNR, (c) undoped MWCNT and (d) CNx- MWCNT nanocomposite samples	127
for different concentrations	
Figure 5-10. Temperature dependence of (a) elastic modulus and (b) damping factor for	
FKM gum and different GNR nanocomposites	130
Figure 5-11. Frequency dependence of elastic modulus for cured CNR nanocomposite	
samples and uncured FKM, with no curative, at 250°C	131
Figure 6-1. XRD results for pure PVDF and MWCNT/PVDF	
nanocomposite	144
Figure 6-2. XRD results for pure PVDF, 0.5 wt% MWCNT/ PVDF, 0.5 wt% MWCNT/1.0	
wt% Cloisite 30B/PVDF, and 0.5 wt% MWCNT/3.0 wt% Cloisite	145
30B/PVDF	
Figure 6-3. FTIR-ATR results for pure PVDF, 0.5 wt% MWCNT/PVDF, 0.5 wt%	
MWCNT/1.0 wt% Cloisite 30B/PVDF, and 0.5 wt% MWCNT/3.0 wt% Cloisite	146
30B/PVDF	

Figure 6-4. DSC results for pure PVDF, 0.5 wt% MWCNT/ PVDF, 0.5 wt% MWCNT/1.0	
wt% Cloisite 30B/PVDF, and 0.5 wt% MWCNT/3.0 wt% Cloisite	148
30B/PVDF	
Figure 6-5. TEM images of (a) 0.5 wt% MWCNT/Clay/ PVDF and (b) 0.5 wt%	
MWCNT/PVDF composites. Better dispersion of MWCNT is seen when clay is added to	150
the composite	
Figure 6-6. Schematic illustration of (a) MWCN/PVDF, (b) MWCNT/Clay/PVDF with	
moderate clay content, and (c) MWCNT/Clay/PVDF with high clay content. They black	150
folded lines stand for MWCNTs and the blue sheets represent clays	
Figure 6-7. Volume resistivity as a function of MWCNT concentration for different clay	
contents in MWCNT/Clay/PVDF nanocomposites	151
Figure 6-8. Dielectric permittivity of 0.5 wt% MWCNT/PVDF composites with different	
clay contents	153
Figure 6-9. Dissipation factor, $tan(\delta)$, of 0.5 wt% MWCNT/ PVDF composites versus	
frequency for different clay contents	154
Figure 7-1. TEM images of Cloisite 20A/ FKM composites; (a) sample 2, (b) sample 8	169
Figure 7-2. XRD results of Cloisite 20A/ FKM composites made at different mixing	
conditions	170
Figure 7-3. MDR Rheographs for clay/FKM composites	172
Figure 7-4. Tensile test results for FKM/clay composites prepared at different process	
conditions	176

List of Tables

Table 1-1. US Nanocomposites demand (million lbs)	2
Table 2-1. Commercialization timeline of major fluoropolymers.	1
Table 2-2. Mechanical properties of different types of fluoroelastomers	2
Table 2-3. Fluoroelastomers trademarks and properties	2
Table 2-4. Examples of nanoscale filler incorporated in polymer composites	2
Table 4-1. Degradation onset points for modified Mnt and the amount of silane reacted with	
the clay surface for different organosilane modifiers	8
Table 4-2. Elemental analysis of unmodified and silane-modified Mnt	8
Table 4-3. NMR chemical shifts for silane-modified and unmodified Mnt	8
Table 4-4. Basal spacing for modified and unmodified Mnt	8
Table 4-5. Intercalation of modified and unmodified Mnt/FKM nanocomposites	9
Table 4-6. 5% mass degradation start point for modified and unmodified Mnt /FKM	
nanocomposites	9
Table 5-1. Functional groups for the nanofillers (XPS results)	1
Table 5-2. Δ Cp and T _g for uncured compounds measured upon heating with the rate of 10	
K/min	1
Table 5-3. Cure behavior of FKM rubber compounds with different loading of the filler	1
Table 6-1. β -phase content for 0.5 wt% MWCNT/PVDF composites with different clay	
contents	14
Table 7-1. Experimental design of melt-mixing process conditions	1
Table 7-2. 5.0% weight degradation start point for Clay/FKM composites	1
Table 7-3. Basal spacing of clay layers in the composites according to the XRD peaks	1
Table 7-4. MDR rheology results for clay/FKM composites: maximum and minimum	
torques, t _{C90} , t _{S2} , and cure rate	1
Table 7-5. Crosslinking density for FKM/clay composites prepared at different process	
conditions	1
Table 7-6. Tensile test results for FKM/clay composites prepared at different process	
conditions	1

List of Symbols and Abbreviations

Symbols

Α	Surface area
A _α	Infrared absorbance for α -phase
A _β	Infrared absorbance for β -phase
С	Electrical capacity
C_0	Capacitance of free space
C_p	Heat capacity at constant pressure
CR	Curing rate
d	Interlayer spacing
d_{001}	Interlayer (basal) spacing
E_c	Composite moduli
E_{f}	Filler young's modulus
E_m	Matrix young's modulus
G'	Elastic modulus
G"	Viscous modulus
G'_∞	Final elasticity
G'o	Minimum elasticity
Hz	Hertz (frequency unit)
Ι	electrical current
I_C	Capacitive currents
I_R	Resistive currents
K_{α}	Infrared absorbance coefficients for α -phase

K_{β}	Infrared absorbance coefficients for β -phase
L	Length
M_H	Maximum torque
M_L	Minimum torque
N_2	Nitrogen
ОН	Hydroxyl group
r	Radius
R	Electrical resistance
S	Scatter parameters
SEA	Shielding by absorption
SE_R	Shielding by reflection
SE_{MR}	Shielding by multiple reflection
SE _{OA}	Overall shielding
t	Thickness
$tan(\delta)$	Dissipation factor
t_{S2}	Induction (scorch) time
<i>tC</i> 90	Optimum cure time
T_c	Crystallization temperature
T_g	Glass transition temperature
T_m	Melting temperature
T_{set}	Set point temperature
V	potential voltage
vol.%	Volume fraction
wt.%	Weight (mass) fraction

- Z Impedance
- *Z'* Real impedance
- Z["] Imaginary impedance

Abbreviations

APAM	Alberta Polymer Asymmetric Minimixer				
ASTM	American Society for Testing and Materials				
ATR	Attenuated Total Reflectance				
CB	Carbon Black				
CCVD	Catalytic Carbon Vapor Deposition method				
CNT	Carbon Nanotube				
CNx-GNR	Nitrogen doped Graphene Nanoribbon				
CNx-MWCNT	Nitrogen doped Multi-Walled Carbon Nanotube				
СООН	Carboxyl group				
CPC	Conductive filler/Polymer Composites				
CPN	Clay Polymer Nanocomposites				
CVD	Chemical Vapor Deposition method				
D-TGA	differential Thermal Gravimetric Analysis				
DSC	Differential Scanning Calorimetry				
EMI	Electromagnetic Interference shielding				
ESD	Electrostatic Discharge				
FKM	Fluoroelastomer				
FTIR	Fourier Transform Infrared				

GNR	Graphene Nanoribbon			
HFP	Hexafluoropropylene			
HRTEM	High Resolution Transmission Electron Microscopy			
IGC	Inverse Gas Chromatography			
MAS	Magic-Angle Spinning			
MDR	Moving Die Rheometer			
MEK	Methyl Ethyl Ketone			
Mnt	Montmorillonite			
MWCNT	Multi-walled Carbon Nanotube			
NMR	Nuclear Magnetic Resonance			
O-CNx-GNR	Oxidized Nitrogen doped Graphene Nanoribbon			
РСР	Progressive Cavity Pump			
PNC	Polymer Nanocomposites			
PVDF	Poly Vinylidene Fluoride			
rad	Radian			
RPM	Revolutions Per Minute			
SEM	Scanning Electron Microscopy			
SWCNT	Single-Wall Carbon Nanotube			
TAIC	Triallyl Isocyanurate			
TEM	Transmission electron microscopy			
TFA	TriFluoroacetic Acid			
TFE	Tetrafluoroethylene			
TGA	Thermal Gravimetric Analysis			
TS	Tensile Strength			

VDF	Vinylidene Fluoride
XPS	X-ray Photoelectron Spectroscopy
XRD	X-ray Diffraction
18CSI-Mnt	Octadecyltrimethoxysilane modified Montmorillonite
18CSI-SF-Mnt	Octadecyltrimethoxysilane-Fluorosurfactant modified Montmorillonite
2M2HT	Dimethyl-dihydrogenated Tallow

Greek letters

Å	Angstrom
α	Phase constant
β	Phase constant
γ	Crystal type
γ _i	Surface tension of phase <i>i</i>
γ_i^d	Dispersion tension
γ_i^P	Polar tension,
δ	Crystal type
Е	Permittivity
έ	Real permittivity
ε″	Imaginary permittivity
\mathcal{E}_0	Permittivity of free space
θ	diffraction angle
λ	Wavelength
μ	Chemical crosslink density

- ρ_{v} Volume resistivity
- σ Conductivity

- χ_1 Flory-Huggins interaction parameter
- Ω Electrical Resistivity unit
- ω Frequency

Chapter 1

Introduction

The main objective of this PhD thesis is to develop polymer nanocomposites (PNC), particularly fluoropolymer nanocomposites with enhanced physical properties, i.e. mechanical, thermal, and electrical properties. This has been accomplished through modifying the composite constituents and manipulating the fabrication methods. Different methods and modifications are used, depending on the end-use applications of the nanocomposites. Having a comprehensive understanding of the structure of PNC materials, different techniques have been examined to improve the morphology hence final properties such as swelling resistance, and mechanical and electrical performance. This chapter presents a general background, as well as the motivations in different parts of the current dissertation.

1.1. General back ground

According to IUPAC, a nanocomposite is a composite in which one of the phases has at least one dimension in the order of nanometers [1]. As usual, scientists are learning from Nature and developing nanocomposite materials by mixing two or more phases in nanoscale. A famous statement by Oriakhi, published in an article titled "Nano Sandwiches" in 1998, is that "Nature is a master chemist with incredible talent" [2, 3]. Many examples of nanocomposites can be found in natural surroundings, such as bone, shell, and wood [2]. In 1991, the first report of a commercial PNC was by Toyota Motor Company in Japan for a nanoclay/Nylon-6 material used for a timing belt [2, 4].

Basically, the primary aspect of interest in nanocomposites is the reinforcement effect of nanofillers. However, there are many other potentials to improve properties of nanocomposites such as flammability resistance, polymer blend compatibilization, electrical properties, membrane, and barrier properties [5, 6]. In recent decades, the development of polymer based nanocomposites has attracted great interest due to their potential for a wide range of applications [2, 7-9]. Currently, PNCs are exciting and critical materials for major polymer compounds worldwide (Table 1.1) and are expected to comprise US\$ 9 billion market by 2025 [10].

	2005	2010	2020	% Annual Growth (2005-2020)
Nanocomposites Demand	154	344	7030	29
Thermoplastic	152	329	5600	27
Thermoset	2	15	1430	55

 Table 1.1. US Nanocomposites demand (million lbs) [11]

PNCs will result only if the polymer macromolecules penetrate between the filler layers, or particles, resulting in a dispersion of separated layers at the nanometer level or the formation of individual particles, of nanosize dimensions, in the matrix [12-14]. The interest in PNC has been initiated by the incorporation of exfoliated nanoclay and, more recently, by other topics such as carbon nanotubes, graphene, carbon nanofibers, and nanocrystalline metals, etc. The modification of nanofillers are also under study [5]. For example, filler compatibilization (i.e. making the system chemically stable), filler's surface functionalization, substitution of some of the elements of the filler with atoms with different properties, etc. While incorporation of nanofillers, such as nanoclay, can improve the PNC's mechanical strength, a poor dispersion may cause the opposite effect [5].

Moreover, nanoparticle addition may lead to some drawbacks, such as brittleness [15]. The chemical compatibility of fillers and the matrix and final dispersion of nanofillers, therefore, should be considered carefully when making nanofiller-polymer composites.

1.1.1. Clay/Polymer Nanocomposites

Although the exploration of polymers with intercalated/exfoliated silicates appears to be very modern, clay/polymer composites have been known since the late 1950s [16, 17]. Initially, there were two major reasons for the interest in using clays in polymer industries: (1) to improve the polymer's physical properties; (2) to reduce the amount of polymer in the final part [2, 14]. The major advantage of nanoclay compared to other conventional micro-scale fillers, is their ability to yield outstanding properties at noticeably smaller loading amounts [18, 19]. Clay/polymer nanocomposites have received considerable interest in recent decades because of their extraordinary properties compared to pristine polymer or conventional (micro- or macro-) composites [14, 18, and 19]. These improvements include better mechanical properties (higher moduli or strength), higher heat resistance, better flame retardation, and lower permeability to liquids and gases [14, 19].

It is necessary for the nanoclay's silicate sheets to get separated and individually dispersed in polymer matrix at the nanometer scale to exploit the advantage of clay/polymer nanocomposite [20]. Nanocomposite properties depend on nanoclay dispersion, aspect ratio, and the interfacial interaction between the clay and polymer matrix [6, 21]. The presence of well-dispersed nanoclays in polymer matrices could result in extraordinary property enhancements for most applications [22-24]. In order to increase the strength of composites, two dominant factors should be considered: (1) the interfacial adhesion between nanoclay and polymer [12]; (2) the dispersion of nanoclay in polymer matrix, i.e. breaking up aggregates of clay layers [25].

Three main types of clay/polymer composites are illustrated in Figure 1.1: phase-separated, intercalated and exfoliated. In each case, the physical properties are different [4, 16, 21, 26, and 27]. Phase-separated refers to the state when polymer does not penetrate between the nanoclay silicate sheets; therefore, the properties are the same as conventional composites with micro-scale fillers [16]. In this case, the unseparated nanoclay silicate sheets are known as tactoid [2, 5, and 14]. The term intercalation is used when small amounts of polymer are introduced between clay sheets. In montmorillonite (Mnt), for example, the polymer causes layer separations of about 20-30Å [14, 16]. When silicate sheets completely and uniformly delaminated and dispersed in the polymer matrix, this morphology is termed exfoliation, with galleries of 80-100 Å between layers [14, 16, and 20]. Studies show that several factors are contributing in degree of exfoliation of nanoclay-polymer nanocomposites, i.e. chemical compatibility, shearing forces, viscous forces and elastic forces of the polymer matrix, etc [2]. Exfoliation results if the shearing forces overcome the attractive forces, e.g. Van der Waals forces, between nanoclay layers in the clay galleries [2, 28].



Figure 1.1. Morphologies of clay-polymer composite [adapted from 2, 16].

It is claimed that the exfoliated structure leads to noticeable improvements in the mechanical properties of polymeric systems [4, 29]. One of the most known amendment in properties of polymer/clay nanocomposites is solvent and gas resistance; the tortuous diffusion path created by the well-dispersed nanoclays reduces the permeation significantly [22, 30]. Incomplete exfoliation

has been shown to have adverse effects on reinforcement efficiency [29]. The nanocomposite structure depends on both processing conditions and the inherent nature of nanoclay and the polymer [31, 32]. Since clay intercalation and exfoliation play an important role in the final properties of nanocomposites, different methods of mixing and different mixing conditions should be investigated to obtain an optimum morphology for the PNC.

1.1.1.1. Nanoclay Modification

Depending on the compatibility of nanoclay and polymer, different mechanisms of dispersion are possible [16]. (1) By introducing chemically treated compatible clay, every processing condition should lead to a well-dispersed nanocomposite. (2) Marginally compatible clay and polymer requires the processing conditions to be optimized to achieve exfoliated nanocomposite. (3) For incompatible clay and polymer, the processing conditions should be optimized to at least gain the minimum tactoid or optimum intercalation, but it is unlikely to have even partial exfoliation [16].

Other than using optimized processing method and conditions, another factor which contributes in the degree of intercalation or exfoliation of nanoclays is the compatibility of clay sheets with the polymer [15]. The clay sheets are not compatible with most of organic polymers, due to their hydrophilic nature. It is important, therefore, to convert the hydrophilic surface of the clay to hydrophobic to obtain exfoliated polymer/clay nanocomposites [33]. The hydrophobic modification of nanoclay allows many hydrophobic guest molecules to be easily intercalated [8, 34]. To increase the compatibility of clays and polymer matrix, several modification approaches, using different modifiers have been reported in the literature such as using coupling agents or other appropriate functional groups [34].

1.1.1.2. Clay/Polymer Nanocomposites Production Methods

The major techniques used to produce clay/polymer nanocomposites production are: (1) in-situ polymerization, where nanoclays are dispersed in a monomer solution and then the polymerization is initiated; (2) solution mixing, where nanoclays are added to a dissolved polymer in its appropriate solvent and the solvent is extracted at the end; (3) melt-intercalation, which is preferred from an industrial perspective, using conventional polymer processing equipment [13]. This method has environmental and cost advantages [4, 12, 13, and 15].

Literature shows that different mixing parameters - including time, temperature, and shear rate - can affect the final nanocomposite morphology and properties [15-18, 35, 36]. Thus, the effect of mixing parameters on morphology and final properties of the clay/polymer nanocomposites, have been investigated as a part of this PhD dissertation.

1.1.2. Multi-walled Carbon Nanotube (MWCNT) and Graphene Nanoribbon (GNR)/Polymer Nanocomposites

One of the most interesting topics of nanotechnology is the design of advanced nanoscale devices for electronic applications. Within these areas, PNCs are of significant interest due to their extremely diverse applications, as well as their tunable properties, light weight, ease of processability, and low cost [5, 37]. In recent years, significant attention has been given to conductive filler/polymer composites (CPCs) for their application in electronics which arises from their unique combinations of properties, such as tunable electrical conductivity, charge storage, antistatic dissipation, ESD protection and EMI shielding [37]. CPCs are produced by incorporation

of different types of conductive fillers, such as carbon black, nanowire, carbon nanotube, or other graphene-based fillers, into a polymer matrix. Herein, MWCNT is selected as the ideal conductive filler because of high aspect ratio and remarkable electrical, thermal and mechanical properties for specific applications [38, 39].

Graphene nanoribbons (GNR) have been discovered as one of the most recent carbon-based nanofillers [40]. As will be discussed in Chapter 2, GNRs can be synthesized via different methods from graphene-based nanomaterials, such as carbon nanotube (CNT), graphite or graphene. They exhibit outstanding and unusual properties that can potentially lead to numerous applications, especially for electric devices [41, 42]. GNR is viewed as an attractive nanofiller for PNCs, due to its high electrical and mechanical properties similar to those found in CNTs. They also have the advantage of a higher interfacial area, which results in better adhesion with polymer matrices [43].

1.1.2.1. MWCNT and GNR modification

One of the most effective methods considered recently for tuning the MWCNTs properties is doping which means substitution of some of carbon atoms in MWCNT structure with elements such as nitrogen or boron [44-47]. Nitrogen-doped carbon nanostructures exhibit enhanced mechanical and electrical properties compared to un-doped original CNTs [47-50]. As this is a very recent development, there is limited research revealing fundamental understanding of this topic [44, 47].

1.2. State-of-the-Art

As discussed in previous sections, many diverse applications for PNC exist. Depending on certain applications of materials, different improvements in properties could be achieved through the incorporation of nanofillers, along with amendments in processing methods. In order to enhance the target properties, different types of strategies are investigated in this state-of-the-art as presented in the experimental strategy flowchart in Figure 1.2.

(I) Modification and synthesis of novel nanofillers

Chapter 4 explores nanoclay modification, with the goal of gaining improved dispersion in the elastomer matrix, resulting in better final PNC properties. Successful modification of nanoclay with different organic modifiers was carried in order for the montmorillonite (Mnt) clay to have better interaction with fluoroelastomer (FKM). An increase of ~ 170% in basal spacing of the clay was an indication of improved dispersion of the nanoclays in FKM which led to enhanced swelling resistance, and better thermal and mechanical performance of the nanocomposite. Moreover, excellent thermal stability of the modified clay could be achieved compared to the commercial available product.

Second strategy to synthesize a novel nanofiller, i.e. GNR, and also pursuing the first strategy for modification of MWCNT and GNRs was investigated in Chapter 5. A new class of GNR was synthesized from parent MWCNT. Moreover, different chemical treatments such as nitrogen doping and thermal reduction were tested to manipulate their application as nanofillers in FKM matrix. Based on literature, a significant issue that is important for crosslinked polymers - elastomers or rubbers - is the effect of nanofillers on the crosslinking density [5]. In this part of

dissertation, we discuss the role of MWCNT and GNR in their modified and non-modified state during the curing process of FKM. The aim of this investigation is to obtain improvements in the final electrical and mechanical performance of the PNCs. We were able to tune the crosslinking density by means of these novel synthesized nanofillers. In addition, adjusted surface properties of these nano materials will lead to superior performance as nanofillers for electrical and mechanical properties improvement.

(II) Implementation of hybrid fillers

One specific reason for the interest in CPCs for charge storage applications is having tunable dielectric properties [39]. In Chapter 6, electrical properties of a fluoropolymer, namely poly vinylidene fluoride (PVDF), were targeted for charge storage applications. The third strategy, i.e. using hybrid fillers, was proposed. We used nanoclay as a barrier layer to tune dielectric properties of MWCNT/PVDF. Hybrid composites of MWCNT/nanoclay/ PVDF could be successfully produced for the use of conductive polymer composite (CPC) as charge storage materials. For this specific application, the goal is high dielectric permittivity and low dielectric loss we accomplished this objective by incorporating an optimum level of nanoclay (1.0 wt. %) into MWCNT/PVDF nanocomposite. An interesting combination of ~670% increase in the dielectric permittivity combined with a considerable reduction in the relative dielectric loss (~68% less dissipation factor) was achieved. Also, the sharp insulator-conductor transition was muted as a consequence of using this third strategy.

(III) Amendment of PNC production methods

The last strategy was to optimize the fabrication methods. In Chapter 7, we investigate the effect of mixing parameters on morphology and final properties of nanoclay/FKM nanocomposite, prepared by the melt-intercalation method. By studying the effect of melt-mixing process conditions on curing behavior and mechanical performance of nanoclay/FKM nanocomposites, an optimum condition was obtained. This optimum process gave more effective crosslinking kinetics and better mechanical strength of PNC. Enhancements in tensile strength, elongation at break and modulus of 70%, 94%, and 405% respectively, were attained.





1.3. References

[1]: W.J. Work, K. Horie, M. Hess and R.F.T. Stepto. Definition of terms related to polymer blends, composites, and multiphase polymeric, Pure and Applied Chemistry, **76** (2004), 1985-2007.

[2]: F. Hussain, M. Hojjati, M. Okamoto, and R.E. Gorga. Polymer-matrix Nanocomposites, Processing, Manufacturing, and Application: An overview, Journal of Composite Materials, **40** (2006), 1511-1575.

[3]: C. O. Oriakhi. Nano Sandwiches, Chemistry Britain, 34 (1998), 59-62.

[4]: M. Al-Haj Ali and R. H. Elleithy. Viscoelastic Properties of Polypropylene/Organo-Clay Nano-Composites Prepared Using Miniature Lab Mixing Extruder from Masterbatch, Journal of Applied Polymer Science, **121** (2011), 27–36.

[5]: D.R. Paul, and L.M. Robeson. Polymer nanotechnology: Nanocomposites, Polymer, 49 (2008), 3187–3204.

[6]: A. Akelah, and A. Moet. Polymer-clay nanocomposites: Free-radical grafting of polystyrene on to organophilic montmorillonite interlayers, Journal of Material Science, **31** (1996), 3589-3596.

[7]: A.M. Shanmugharaj, K.Y. Rhee, and S.H. Ryu. Influence of dispersing medium on grafting of aminopropyltriethoxysilane in swelling clay materials, Journal of Colloid and Interface Science **298** (2006), 854–859.

[8]: H. He, J. Duchet, J. Galy, and J.F. Gerard. Grafting of swelling clay materials with 3aminopropyltriethoxysilane, Journal of Colloid and Interface Science **288** (2005), 171-176.

[9]: N. N. Herrera, J.M. Letoffe, J.L. Putaux, L. David, and E. Bourgeat-Lami. Aqueous Dispersions of Silane-Functionalized Laponite Clay Platelets. A First Step toward the Elaboration of Water-Based Polymer/Clay Nanocomposites, Langmuir, **20** (2004), 1564-1571.

[10] Polymer Nanocomposite market to grow well globally particularly in USA, Smartech Global Solutions Ltd, available at Plastemart homepage (plastemart.com), Aug 2014.

[11] R. J. Plunkett. The History of Polytetrafluoroethylene: Discovery and Development, High Performance Polymers: Their Origin and Development, Proceedings of the Symposium on the History of High Performance Polymers at the American Chemical Society Meeting, (1986), 261-266.

[12]: J. Hrachova, P. Komadel, and I. Chodak. Effect of montmorillonite modification on mechanical properties of vulcanized natural rubber composites, Journal of Material Science, **43** (2008), 2012–2017.

[13]: S. Lakshminarayanan, Synthesis, Characterization and Production of Fluoroelastomer/clay nanocomposites, MSc thesis, University of Alberta, 2009.

[14]: S. Sinha Ray, and M.Okamoto. Polymer/layered silicate nanocomposites: a review from preparation to processing, Progress in Polymer Science, **28** (2003), 1539-1641.

[15]: M. Modesti, <u>A. Lorenzetti</u>, <u>D. Bon</u>, and <u>S. Besco</u>. Effect of processing conditions on morphology and mechanical properties of compatibilized polypropylene nanocomposites, Polymer, **46** (2005), 10237–10245.

[16]: H. R. Dennis, D.L. Hunter, D. Chang, S. Kim, J.L. White, J.W. Cho, and D.R. Paul. Effect of melt processing conditions on the extent of exfoliation in organoclay-based nanocomposites, Polymer, **42** (2001), 9513-9522.

[17]: K.G. Gatos, R. Thoman, and J. Karger-Kocsis. Characteristics of ethylene propylene diene monomer rubber/organoclay nanocomposites resulting from different processing conditions and formulations, Polymer International, **53** (2004), 1191-1197.

[18]: L. Zhu, and M. Xanthos. Effects of Process Conditions and Mixing Protocols on Structure of Extruded Polypropylene Nanocomposites, Journal of Applied Polymer Science, 93 (2004), 1891-1899. [19]: G. Mingliang, and J. Demin. Influence of Organoclay Prepared by Solid State Method on the Morphology and Properties of Polyvinyl Chloride/Organoclay Nanocomposites, Journal of Elastomers and Plastics, **40** (2008), 223-235.

[20]: R. Valsecchi, L. Torlaj, S. Turri, C. Tonelli, and M. Levi. Barrier Properties in Hydrogenated Acrylonitrile Butadiene Rubber Compounds Containing Organoclays and Perfluoropolyether Additives, **119** (2011), 3476–3482.

[21]: D. S. Marynick, and D. A. Dixon. Electron affinity of the methyl radical: Structures of CH₃ and CH₃-, Proceeding of National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, **74** (1977) 410-413.

[22]: D. Burgentzlé, J. Duchet, J.F. Gérard, A. Jupin, and B. Fillon. Solvent-based nanocomposite coatings Dispersion of organophilic montmorillonite in organic solvents, Journal of Colloid and Interface Science, **278** (2004), 26–39.

[23]: T. Lan, P.D. Kaviratna, and T.J. Pinnavaia. On the Nature of Polyimide-Clay Hybrid Composites, Chemistry of Materials, **6** (1994), 573-575.

[24]: R. Orprecio, and C.H. Evans. Polymer-Immobilized Cyclodextrin Trapping of Model Organic Pollutants in Flowing Water Streams, Journal of Applied Polymer Science, **90** (2003) 2103–2110.
[25]: A. Das, K.W. Stöckelhuber, R. Jurk, D. Jehnichen, and G. Heinrich. A general approach to rubber–montmorillonite nanocomposites: Intercalation of stearic acid, Applied Clay Science, **51** (2011), 117–125.

[26]: K. Bukka, and J. D. Miller. FTIR study of deuterated montmorillonites: structural features relevant to pillared clay stability, Clays and Clay Minerals, **40** (1992), 92-102.

[27]: S. Zumdahl, Chemistry, 5th ed., 1999.

[28]: J.H., Park, and S. Jana. Mechanism of Exfoliation of Nanoclay Particles in Epoxy-Clay Nanocomposites, Macromolecules, **36** (2003), 2758–2768.

14
[29]: Z.L. Da, Q.Q. Zhang, D.M. Wu, D.Y. Yang, and F.X. Qiu. Synthesis, characterization and thermal properties of inorganic-organic hybrid, Polymer Letters, **1** (2007), 698–703.

[30]: ALS Infrared Beamlines Homepage, 2012. Available at http://infrared.als.lbl.gov.

[31]: K. Norrish. The Swelling of Montmorillonite, Discussion of the Faraday Society, **18** (1954), 120-134.

[32]: O. Breuer, U. Sundararaj, R.W. Toogood, The design and performance of a new miniature mixer for specialty polymer blends and nanocomposites, Polymer Engineering and Science, **44** (2004), 868-879.

[33]: X. Xu, Y. Ding, F. Wang, B. Wen, J. Zhang, S. Zhang, and M. Yang. Effects of Silane Grafting on the Morphology and Thermal Stability of Poly(ethylene terephthalate)/ClayNanocomposites, Polymer Composites, **31** (2009), 825-834.

[34]: F. E. Monasterio, Effect of the organic groups of difunctional silanes on the preparation of coated clays for olefin polymer modification, Clay Minerals, **45** (2010), 489–502.

[35]: I. Ghasemi, M. Karrabi, M. Mohammadi, and H. Azizi. Evaluating the effect of processing conditions and organoclay content on the properties of styrene-butadiene rubber/organoclay nanocomposites by response surface methodology, Polymer Letters, **4** (2010), 62–70.

[36]: R.A. Vaia and E.P. Giannelis, Lattice Model of Polymer Melt Intercalation in Organically-Modified Layered Silicates, Macromolecules, **30** (1997), 7990-7999.

[37]: M. Arjmand, Electrical Conductivity, Electromagnetic Interference Shielding and Dielectric Properties of Multi-walled Carbon Nanotube/Polymer Composites, PhD thesis, University of Calgary, 2014.

[38]: J.N. Martins, T.S. Bassani, G.M. Barra, and R. VB. Oliveira. Electrical and rheological percolation in poly(vinylidene fluoride)/multi-walled carbon nanotube nanocomposites, Polymer International, **60** (2011), 430-435.

[39]: M. Khajehpour, M. Arjmand, and U. Sundararaj. Dielectric Properties of Multi-Walled Carbon Nanotube (MWCNT)/Clay/Polyvinylidene fluoride (PVDF) Nanocomposites: Effect of Clay Incorporation, Journal Polymer Composite, 2014.

[40]: L. Ma, J. Wang, and F. Ding. Recent Progress and Challenges in Graphene Nanoribbon Synthesis. Journal of Chemical Physics and Physical Chemistry, **14** (2013), 47–54.

[41]: A.L. Elias, A.R. Botello-Mendez, D. Meneses-Rodriguez, V.J. Gonzalez, D.R. Gonzalez, L.

Ci, E.M. Sandoval, P.M. Ajayan, H. Terrones, and M. Terrones. Longitudinal Cutting of Pure and Doped Carbon Nanotubes to Form Graphitic Nanoribbons Using Metal Clusters as Nanoscalpels, Nano Letters, **10** (2010), 366-372.

[42]: X. Li, X. Wang, L. Zhang, S. Lee, and H. Dai. Chemically derived, ultrasmooth graphene nanoribbon semiconductors, Science, **319** (2008), 1229–1232.

[43]: M.A. Rafiee, W. Lu, A.V. Thomas, A. Zandiatashbar, J. Rafiee, J. Tour, and N.A. Koratkar. Graphene Nanoribbon Composites. ACS Nano, **4** (2010), 7415–7420.

[44]: C. P. Ewels and M. Glerup, Nitrogen doping in carbon nanotubes, Journal of Nanoscience and Nanotechnology, **5** (2005), 1345-1363.

[45]: K. Chizari and U. Sundararaj, The effects of catalyst on the morphology and physicochemical properties of nitrogen-doped carbon nanotubes, Materials Letters, **116** (2014), 289–292.

[46]: K. Chizari, A. Vena, L. Laurentius, and U. Sundararaj. The effect of temperature on the morphology and chemical surface properties of nitrogen-doped carbon nanotubes, Carbon, **68** (2014), 369–379.

[47]: J. Amadou, K. Chizari, M. Houllé, I. Janowska, O. Ersen, D. Bégin, and C. Pham-Huu. N-doped carbon nanotubes for liquid-phase C-C bond hydrogenation, Catalysis Today, **138** (2008) 62–68.

[48]: F J. Owens. Effect of Functionalization and Boron and Nitrogen Substitution on Some properties of Carbonnanotubes, Materials Letters, **61** (2007), 1997-1999.

[49]: M. Terrones, P.M. Ajayan, F. Banhart, X. Blase, D.L. Carroll, J.C. Charlier, J.C. Charlier, R.
Czerw, B. Foley, N. Grobert, R. Kamalakaran, P. Kohler-Redlich, M. Rühle, T. Seeger, H.
Terrones. N-doping and coalescence of carbon nanotubes: synthesis and electronic properties,
Applied Physics A, 74 (2002) 355-361.

[50]: S. Maldonado, S. Morin, K.J. Stevenson. Structure, composition, and chemical reactivity of carbon nanotubes by selective nitrogen doping, Carbon, **44** (2006) 1429-1437.

Chapter 2

Literature Review: Materials

In order to investigate the effect of different strategies for polymer nanocomposite (PNC) properties improvement, several experiments have been done for nanofillers and PNCs production and characterization. In this thesis, we have focused on fluoropolymers, namely fluoroelastomer (FKM) and poly vinylidene Fluoride (PVDF) as the polymer matrices for PNC. Different types of nanofillers including nanoclay, multiwall carbon nanotube (MWCNT), and graphene nanoribbon (GNR) have been utilized based on the specific applications of PNCs. The significant properties and characteristics of the materials, and their desired behavior for specific applications are discussed in this chapter.

2.1. Fluoropolymers

The first fluoropolymer, polytetrafluoroethylene (PTFE), was discovered in 1938 by Dr. Roy Plunkett at Dupont Company [1, 2]. Generally, fluoropolymers are defined as polymers with a base of fluorocarbon. Fluoropolymers are particularly interesting and attractive compounds because of their versatility and their unique combination of relevant properties [3]. Table 2.1 summarizes the commercialization timeline of major fluoropolymers, as well as their processing and applications trade-offs.

Fluoropolymer	Monomer (s)/ Chemical Structure	Commercialization year	Trad +	e-off -
Polytetrafluoroethylene (PTFE)	$\left(\begin{array}{c} \mathbf{F} & \mathbf{F} \\ \mathbf{c} - \mathbf{c} \\ \mathbf{c} \\ \mathbf{F} \end{array} \right)_{n}$	1947	Continuous use temperature 260°C	Non-melt processible
Poly(chlorotrifluoroethylene) (PCTFE)	$\left(\begin{array}{c} \mathbf{F} & \mathbf{F} \\ \mathbf{C} - \mathbf{C} \\ \mathbf{F} & \mathbf{C} \end{array} \right)_{n}$	1953	Melt processible/ Non-melt processible	Maximum continuous use temperature 180°C
Fluorinated ethylene propylene (FEP)	$ \begin{array}{cccc} F & F & F & F \\ \begin{pmatrix} c & c \\ c$	1960	Melt- processible	Maximum continuous use temperature 200°C
Polyvinyl fluoride (PVF)	$\begin{array}{c} H \\ c \\ c \\ c \\ H \\ H \\ \end{array}$	1961	Thin film/ weatherable	Maximum continuous use temperature 107°C
Polyvinylidene fluoride (PVDF)		1961	Melt processible	Maximum continuous use temperature 150°C
Ethylene ChloroTriFluoroEthylene (ECTFE)	$ \begin{array}{cccc} \mathbf{H} & \mathbf{H} & \mathbf{C} & \mathbf{F} \\ $	1970	Hardness/ Toughness	Maximum continuous use temperature 150°C
Perfluoroalkoxy (PFA)	$ \begin{array}{c} \mathbf{F} \mathbf{F} \mathbf{F} \mathbf{F} \mathbf{F} \mathbf{F} \\ \mathbf{C} - \mathbf{C} \mathbf{C} \mathbf{C} - \mathbf{C} \\ \mathbf{C} \mathbf{C} \mathbf{C} \mathbf{C} \mathbf{C} \\ \mathbf{F} \mathbf{F} \mathbf{F} \mathbf{F} \mathbf{O} \\ \mathbf{C} \mathbf{F}_{3} \end{array} $	1972	Melt processible/ Continuous use temperature 260°C	Low molecular weight
Poly(ethene-co- tetrafluoroethene) (ETFE)	$ \begin{array}{cccc} H & H & F & F \\ \begin{pmatrix} c & c & c & c & c \\ c & c & c & c & c \\ H & H & F & F \end{array} $	1973	Hardness/Tou ghness	Maximum continuous use temperature 150°C
Teflon® AF	Copolymer: Tetrafluoroethylene (TFE) and 2,2-Bistrifluoromethyl- 4,5difluoro-1,3-dioxole (PDD)	1985	Soluble in special halogenated solvents	High cost

Table 2.1. Commercialization timeline of major fluoropolymers [adopted from1]

Fluoropolymers can be thermoplastics, elastomers, plastomers, thermoplastic elastomers, Development of this class of polymers led to significant changes in the expected properties and fabrication process of polymers [1]. The notable properties of fluoropolymers originate from the replacement of hydrogen by fluorine in the polymer structure. Their basic properties arise from their low polarizability and strong electronegativity, small Van Der Waals radius (of the Fluorine atom), and strong C-F bond (552 kJ/mole) [3-5]. One fundamental property of fluoropolymers is their superior resistance to organic and inorganic chemicals [1]. In addition, these polymers exhibit some key beneficial mechanical, electrical, and thermal characteristics compared to other polymers [4]. Thermal stability of fluoropolymers is significant because of high processing temperatures required for these materials. Furthermore, fluoropolymers have a wide range of electrical applications, such as in wire coating and insulation for electrical components. Fluoropolymers have desired electrical properties, including dielectric constant, dissipation factor, and electrical resistivity [4].

2.1.1. Fluoroelastomer

Rubber materials, or elastomers, have been considered as critical components in many technical products, particularly when tougher, unforeseen environments demand special improved material performance such as high temperature stability and oil resistance for energy applications [6]. Normally, it is difficult to produce engineering polymers with both high strength and high toughness [7]. High strength is the ability of a material to sustain high loads, while toughness is the measure of the total energy that can be absorbed by a material before fracture. Lack of toughness shown by brittle polymers has been improved by the incorporation of rubbers through blending or

copolymerization [7]. Among fluoropolymers, fluoroelastomers have shown useful properties and have significant presence in modern industries [5, 8-10].

Fluoroelastomers (FKM) have been proposed for applications where rubberlike elasticity is needed in severe environments such as oil-well completion and oilfield services [6, 9]. The wide range of industrial applications of fluoroelastomers is due to their unique combinations of mechanical and compression properties, coupled with their excellent performance under conditions requiring resistance to high temperature and organic liquids such as fuels and oils [5, 8]. They also exhibit good resistance to flame propagation, oxidation, ozone and weathering [5]. Most companies involved in fluorine chemistry devote funds and research efforts to fluoroelastomers products, in spite of the high costs of these materials [5].

Applications of fluoroelastomers

FKM, and more specifically, the copolymers and terpolymers synthesized from vinylidene fluoride (VDF), hexafluoropropylene (HFP), and tetrafluoroethylene (TFE), are used widely in automotive, chemical, petrochemical, aerospace, and food processing industries, primarily as seals, gaskets, O-rings, and hoses [8-10]. These materials are fluoroelastomers, i.e. consisting of fluorine and carbon only. They are typically specified for sealing applications requiring high chemical and thermal resistance [8-12].

Three classes of fluoro-rubbers have been defined by ASTM: Tetrafluoroethylene/propylene dipolymers (FEPM), FKM, and perfluoro-elastomers (FFKM). Each has different types of molecular configurations and, hence, different final properties. An important issue is to determine up to what temperature and for how long the elastomer can be operated in severe environment and

maintain acceptable mechanical performance [12]. Generally, resistance properties such as high temperature and chemical resistances, increase with increasing fluorine content [5]. Most of the current research efforts are directed to improve the properties of fluoroelastomers and their processability. Different types of fluoroelastomers exhibit different performance.

One example is the specific application of an elastomer stator for Progressive Cavity Pump (PCP). The down-hole PCP pump is used for crude oil extraction [6]. It consists of two basic components: a single helical metal rotor and a double helical elastomer stator (Figure 2.1). The stator elastomer should be compatible with the reservoir fluid and down-hole conditions, as well as maintain good mechanical performance for the high shear applied during oil extraction at elevated temperatures. Among polymers, elastomers and, more specifically, fluoroelastomer (FKM), are recommended for this application due to their superior oil resistance. Having insufficient mechanical performance at high temperatures (>150 °C), however, means its properties need to be improved.



Figure 2.1. Progressive Cavity Pump [13]

A main issue with nanocomposites is the level of the interfacial adhesion of filler to the matrix [14]. In addition to the nature and properties of nanofillers and the polymer matrix, the properties of nanocomposites depend on their morphology and the interfacial interaction between the filler and matrix [15]. Several studies show that different mixing parameters, including time, temperature, and shear rate, can affect the final nanocomposite morphology and properties [16-21]. One major part of this work corresponds to the improvement of FKM properties through nanoclay incorporation.

Properties of fluoroelastomers

I) Swelling Behavior

The stability of polymeric materials in aggressive liquid environments is of importance for their successful application [11]. It is well known that FKM is typically used in severe environments. For example, one of the most popular applications of FKM based seals is for use in submerged pumps [8]. Therefore, it is essential to investigate their swelling and solvent transport properties.

II) Thermal properties

As a class, fluoroelastomers are notably resistant to heat, as compared to other elastomers. Among them, VDF-based fluoroelastomers and fluorosilicones are capable of long-term service in dry heat at 200°C, while FKM elastomers are stable for many months at 260°C [5].

III) Mechanical properties

The tensile properties of the fluoroelastomers are generally satisfactory. In addition, the resistance to compression set is an important property of fluoroelastomers for their end-use as seals [5]. Other mechanical properties may be considered for various applications. The mechanical performance of some commercial fluoroelastomers is summarized in Table 2.2. It is worth noting that FKM compounds have limited low temperature flexibility and are not easy to process. These elastomers have moderate tensile strength at room temperature when compared with hydrocarbon rubbers and retain only a portion of it when used at high temperatures [10].

Dronorty	Fluoroelastomers				
Troperty	FFKM	FKM	TFE/P	Fluorosilicone	
100% Modulus (MPa)	6.2-13.1	2.1-15.2	2.5-3.5	1.0-6.1	
Tensile strength (MPa)	14.5-16.8	9.0-18.6	18.0-20.0	6.2-8.6	
Elongation (%)	120-240	100-500	250-350	100-500	
Compression set (%)	25 50	> 10	45 50	(0)	
70h, 200°C	55-50	≥10	43-30	60	
Hardness (shore A)	70-95	90-95	65-75	50-75	
Brittle temperature (°C)	-40 to -30	-59 to -18	-40	-66	

Table 2.2. Mechanical properties of different types of fluoroelastomers [5]

Some of the commercial fluoroelastomer trademarks with different properties are listed in Table 2.3.

Trademark	Co-monomers	%F	Advantage/drawbacks
Viton ®	VDF/HFD/TFF		Good chemical resistance at
	VDI/IIII/IIE		high temperature
Fluorel ®	VDE/HED	61	Resistance to oxidation,
	VDF/HFP	04	solvents, flames
Teeneflon			May swell
	VDF/HFP/TFE	70	High thermostability, better
Dai-ei ®			resistance to swelling
FKM ®	VDF/HFP/TFE with CSM	67	Better mechanical properties
			Protects from alkaly attack
	VDF/HFP/IFE/E(5%)	variable	Resistance to oxidative
	VDF/PAVE	variable	attack
Tecnoflon ®	VDF/HCF=CFCF3	voriable	Heat resistance, as above and
		variable	to solvents
Kel F ®	VDF/TFE/ HCF=CFCF3	62-70	Vulcanization: better heat
	VDF/CTFE	variable	and chemical resistance
Atlas ®		E 4 E 7	Chemical, heat and pressure
	IFE/P	54-57	resistance

 Table 2.3. Fluoroelastomers trademarks and properties [5]

2.1.2. PVDF

Another class of fluorinated polymers are partially fluorinated. These polymers are distinguished from perfluoropolymers by some hydrogen atoms in the molecular structure in addition to fluorine and carbon [1]. One example is Poly(vinylidene Fluoride), PVDF, also called VF₂ and PVF₂. PVDF is a semi-crystalline thermoplastic with five distinct crystalline forms [22, 23]. The most common crystalline phase is α form with the trans-gauche conformation, in which hydrogen and fluorine atoms are located alternately on each side of the chain [24, 25]. The β crystalline form has an all-trans chain conformation, with fluorine atoms on one side of the chain

and hydrogen atoms on the other side of the chain [1]. The γ crystals, obtained from ultrahigh molecular weight PVDF, are less usual [26, 27] and δ crystals are generated as the result of distortion of the other crystalline forms [28].

PVDF is a type of electroactive polymer (EAP), which has drawn great attention due to its applications as a polar piezoelectric material [29-37]. Generally, electroactive polymers have special electromechanical and dielectric properties that make them ideal matrices for charge storage applications [23, 33]. EAPs are materials that exhibit deformation- such as change in size or shape-when an electric field is applied and exhibit an electrical response when subjected to deformation [33, 34]. Ferroelectric materials are substances with the ability to maintain electric permanent polarization that can be released or switched in an electrical field [35]. Piezoelectric materials are a class of ferroelectrics with the ability to generate voltage; hence, they exhibit electric current when a mechanical deformation, i.e. compression or expansion, is applied [33, 36]. Among different PDVF's polymorphs, the polar β -phase has gained the most interest because of its piezo-, pyro- and ferroelectric properties and subsequent better dielectric properties [37-40]. Besides having piezoelectric properties, PVDF is nonflammable and chemically resistant, and also has considerably high strength, wear and creep resistance [1, 3]. Its service temperature, however, is limited and its chemical resistance is lower than perfluoropolymers [1].

2.2. Nanofillers

Materials are considered to be in nanoscale when one of the dimensions of the materials (e.g. particle, platelet, fiber, nanowire, etc.) are in the range of 1-100 nm. Nanomaterials exhibit physical and chemical properties that are dramatically different from their micron scale counterparts, due to

their large surface area per volume [14, 15, 41, and 42]. These materials are typically classified by their geometry. The main three classes are particulate, fibrous, and layered [15, 41].

A fundamental morphological characteristic that is significant in relation to structure and properties of nanocomposites, is the surface area/volume, as illustrated in Figure 2.2 for different classes of nanofillers [41]. This ratio increases by three orders of magnitude as the scale changes from micrometer to nanometer [41].

Geometry :	Particulate	Fibrous	Layered	
	21	L 2r		
Surface area/volume ratio:	$^{3}/_{r}$	$\frac{2}{r} + \frac{2}{L}$	$\frac{2}{t} + \frac{4}{L}$	

Figure 2.2. Surface area/volume ratio for three different classes of nanomaterials [41]

The most commercially important and scientifically interesting aspect of the use of nanofillers is the very low amount of filler that has to be added to the polymer to yield improved properties [43]. The advantages of nanoscale particle incorporation can lead to a wide range of applications, including barrier properties, membrane separation, UV screens, flammability resistance, polymer blend compatibilization, biodegradable polymers, electrical conductivity, impact modification, and biomedical applications [14, 15]. Table 2.4 lists the most important nanofillers currently being used for the improvement of polymer material properties for different applications.

The first commercial example of polymeric nanocomposites, in automotive applications, was nanoclay/nylon-6 for making timing belt covers in Toyota Motor Company, 1991 [43].

Nanofiller	Property enhancement(s)	Application/utility	
Exfoliated clay	Flame resistance, barrier, compatibilizer for	Aerospace, automotive	
	polymer blends		
SWCNT;	Electrical conductivity, charge transport	Electrical/electronics/optoelectronics	
MWCNT	Electrical conductivity, charge transport		
Nanosilver	Antimicrobial	Wound dressings, biomedical	
ZnO	UV adsorption	UV screens	
Silica	Viscosity modification	Paint, adhesives	
CdSe, CdTe	Charge transport	Photovoltaic cells	
Graphene	Electrical conductivity, barrier, charge transport	Electrical/electronic	
POSS	Improved stability, flammability resistance	Sensors, LEDs	

Table 2.4. Examples of nanoscale filler incorporated in polymer composites [14]

2.2.1. Nanoclay

The term "clay" has been historically referred to as small parts of soil fractions (less than 2 μ m) without any specific composition [15]. Every clay mineral is composed of layered silicates, containing two types of sheets: tetrahedral and octahedral [15, 44]. Each layer sheet's thickness is about 1 nm and the lateral dimension varies from 30 nm to several microns. The aspect ratio is usually in the range of 10-1000 [15, 44]. Based on the structure of nanoclay silicate sheets, there are two main characteristics that are considered for nanocomposites: (1) ability to disperse individually and (2) ability to fine-tune their surface chemistry through ion exchange with organic/inorganic cations. It should be noted that polymer clay nanocomposites will result only if the layers are separated and dispersed in the polymer matrix at the nanometer level [42].

The most commonly used clays for nanocomposites are Hectorite, Saponite, and Montmorillonite (Mnt) [15, 44]. Among them, Mnt is the most frequently used clay for preparation of polymer clay nanocomposite (PCNs) [6, 15, and 42]. It consists of hundreds of silicate layers with cations in between the layers, as shown in Figure 2.3 [15, 42]. The plate-like nanolayers are held together by electrostatic forces.



Figure 2.3. Montmorillonite structure [adopted from 15]

For the PCN parts of this thesis, we have synthesized several different modified Mnt. The modifications were done to make the filler chemically compatible with the polymer matrix. For example, we used alkyls silanes and a fluorosurfactant for compatiblizing Mnt with fluoroelastomer. Clay modifications are discussed in Chapter 4 entitled "Modification of Montmorillonite with Alkyl Silanes and Fluorosurfactant for Clay/Fluoroelastomer (FKM) Nanocomposites".

2.2.2. Carbon nanotube

Carbon nanotube (CNT) was first synthesized by Iijima in 1991, a few years after the discovery of fullerenes [45-47]. Fullerene is a geometric cage-like structure of carbon atoms discovered in the 1980s by Smalley and co-workers at Rice University [47]. CNTs are a form of long, narrow fullerenes where the walls are graphite sheets (hexagonal carbon) that have been rolled to a tube [15, 41]. The diameter ranges from about a nanometer to tens of nanometers, with lengths up to centimeters [15]. Nanotubes exist in one of two structural forms: single-wall and multiwall [45, 41]. A single-wall nanotube (SWCNT) is a single graphitic sheet, rolled into a tube with a cap at either end, and with a diameter of approximately 1 nm [46]. Multi-walled carbon nanotubes (MWCNTs) consist of concentric single-walled carbon nanotubes (SWCNTs) held together with relatively weak van der Waals forces [41].

The morphology of a CNT is defined by the orientation and magnitude of the chiral vector in the original rolled graphite sheet [41]. There are two configurations for the atomic structure of CNTs, as illustrated in Figure 2.4: armchair and zigzag [41]. The chirality of the CNTs significantly affects their properties [41].



Figure 2.4. Atomic structures of (a) armchair and (b) zig-zag carbon nanotubes

Carbon nanotubes exhibit exceptional properties as a consequence of their symmetric structure [41, 48]. The very large aspect ratio of CNTs makes them an interesting nanofiller for reinforcement applications and for enhancement of the properties of nanocomposites [13, 15, 47-53]. CNTs are thermal stable up to 2800 °C (at vacuum), while the thermal conductivity is about twice that of diamond's [48]. In terms of electric properties, they are ideal conductive fillers for conductive polymer composites (CPCs), due to the high current-carrying capacity that is 1000 times higher than copper wires [13, 14, 31, 48, and 49]. The superior thermal and electrical properties are combined with outstanding mechanical performance, i.e. high specific stiffness and strength [16, 31, 47-50]. Many potential applications have been proposed for carbon nanotube composites, including conductive and high-strength composites, energy storage and energy conversion devices, hydrogen storage media, nanometer-sized semiconductor devices, electromagnetic interference shielding, probes and interconnects, sensors, electrostatic dissipation, charge storage and super capacitors, as well as various electrode applications [14, 15]. However, some challenges arise while using CNTs in polymer composites. The first is in the uniform dispersion of nanotubes. The existence of high Van der Waals attraction between CNTs causes aggregation and, consequently, an increase in the percolation threshold [13, 41, 49, and 51]. In addition, the efforts for improving the dispersion may affect other important properties, such as electrical, mechanical, and dielectric properties [13, 49, 52, and 53]. Some strategies for dealing with these types of problems are addressed in Chapters 5 and 6.

We used a commercial MWCNT (NanocylTM NC7000) for the MWCNT/clay/PVDF nanocomposites for charge storage application (Chapter 6). Homemade MWCNTs were used for GNR production and studying the curing behavior of MWCNT/FKM and GNR/FKM nanocomposites (Chapter 5). The synthesis method of MWCNTs and GNRs are explained in section 3.1.3.

2.2.3. Graphene nanoribbon

Graphene is the basic building block of all graphitic forms of carbon with a honeycomb structure, as illustrated in Figure 2.5a [54, 55]. Generally, the graphene-like structures are classified into three main types: (1) graphene, an infinite two-dimensional crystal (\leq 3 layers); (2) graphite, an infinite three-dimensional crystal made of more than three stacked layers (Figure 2.5b); and (3) graphene nanoribbons, finite one-dimensional graphene crystals (Figure 2.5c) [54].

Graphene nanoribbons (GNRs) can be synthesized through different methods, such as chemical vapor deposition, chemical treatment or mechanical exfoliation of graphite, epitaxial growth of graphene films on electrically insulating substrates, reduction of graphene oxide, chemical and electrochemical unzipping of CNTs [54, 56-75]. These one atom thick, sp²-hybridized carbon sheets have borders which can exhibit edge states and, consequently, result in different electronic, chemical and magnetic properties, depending on their size and type of the edges [54, 76, and 77]. For example, GNRs with a width of less than 10 nm behave as semiconductors, while for wider GNRs, the properties depend on the edge's chiral configurations, which could be either zigzag (30°) or armchair (0°) [54, 77-79].



Figure 2.5. Structure of (a) graphene, (b) graphite, and (c) graphene nanoribbon

Typically, GNRs exhibit outstanding and unusual properties that can lead to numerous applications, especially for electrical devices [56, 80-82]. Having a higher interfacial area may cause better adhesion with polymer matrices, which is a significant hallmark for polymer nanocomposites [86]. Basically, graphene-based materials have superior electronic properties, having a very high intrinsic mobility of charge carriers and zero effective mass [84, 85]. On the other hand, in terms of mechanical properties, graphene is one of the strongest materials ever known [57] so they are attractive fillers for reinforcement applications. Also, graphene-based fillers are appealing because of their stiffness, strength, and thermal conductivity, combined with an impermeability to gases in nanocomposites [86-89].

In addition to the good electrical and mechanical performance of graphene, the shape of GNRs' makes them interesting materials for polymer nanocomposites. Particularly, the higher aspect ratio of GNRs and their shape facilitates their blending with polymers in the molten state and there is also the possibility to functionalize their edges [83]. As has been discussed previously, the GNRs' properties mainly depend on their shape, size and edges. Therefore, chemical or structural modification of GNRs is expected to modify their performance [57]. One of the recommended methods for modification of GNR properties is doping [69]. More specifically, Nitrogen-doping is considered for GNRs, as well as other graphene-like nanostructures [57]. It has been predicted in the literature that nitrogen doping of GNR could result in noticeable modifications in electronic and spin properties [56, 80]. In Chapter 5, titled "Tuning the curing behavior of Fluoroelastomer by incorporation of Nitrogen doped Multiwalled Carbon Nanotube and Graphene Nano Ribbon", we investigate chemical modification of GNRs and incorporation of GNR in fluoroelastomer nanocomposites. Nanocomposite properties and performance as a function of chemical

modification type and level is studied. GNRs for the study in Chapter 5, were produced from unzipping home-synthesized MWCNTs as described in section 3.1.3.

2.3. References

[1]: S. Ebnesajjad. Fluoroplastics, volume 1: Non-melt processible fluoroplastics, Plastics Design Library, 2000.

[2]: R.J. Plunkett. The History of Polytetrafluoroethylene: Discovery and Development, High Performance Polymers: Their Origin and Development, Proceedings of the Symposium on the History of High Performance Polymers at the American Chemical Society Meeting, (1986), 261-266.

[3]: B. Ameduri, B. Boutevin, and G. Kostov. Fluoroelastomers: synthesis, properties and applications, Progress in Polymer Science, **26** (2001), 105-187.

[4]: S. Ebnesajjad. Fluoroplastics, volume 2: Melt processible fluoropolymers, Plastics Design Library, 2003.

[5]: C.R. Patrick. Advances in Fluorine Chemistry, 1961; 3:1.

[6]: S. Lakshminarayanan. Synthesis, Characterization and Production of Fluoroelastomer/clay nanocomposites, MSc thesis, University of Alberta, 2009.

[7]: A. Akelah, and A. Moet. Polymer-clay nanocomposites: Free-radical grafting of polystyrene on to organophilic montmorillonite interlayers, Journal of Material Science, **31** (1996), 3589-3596.

[8]: S. Mitra, A.G. Siahkali, P. Kingshott, K. Almdal, H.K. Rehmeier, and A.G. Christensen. Chemical degradation of fluoroelastomer in an alkaline environment, Polymer Degradation and Stability, **83** (2004), 195–206.

[9]: R. Valsecchi, L. Torlaj, S. Turri, C. Tonelli, and M. Levi. Barrier Properties in Hydrogenated Acrylonitrile Butadiene Rubber Compounds Containing Organoclays and Perfluoropolyether Additives, (2010), 3476-3482.

[10]: S. Lakshminarayanan, B. Lin, G.A. Gelves, and U. Sundararaj. Effect of Clay Surfactant Type and Clay Content on the Rheology and Morphology of Uncured Fluoroelastomer/Clay Nanocomposites Prepared by Melt-Mixing, Journal of Applied Polymer Science, **112** (2009), 3597– 3604.

 [11]: M. Maiti, and A.K. Bhowmick. Effect of Polymer–Clay Interaction on Solvent Transport Behavior of Fluoroelastomer–Clay Nanocomposites and Prediction of Aspect Ratio of Nanoclay, Journal of Applied Polymer Science, **105** (2007), 435–445.

[12]: D.L. Hertz. Evaluating thermal stability of fluoroelastomers via strain energy density, Sealing Technology, (2005), 5-9.

[13]: J. Beauquin, F. Ndinemenu, G. Chalier, L. Lemay, L. Seince, and S. Jahn. World oil online magazine, **229** (2008), No.4.

[14]: D.R. Paul, and L.M. Robeson. Polymer nanotechnology: Nanocomposites, Polymer, 49 (2008), 3187–3204.

[15]: F. Hussain, M. Hojjati, M. Okamoto, and R.E. Gorga. Polymer-matrix Nanocomposites, Processing, Manufacturing, and Application: An overview, Journal of Composite Materials, **40** (2006), 1511-1575.

[16]: R.A. Vaia, and E.P. Giannelis. Lattice Model of Polymer Melt Intercalation in Organically-Modified Layered Silicates, Macromolecules, **30** (1997), 7990-7999.

[17]: I. Ghasemi, M. Karrabi, M. Mohammadi, and H. Azizi. Evaluating the effect of processing conditions and organoclay content on the properties of styrene-butadiene rubber/organoclay nanocomposites by response surface methodology, Polymer Letters, **4** (2010), 62–70

[18]: M. Modesti, A. Lorenzetti, D. Bon, and S. Besco. Effect of processing conditions on morphology and mechanical properties of compatibilized polypropylene nanocomposites, Polymer, 46 (2005), 10237–10245.

[19]: H.R. Dennis, D.L. Hunter, D. Chang, S. Kim, J.L. White, J.W. Cho, and D.R. Paul. Effect of melt processing conditions on the extent of exfoliation in organoclay-based nanocomposites, Polymer, **42** (2001), 9513-9522.

[20]: K.G. Gatos, R. Thomann, and J.K. Kocsis. Characteristics of ethylene propylene diene monomer rubber/organoclay nanocomposites resulting from different processing conditions and formulations, Polymer International, **53** (2004), 1191-1197.

[21]: L. Zhu, and M. Xanthos. Effects of Process Conditions and Mixing Protocols on Structure of Extruded Polypropylene Nanocomposites, Journal of Applied Polymer Science, 93 (2004), 1891-1899.

[22]: A.J. Lovinger. Annealing of Poly(viny1idene fluoride) and Formation of a Fifth Phase, Macromolecules, **15** (1982), 40-44.

[23]: M. Khajehpour, M. Arjmand, and U. Sundararaj. Dielectric Properties of Multi-Walled Carbon Nanotube (MWCNT)/Clay/Polyvinylidene fluoride (PVDF) Nanocomposites: Effect of Clay Incorporation, Polymer Composite, 2014.

[24]: M.A. Bachmann, and J.B. Lando. A re-examination of the crystal structure of phase II of poly(vinylidene fluoride), Macromolecules, **14** (1981), 40-46.

[25]: J. Herschinger, D. Schaefer, H.W. Spiess, and A.J. Lovinger. Chain Dynamics in the Crystalline a-Phase of Poly(viny1idene fluoride) by Two-Dimensional Exchange 2H NMR, Macromolecules, **24** (1991), 2428.

[26]: M.H. Litt, and J.B. Lando. The Crystal Structure of the Alternating Copolymer of Hexafluoroisobutylene and Vinylidene Fluoride, Journal of Polymer Science: Polymer Physics Edition, **20** (1982), 535-552.

[27]: S. Weinhold, M.H. Litt, and J.B. Lando. Oriented phase III poly(vinylidene fluoride), Journal of Polymer Science: Polymer Letters Edition., **17** (1979), 585.

37

[28]: K. Loufakis, K.J. Miller, and B. Wunderlich. On the conformational isomerism of poly(vinylidene fluoride), Macromolecules, **19** (1986), 1271–1272

[29]: F. Sadeghi, and A. Ajji. Study of Crystal Structure of (Polyvinylidene fluoride/Clay) Nanocomposite Films: Effect of Process Conditions and Clay Type. Polymer Engineering Science, 49 (2009), 200.

[30]: M. Khajehpour, M. Arjmand, and U. Sundararaj. Effect of Clay Incorporation on the Broadband Dielectric Properties of MWCNT/Polyvinylidene Fluoride Nanocomposites. In: ANTEC Conference Proceeding, (2013), 659.

[31]: J.N. Martins, T.S. Bassani, G.M. Barra, and R.V.B. Oliveira. Electrical and rheological percolation in poly(vinylidene fluoride)/multi-walled carbon nanotube nanocomposites. Polymer, **60** (2011), 430.

[32]: A. Lund, C. Gustafsson, H. Bertilsson, and R.W. Rychwalski. Enhancement of β phase crystal formation with the use of nanofillers in PVDF films and fibres. Composite Science Technoly, **71** (2011), 222.

[33]: Y. Bar-Cohen, and Q. Zhang. Electroactive Polymer Actuators and Sensors, MRS Bulletin,**33** (2008).

[34]: Y. Bar-Cohen. Electroactive Polymer (EAP) Actuators as Artificial Muscles - Reality, Potential, and Challenges, Spie, 2nd Ed., 2004.

[35]: T. Furukawa. Ferroelectric Properties of Vinylidene Fluoride Copolymers, Phase Transitions,18 (1989), 143-211.

[36]: A.J. Lovinger. Ferroelectric polymers, Science, 220 (1983), 1115–1121

[37]: S. Bauer, and F. Bauer. Piezoelectric Polymers and Their Applications, Chapter 6, Springer, 2008.

[38]: Q. Zhang, R. Adebeisi, and J. Gladden. Synthesize Procedures, Mechanical and Electrical Properties of Poly(vinylidene Fluoride) Nanocomposite Thin Films Containing Multi Wall carbon Nanotubes, Polymer Composite, **33** (2012), 509.

[39]: S. Satapathy, S. Pawar, P.K. Gupta, and KBR Varma. Effect of annealing on phase transition in poly(vinylidene fluoride)films prepared using polar solvent. Bulletin of Material Science, **34** (2011),727.

[40]: D.R. Dillon, K.K. Tenneti, C.Y. Li, F.K. Ko, I. Sics, and B.S. Hsiao. On the structure and morphology of polyvinylidene fluoride-nanoclay nanocomposites. Polymer, **47** (2006), 1678.

[41]: E.T. Thostenson, C. Li, and T.W. Chou. Nanocomposites in context, Composites Science and Technology, **65** (2005), 491–516

[42]: S.S. Ray, and M. Okamoto. Polymer/layered silicate nanocomposites: a review from preparation to processing, Progress in Polymer Science, **28** (2003), 1539-1641.

[43]: M. Al-Haj Ali, and R.H. Elleithy. Viscoelastic Properties of Polypropylene/Organo-Clay Nano-Composites Prepared Using Miniature Lab Mixing Extruder from Masterbatch, Journal of Applied Polymer Science, **121** (2011), 27–36.

[44]: S.S. Rey and M. Okamoto, polymer-layered silicate nanocomposites : a review from preparation to processing, Progress in Polymer Science, **28** (2003), 1539-1641.

[45]: S. Iijima. Helical Microtubules of Graphitic Carbon, Nature, London, United Kingdom, 1991;354(6348): 56.

[46]: S. Iijima, and T. Ichihashi. Single-shell Carbon Nanotubes of 1-nm Diameter, Nature, London,United Kingdom, 363 (1993): 603–605.

[47]: H.W. Kroto, J.R. Heath, S.C. O'Brien, R.F. Curl, and R.E. Smalley. C60: Buckminsterfullerene. Nature, **318** (1985), 162–163.

[48]: P.G. Collins, and P. Avouris. Nanotubes for electronics. Scientific American, **283** (2000), 62–69.

[49]: Z.M. Dang, S.H. Yao, J.K. Yuan, and J. Bai. Tailored Dielectric Properties based on Microstructure Change in BaTiO₃-Carbon Nanotube/Polyvinylidene Fluoride Three-Phase Nanocomposites. Journal of Physical Chemistry C, **114** (2010), 13204.

[50]: W.A. Curtin, and B.W. Sheldon. CNT-reinforced ceramics and metals. Mater Today 7 (2004),44–9.

[51]: G. O'Bryan, E.L. Yang, T. Zifer, J. Wally, J.L. Skinner, and A.L. Vance. Nanotube Surface Functionalization Effects in Blended Multiwalled Carbon Nanotube/PVDF Composites. Journal of Applied Polymer Science, **120** (2011), 1379.

[52]: J.K. Yuan, S.H. Yao, Z.M. Dang, A. Sylvestre, M. Genetoux, and J. Bai. Giant Dielectric Permittivity nanocomposites: Realizing True Potential of Pristie Carbon Nanotubes in Polyvinylidene Fluoride Matrix through an Enhanced Interfacial Interaction. Journal of Physical Chemistry C, **115** (2011), 5515.

[53]: S.H. Yao, J.K. Yuan, Z.M. Dang, and J. Bai. High dielectric performance of three-component nanocomposites induced by a synergetic effect, Materials Letters, **64** (2010), 2682.

[54]: M. Terrones, A.R. Botello-Méndez, J. Campos-Delgado, F. López-Urías, Y.I. Vega-Cantú,
F.J. Rodríguez-Macías, A.L. Elías, E. Muñoz-Sandoval, A.G. Cano-Márquez, J.C. Charlier, and H.
Terrones. Graphene and graphite nanoribbons: Morphology, properties, synthesis, defects and applications. Nano Today, 5 (2010), 351-372.

[55]: R. J. Young, I.A. Kinloch, L. Gong, and K.S. Novoselov. The mechanics of graphene nanocomposites: A review, Composites Science and Technology **72** (2012), 1459–1476.

[56]: A.L. Elias, A.R. Botello-Mendez, D. Meneses-Rodriguez, V.J. Gonzalez, D.R. Gonza'lez, L.

Ci, E.M. Sandoval, P.M, Ajayan, H. Terrones, and M. Terrones. Longitudinal Cutting of Pure and

Doped Carbon Nanotubes to Form Graphitic Nanoribbons Using Metal Clusters as Nanoscalpels. Nano Letters, **10** (2010), 366.

[57]: R. Silva, A.M. Go´mez, S. Vega-Dıaz, F.T. Lo´pez, A.L. Elias, N.P. Lo´pez, H. Muramatsu,T. Hayashi, K. Fujisawa, Y.A. Kim, M. Endo, and M. Terrones. Formation of Nitrogen-DopedGraphene Nanoribbons via Chemical Unzipping. ACS Nano, 7 (2013), 2192.

[58]: M. Eizenberg, and J.M. Blakely. Carbon Monolayer Phase Condensation on Ni(111). Surface Science, 82 (1970), 228–236.

[59]: C. Berger, Z. Song, X. Li, X. Wu, N. Brown, C. Naud, D. Mayou, T. Li, J. Hass, A.N. Marchenkov, E.H. Conrad, P.N. First, and W. De Heer. A. Electronic Confinement and Coherence in Patterned Epitaxial Graphene. Science, **312** (2006), 1191–1196.

[60]: K.S. Novoselov, A.K. Geim, S.V. Morozov, D. Jiang, Y. Zhang, S.V. Dubonos, I.V. Grigorieva, and A.A. Firsov. Electric Field Effect in Atomically Thin Carbon Films. Science, **306** (2004), 666–669.

[61]: S. Stankovich, R.D. Piner, S.T. Nguyen, and R.S. Ruoff. Synthesis and Exfoliation of Isocyanate Treated Graphene Oxide Nano-platelets. Carbon, **44** (2006), 3342–3347.

[62]: S. Stankovich, R.D. Piner, X. Chen, N. Wu, S.T. Nguyen, and R.S. Ruoff. Stable Aqueous Dispersions of Graphitic Nanoplatelets *via* the Reduction of Exfoliated Graphite Oxide in the Presence of Poly(sodium 4-styrenesulfonate). Journal of Material Chemistry. 16 (2006), 155–158.
[63]: J. Campos-Delgado, J.M. Romo-Herrera, X. Jia, D.A. Cullen, H. Muramatsu, Y.A. Kim, T. Hayashi, Z. Ren, D.J. Smith, Y. Okuno. Bulk Production of a New Form of sp2 Carbon: Crystalline Graphene Nanoribbons. Nano Letters, 8 (2008), 2773–2778.

[64]: X. Yang, X. Dou, A. Rouhanipour, L. Zhi, H.J. Raeder, and K. Muellen. Two-Dimensional Graphene Nanoribbons. Amercian Chemical Society. **130** (2008), 4216–4217.

[65]: M. Terrones. Materials Science: Nanotubes Unzipped. Nature, 458 (2009), 845-846.

[66]: L. Jiao, L. Zhang, X. Wang, G. Diankov, and H. Dai. Narrow Graphene Nanoribbons from Carbon Nanotubes. Nature, **458** (2009), 877–880.

[67]: L.A. Elias, A.R. Botello-Mendez, D. Meneses-Rodriguez, V. Jehova Gonzalez, D. Ramirez-Gonzalez, L. Ci, E. Munoz-Sandoval, P.M. Ajayan, H. Terrones, and M. Terrones. Longitudinal Cutting of Pure and Doped Carbon Nanotubes to Form Graphitic Nanoribbons Using Metal Clusters as Nanoscalpels. Nano Lett. **10** (2010), 366–372.

[68]: A.G. Cano-Marquez, F.J. Rodriguez-Macias, J. Campos-Delgado, C.G. Espinosa-Gonzalez,

F. Tristan-Lopez, D. Ramirez-Gonzalez, D.A. Cullen, D.J. Smith, M. Terrones, and Y.I. Vega-Cantu. Ex-MWCNT: Graphene Sheets and Ribbons Produced by Lithium Intercalation and Exfoliation of Carbon Nanotubes. Nano Letters. **9** (2009), 1527–1533.

[69]: D.V. Kosynkin, W. Lu, A. Sinitskii, G. Pera, Z. Sun, and J.M. Tour. Highly Conductive Graphene Nanoribbons by Longitudinal Splitting of Carbon Nanotubes Using Potassium Vapor. ACS Nano, **5** (2011), 968–974.

[70]: K. Kim, A. Sussman, and A. Zettl. Graphene Nanoribbons Obtained by Electrically Unwrapping Carbon Nanotubes. ACS Nano, **4** (2010), 1362–1366.

[71]: D.B. Shinde, J. Debgupta, A. Kushwaha, M. Aslam, and V.K. Pillai. Electrochemical Unzipping of Multi-walled Carbon Nanotubes for Facile Synthesis of High-Quality Graphene Nanoribbons. American Chemical Society, **133** (2011), 4168–4171.

[72]: A.L. Higginbotham, D.V. Kosynkin, A. Sinitskii, Z. Sun, and J.M. Tour. Lower-Defect Graphene Oxide Nanoribbons from Multiwalled Carbon Nanotubes. ACS Nano, **4** (2010), 2059– 2069.

[73]: D.V. Kosynkin, A.L. Higginbotham, A. Sinitskii, J.R. Lomeda, A. Dimiev, B.K. Price, and J.M. Tour. Longitudinal Unzipping of Carbon Nanotubes To Form Graphene Nanoribbons. Nature, 458 (2009), 872–876.

[74]: A. Sinitskii, A. Dimiev, D.V. Kosynkin, and J.M. Tour. Graphene Nanoribbon Devices Produced by Oxidative Unzipping of Carbon Nanotubes. ACS Nano, **4** (2010), 5405–5413.

[75]: F. Cataldo, G. Compagnini, G. Patane, O. Ursini, G. Angelini, P.R. Ribic, G. Margaritondo,A. Cricenti, G. Palleschi, and F. Valentini. Graphene Nanoribbons Produced by the OxidativeUnzipping of Single-Wall Carbon Nanotubes. Carbon, 48 (2010), 2596–2602.

[76]: S. Park, and R.S. Ruoff. Chemical Methods for the Production of Graphene. Nature Nanotechnoly, **4** (2009), 217–224.

[77]: L. Yang, C.H. Park, Y.W. Son, M.L. Cohen, and S.G. Louie. Quasiparticle energies and band gaps in graphene nanoribbons, Physical Review Letters, **99** (2007), 186801.

[78]: M. Fujita, K. Wakabayashi, K. Nakada, and K. Kusakabe. Peculiar Localized State at Zigzag Graphite Edge. Journal of Physical Society of Japan, **65** (1996), 1920–1923.

[79]: M. Terrones, A.R. Botello-Mendez, J. Campos-Delgado, F. Lopez-Urias, Y.I Vega-Cantu,

F.J. Rodriguez-Macias, A.L. Elias, E. Munoz-Sandoval, A.G. Cano-Marquez, and J.C. Charlier. Graphene and Graphite Nanoribbons: Morphology, Properties, Synthesis, Defects and Applications. Nano Today, **5** (2010), 351–372.

[80]: P. Avouris. Graphene: electronic and photonic properties and devices, Nano Letters, **10** (2010), 4285–4294.

[81]: F. Schwierz. Graphene transistors, Nature Nanotechnoly, 5 (2010), 487–496.

[82] Li, X.; Wang, X.; Zhang, L.; Lee, S.; Dai, H. Chemically derived, ultrasmooth graphene nanoribbon semiconductors, Science, **319** (2008), 1229–1232.

[83]: M.A. Rafiee, W. Lu, A.V. Thomas, A. Zandiatashbar, J. Rafiee, J.M. Tour, and N.A. Koratkar. Graphene Nanoribbon Composites. ACS Nano, **4** (2010), 7415–7420.

[84]: A.K. Geim, and K.S. Novoselov. The rise of graphene. Nature Materials, 6 (2007), 183–90.

[85]: A.K. Geim. Graphene: status and prospects. Science, **324** (2009), 1530–1534.

[86]: H. Kim, A.A. Abdala, and C.W. Macosko. Graphene/polymer nanocomposites. Macromolecules, **43** (2010), 6515–6530.

[87]: R. Verdejo, M.M. Bernal, L.J. Romansanta, and M.A. Lopez-Manchado. Graphene filled polymer nanocomposites. J Mater Chemistry, **21** (2011), 3301–3310.

[88]: V. Singh, D. Joung, L. Zhai, S. Das, S.I. Khondaker, and S. Seal. Graphene based materials: past, present and future. Progress in Material Science, **56** (2011), 1178–271.

[89]: R.J. Young, and I.A. Kinloch. Graphene composites, Wiley Encyclopedia of Composites, (2011).

Chapter 3

Processing and Characterization

The purpose of this Chapter is to provide introductory information about the laboratory equipment used in this work for fabrication and characterization processes of polymer nanocomposites (PNCs). A brief introduction to each of the processes presented here. This chapter is divided to two sections allocated to (1) PNC processing methods and (2) characterization tests conducted to evaluate the properties of PNCs.

3.1. Processing

3.1.1. Mixers

3.1.1.1. Melt mixing

Melt mixing is a well-known method for compounding polymer blends or composites. In this process, nanofillers are introduced into the polymer at a high temperature where the matrix is molten. Polymer macromolecules should move easily at high temperatures in their low viscosity state during the mixing process. Polymer chains are expected to penetrate between nanofillers, and intercalate the nanolayers or nanoparticles. The melt mixing process for the nanocomposites with different filer loadings was carried out using one of the following two mixers, Haake Batch Mixer

or Miniature Batch Mixer. The choice of mixer depended on the scale of the material, and included a defined and controlled temperature, time and rotor speed (shear).

Haake Batch mixer

Melt intercalation was performed in the Thermo-Fisher Haake Rheomix Series 600[®] internal batch mixer with twin Banbury blades (Figure 3.1a) to make polymer nanocomposites. The mixing volume is 70 cm³ and filling factor used is about 0.78 for most of the polymers.

Miniature batch mixer

Melt intercalation was performed in a smaller mixer custom developed in our laboratory. This batch mixer, as shown in Figure 3.1b, has exactly the same system and structure as the Haake Rheomix 600, but with a small chamber size of 2.4 cm³. This makes the mixer ideal for small scale experiments, with a limited material amount.

Alberta Polymer Asymmetric Minimixer (APAM)

Alberta Polymer Asymmetric Minimixer (APAM) is the name of another custom miniature mixer which was developed by our research group in 2004 (Figure 3.1c) [1]. This mixer was built to achieve flow regimes similar to industrial mixers and has temperature and rotation frequency (Revolutions per minute (RPM)) control in addition to torque and melt temperature measurement. Its complex flow pattern is the same as that observed in a standard, two-rotor laboratory internal batch mixer, such as the Haake Rheocord series 600, but in a simple, one-rotor configuration. The asymmetric design of the rotor exerts sufficiently high shear rates, elongational flow and reorientation to obtain both a well-dispersed and well-distributed material [1].

The small scale of the chamber's cavity volume of approximately 2 cm³ makes the mixer ideal for laboratory experimental purposes. The cup has an inner diameter of 13 mm and a height of 25

mm. The rotor, similar to a roller blade has a helical cut and a length of 25 mm, with an alternating diameter. The temperature of the chamber is measured and controlled to maintain a steady state via the heating band around the mixer and using temperature measured by the thermocouple in the outer cup.



Figure 3.1. Melt-intercalation mixers; a) Haake internal, b) Miniature batch, and c) APAM

3.1.1.2. Solution mixing setup

Magnetic stirrers in beakers were used for dissolving the polymer in the appropriate solvent, for the dispersion of nanofillers in the solvents, and for solution mixing. Solution mixing temperature was controlled using a thermocouple immersed in the liquid. In addition, to have the best homogenous solutions for nanofillers, ultrasonication was also used. Figure 3.2 depicts the schematic of the solution mixing procedure used for making nanofiller/polymer nanocomposites.

3.1.2. Ultrasonication and Homogenizers

Generally, a very high van der Waals attraction exists between the nanofillers causing aggregations and, consequently, we cannot take advantage of their special properties with respect

to the high surface area. Among several physical and chemical strategies to overcome this problem, ultrasonication has been used in parts of our project to physically enhance the dispersion. Sonication is the method of applying sound energy to agitate, disperse, break up and sheer particles [2]. Sonication, with focused ultrasound frequencies (more than 20 kHz), are called ultrasonication. The ultrasonication may be applied for different purposes, such as homogenizing, disintegration, degassing or cleaning [3]. The following ultrasonic devices have been used for disaggregation and homogenizing the nanoparticles' dispersion prior to any modification reaction or compounding with polymers.



Figure 3.2. a) Stirrer, hot plate, and thermocouple, b) Schematic of solution mixing process

Bath sonicator

A VWR ultrasonic bath (Figure 3.3a), with temperature and time control, was used to disperse nanofillers well, particularly MWCNTs and GNRs, in the appropriate solvents to enhance the modification processes.



Figure 3.3. Photographs (top) and schematics (bottom) of; a) Bath sonicator, b) probe sonicator, and c) digital homogenizer [4]

Probe sonicator

The Hielscher ultrasonic processor UP200S (Figure 3.3b), with a power of 200 W and frequency of 24 kHz, was used as a homogenizer for the dispersion and de-agglomeration of particles in liquids, through ultrasonic power. Both the amplitude and pulse of the sonicator are adjustable from 20 to 100% and 0 to 100%, respectively. This device was used for the homogeneous dispersion of carbon nanotubes and graphene nanoribbons in the polymer solution while in the solution mixing process.

Digital Homogenizer

The IKA T-18 Ultra Turrax Digital Homogenizer (Figure 3.3c) was used for the homogenous solution mixing of the polymer and fillers. Its 500 W motor generates rotation rates of 500 to 25000 rpm, with stainless steel dispersion elements. This equipment was also used for homogenizing the product of the solution mixing process for carbon nanotubes and graphene nanoribbons with polymer dissolved in a suitable solvent.

3.1.3. Carbon Nanotube Synthesis Setup

We synthesized homemade multi wall carbon nanotubes (MWCNTs) and synthesized graphene nanoribbons (GNRs) from the parent MWCNTs with specific desired structures and properties [5-7], using the setup depicted in Figure 3.4. We used these custom MWCNTs in some part of this work.

Recently, one of the most effective methods considered for tuning the CNTs properties is doping with elements such as nitrogen or boron [5, 6, and 8]. Therefore, we used N-doping for our MWCNT and GNRs and incorporated them in the polymer nanocomposites. The method and setup
used for the synthesis of nitrogen doped CNTs and GNRs is described briefly in this section. More detailed information could be found in the literature [5-7].

Nitrogen doped Carbon Nanotube Synthesis setup

The N-CNTs were synthesized by a chemical vapor deposition (CVD) method using our carbon nanotube synthesis setup, as shown in Figure 3.4.





Figure 3.4. (a) Photograph and (b) schematic of CNT synthesis setup

A mixture of ethane (C_2H_6) as a source of carbon, ammonia (NH₃) as the source of nitrogen, and argon (Ar) as the inert environment, was used in the synthesis process. The flow rates of the gases were controlled by the gas flowmeters (Cole Parmer 150-mm 316 SS). A metallic catalyst, supported on alumina (M/Al₂O₃), was placed inside a quartz boat located inside a quartz tubular reactor with a diameter of 4.5cm. The reactor was placed inside a tube furnace (Thermo Scientific– Lindberg Blue M) set at a temperature in the range of 550 to 950 °C for 2 hours.

3.1.4. Graphene nanoribbon Synthesis Procedure

The longitudinal unzipping of MWCNTs (Figure 3.5), through chemical oxidation in a mixture of acids, has been proven to produce a high yield of low defect GNRs [7, 9]. In this PhD project, undoped and nitrogen doped GNRs were synthesized from the parent in-house synthesized undoped and nitrogen doped MWCNTs via chemical oxidation method [7] in our laboratory.



Figure 3.5. Schematic longitudinal unzipping of MWCNT

The oxidation procedure is illustrated in Figure 3.6; 150 mg of MWCNTs was stirred in 36 ml H₂SO₄ for 1 hour. Then, 4 ml of the second acid, H₃PO₄ or Trifluoroacetic acid (TFA), was added

to the mixture and stirred for 15 minutes. Next, 750 mg of KMnO₄ was slowly added to the mixture and stirred for 1 hour at room temperature, followed by another 2 hour stirring at 65 °C. Finally, the product was rinsed with 20% HCl and diethyl ether and vacuum filtered to obtain GNR flakes.



Figure 3.6. GNR synthesis process

3.2. Sample preparation techniques for characterization tests

3.2.1. Molding

Different forming methods and equipment, such as injection molding or compression molding, were used to shape the polymer materials into samples for different tests and characterizations. In this thesis, all of molding was conducted using a hot compression press setup.

Compression molding

A Carver hot press with heating/cooling platens (Figure 3.7a) was used for both compression molding and curing of the polymer composites. The temperature and pressure of process were

controlled at the desired values according to the type and final purpose of the molded material. The heating system was a series of cartridges heaters. The cooling system of the press comprised of cold water flowing through tubes embedded in the mold. The compression molding steps are illustrated in Figure 3.7b.





(b)

Figure 3.7. (a) Hot press setup, and (b) Compression molding steps

One of the most important applications of this setup for this work is for the vulcanization process. Curing, or vulcanization, is a form of reaction used to crosslink elastomer. Crosslinks refer to the number of points that link each chain to other chains in the three dimensional network of rubbers [9]. The vulcanization process has been performed according to ASTM D5289.

3.2.2. Ultramicrotome

The filler/polymer composites should be cut to extremely thin sections, for microscopy visualization or imaging purposes. Sections should have thicknesses of about 70 nm for Transmission electron microscopy (TEM). Therefore, a Leica EM UC6 ultramicrotome (Figure 3.8) was used for ultrathin sectioning of the composites. This microtome may operate at either room temperature or at cryo-conditions, depending on the glass transition temperature (T_g) of the polymer. T_g is the temperature below which the polymer becomes hard and can be sectioned without deformation. Ultramicrotoming above T_g can lead to artifacts, thus sectioning is usually done at 50°C below T_g.

- **Room temperature** is used when the material is brittle enough to be easily cut as sections in room temperature.

- **Cryo-ultramicrotoming** is required for sectioning of the samples with a very low T_g , such as rubbers in our work. The temperature of the knife, cryo-chamber gas and the sample holder can be set and controlled at a range from -15 °C to -185 °C. The chamber is cooled through liquid nitrogen evaporation.



Figure 3.8. Ultramicrotome system for sectioning materials prior to microscopy

3.3. Characterization

3.3.1. Thermal Gravimetric Analysis

Thermal gravimetric analysis (TGA) was done using a TA instruments' Q-500 series was used to determine the thermal stability of nanocomposites. TGA tests can be performed under different atmospheres, such as air, H_2O or N_2 , and also using different heating protocoles, depending on the type of material and purpose of the test. For our composites, the tests were conducted under N_2 atmosphere. The important data obtained from the TGA are: (1) the thermal decomposition onset of the materials, which shows the thermal stability and (2) the amount of modifiers which are absorbed by the materials, which is particularly useful for the organo-modified clay in this work.

3.3.2. Differential Scanning Calorimetry

The crystallization behavior, detection of phase transition, and crosslinking procedure of materials are studied by differential scanning calorimetry (DSC) test. The test has been conducted

using a Q-500 TA Instruments DSC with different temperature rates and programs. Some of the most important results from DSC in our studies are: (1) melting temperature (T_m), (2) glass transition temperature (T_g) and (3) crystallization temperature (T_c). These data can be used to determine the amount and type of crystals and phase structure; gelation temperature, maximum curing temperature, changes in the heat capacity and enthalpy of reactions for curing behavior studies.

3.3.3. X-Ray Diffraction

Wide angle X-ray diffraction (XRD) was used to study the nanofillers' intercalation, composites morphology and crystalline structure of the polymer matrices. The tests were performed using a diffractometer with Co K α or Cu K α radiation, at wavelengths of 0.179 or 0.154 nm, respectively. The most important results obtained from XRD were the amount of intercalation and exfoliation of nanofillers, like nanoclay sheets, in the polymer matrix and the type and amount of crystalline structure. The interlayer space can be calculated from Bragg's law:

$$2dsin\theta = n\lambda$$
 Eq. 3.1

Where *d* is the interlayer spacing, in Angstroms, θ is the diffraction angle in degree and λ is wavelength in Angstroms.

3.3.4. Fourier transform infrared

Fourier transform infrared (FTIR) spectroscopy is a technique for performing qualitative and quantitative analysis of the molecular structure and chemical bonds of organic compounds, achieved by analyzing how the sample absorbs a light beam at each wavelength [2, 11]. The term

"infra-red" covers the range of the electromagnetic spectrum between 0.78 and 1000 μ m. In the context of infra-red spectroscopy, wavelength is reported as "wavenumber" $\frac{2\pi}{\lambda}$, which has the unit cm⁻¹[11].

Attenuated total reflectance (ATR) is a sampling technique which is useful for liquid and solid materials without the need for further sample preparation. In this work, FTIR and FTIR-ATR spectroscopy were used to characterize the molecular structure of nanofillers, such as modified nanoclays, and the morphology of nanocomposites. The FTIR-ATR was recorded on an IL Nicolet NEXUS 470 FT-IR with Zn-Se detector.

3.3.5. Nuclear Magnetic Resonance

Nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR) spectroscopy is a technique for the study of the molecular physics and crystals of materials, by analyzing the absorption and re-emission of electromagnetic radiations by the nuclei in a magnetic field [2]. Magic-angle spinning (MAS) is a technique often used to perform experiments in solid-state NMR spectroscopy [13]. The chemical shifts in NMR spectra, which are the resonant frequency of a nucleus relative to a standard, are diagnostic of the structure of a molecule [2]. Herein, the purpose of NMR is to identify the success of chemical modification and to confirm the grafting of the nanoparticles. Solid-state ²⁹Si MAS NMR was performed on a Bruker AMX spectrometer, operating at an applied magnetic field of 7.05 T, using a BL4 magic-angle spinning probe and 4 mm (o.d.) zirconia oxide rotors.

3.3.6. Microscopic Imaging

Electron microscopy imaging is a technique of imaging the ultrastructure of materials using electron beams. Two types of electron microscopy imaging were used in this work, transmission electron microscopy (TEM) and scanning electron microscopy (SEM).

Transmission electron microscopy

Transmission electron microscopy (TEM) is based on the transmission of an electron beam through ultramicrotome-sectioned materials (i.e. 70 nm slices). The beam of electrons interacts with the specimen as it passes through and the image is formed from the interaction of the transmitted electrons with the electrons in the sample. TEM analysis was carried out on the ultramicrotomed sample sections with thickness of about 50-70 nm. There are two TEM facilities used for this work, depending on the desired resolution: the Hitachi H-7650, with 2 nm resolution and Tecnai TF20 G2 FEG-TEM, with higher resolution to 0.05 nm. The former works with 120 kV acceleration voltage, and the latter at a 200 kV. Tecnai TF20 has the standard single-tilt holder and its images were captured on a Gatan UltraScan 4000 CCD camera at 2048x2048 pixels [14].

Scanning electron microscopy

A scanning electron microscope (SEM) produces images by scanning a sample with a focused beam of electrons. The electrons interact with atoms in the sample and produce detectable signals which contain information about the sample's surface topography and composition [96]. This method of imaging provides information about external morphology, chemical composition, crystalline structure, and orientation of materials. The SEM analysis for this thesis was done by the FEI XL30 at an accelerating voltage adjustable between 0.5 kV and 30 kV [13].

3.3.7. Electrical properties

Composites made by incorporating conductive nanofillers in polymer matrices are known as conductive polymer composites (CPC). The major applications of CPCs are charge storage, electromagnetic interference (EMI) shielding and electrostatic discharge (ESD) dissipation [2, 15]. A range of electrical conductivity is required for each of the applications [16]. We have, therefore, measured these properties for our conductive fillers (namely MWCNT and GNR) polymer composites, using the following equipment and methods.

Electrical conductivity

Electrical conductivity is defined as the ordered movement of charges (electric current) when an electric field is applied. In other words, it is the ability of a material to conduct an electric current. An alternative for measuring this material property is electrical resistivity. Electrical resistivity is how strongly a material opposes the electrical current [17]. With respect to conductivity, materials are categorized into three main groups: conductive, semi-conductive and insulative. Materials with a conductivity of less than 10^{-12} S.m⁻¹ are known as insulators, while the conductivity range of 10^{-12} to around 10^{+2} S.m⁻¹ corresponds to semi-conductors. Conductive material (semi-metals and metals) have conductivity of more than 10^{+2} S.m⁻¹ [5]. Figure 3.9 shows the conductivity range for typical polymer composites.



Figure 3.9. Electrical conductivity range for polymer composites [18]

Conductivity (σ) is inversely related to volume resistivity(ρ_{ν}).

$$\sigma = \frac{1}{\rho_v} \qquad \qquad Eq. 3.2$$

The volume resistivity can be calculated as follow:

$$\rho_{\nu} = \frac{RA}{t}$$
 Eq. 3.3

$$R = \frac{V}{I}$$
 Eq. 3.4

Where R is the measured resistance, A and t are the surface area and average thickness of the sample, V and I are potential voltage and electrical current, respectively.

Different systems were used to measure the volume resistivity of our polymer composites. Measurements were performed for rectangular molded samples ($42x25x1 \text{ mm}^3$) with the applied voltage of 10V. A Loresta GP resistivity meter (MCP-T610 model, Mitsubishi Chemical Co., Japan), connected with a four-pin probe (Figure 3.10a), was used for in-flow volume resistivity of less than $10^4 \ \Omega \cdot \text{cm}$, according to ASTM 257-75. For in-flow volume resistivity of more than $10^4 \ \Omega \cdot \text{cm}$, the measurements were carried out using a Hiresta-UP resistivity meter (MCP-HT450 model, Mitsubishi Chemical Co., Japan) connected with a piece of URS probe (Figure 3.10b).

For the 4-pin probe method, as shown in the schematic in Figure 3.11a, 4 needle-type electrodes are placed linearly on a sample. A voltage potential will be formed between 2 inner pin probes (2 and 3) is measured. Having the electrical current flow between the 2 external pin probes (1 and 4), the resistance can be estimated [19]. For the ring electrode probe, as illustrated in Figure 3.11b, the current flows across the sample and a potential voltage would be between probes. Again, the volume resistivity can be calculated using Equation 3.4.



(a)





(c)

Figure 3.10. Resistivity measurement setup; a) Loresta (4 point probe in inset), b) Hiresta (ring electrode probe in inset), and c) Keithley



Figure 3.11. (a) 4-Pin probe for and (b) Ring electrode probe resistivity measurement [19]

Through thickness volume resistivity measurements were performed using a Keithley 2400 source meter for less than $10^4 \ \Omega \cdot cm$ and a Keithley 6517A electrometer for more than $10^4 \ \Omega \cdot cm$. Both types of Keithley were connected to a Keithley 8009 test fixture (Figure 3.10c). The sample is placed as insulator between two electrodes as shown in an equivalent circuit in Figure 3.12. Applying a voltage potential across opposite side of the insulator and measuring electric current through the sample, the volume resistivity can be calculated (Equation 3.4).



Figure 3.12. The equivalent circuit for Keithley 8009 Test Fixture [20]

Electromagnetic interference (EMI) shielding

Electromagnetic signals are induced by many electronic devices. The electromagnetic interference (EMI) shielding refers to the reflection and/or adsorption of electromagnetic radiation by a material that acts as a shield against those signals [19]. EMI shielding properties of the conductive filler/polymer composites in this work were measured by a WR-90 rectangular waveguide, using an Agilent programmable network analyzer, PNA Model E8364B (Figure 3.13), in the X-band (8.2 - 12.4 GHz) frequency range. Scatter parameters, also called S-parameters, were used to calculate shielding parameters in the EMI shielding setup [21].

The EMI shielding mechanism consists of three main mechanisms: reflection, absorption and multiple-reflection [21-23]. Therefore, the overall EMI shielding, SEOA, is defined as the sum of shieldings by reflection, absorption and multiple-reflection:

$$SE_{OA} = SE_R + SE_A + SE_{MR} Eq. 3.5$$

Where SE_R is shielding by reflection, SE_A is shielding by absorption, and SE_{MR} is shielding by multiple reflection. The network analyzer used to measure the EMI shielding properties consists of a signal source, a receiver and a display. The source dispatches a signal at a single frequency to the material under test. The receiver is adjusted to that frequency to detect the reflected and transmitted waves from the material. The magnitude and phase data will be measured for each signal. The source then switches to the next frequency and the measurement is repeated. Finally, the reflection and transmission measurement responses as a function of frequency will be displayed.



Figure 3.13. EMI shielding and dielectric permittivity measurement setup

The Scatter parameters (S-parameters) describe the performance of a two-port EMI shielding setup completely [15, 24]. S-parameters are defined as:

| S11 |: Reflected voltage magnitude divided by the incident voltage magnitude in port 1

| *S12* |: Transmitted voltage magnitude from port 2 to port 1 divided by incident voltage magnitude in port 2

| *S*₂₁ |: Transmitted voltage magnitude from port 1 to port 2 divided by incident voltage magnitude in port 1

| S22 |: Reflected voltage magnitude divided by the incident voltage magnitude in port 2

If the material is homogeneous, S_{11} should be equal to S_{22} , and S_{21} also should be equivalent to S_{12} . Since power of each signal is proportional to square of field strength, $|S_{11}|^2$ is equivalent to reflected power divided by incident power in port 1 and $|S_{12}|^2$ is equivalent to transmitted power from port 1 to port 2 divided by incident power in port 1.

Having S-parameters from the analyzer, the reflectance (R) and transmittance (T) are calculated as follow:

$$R = |S_{11}|^2 = |S_{22}|^2 \qquad \qquad Eq. 3.6$$

$$T = |S_{12}|^2 = |S_{21}|^2 \qquad Eq.3.7$$

Then, shieldings by reflection and absorption and the overall shielding can be calculated as follow;

$$SE_R = 10 \times \log_{10}\left(\frac{1}{1-R}\right) = 10 \times \log_{10}\left(\frac{1}{1-|S_{11}|^2}\right)$$
 Eq. 3.8

$$SE_A = 10 \times \log_{10}\left(\frac{1-R}{T}\right) = 10 \times \log_{10}\left(\frac{1-|S_{11}|^2}{|S_{12}|^2}\right)$$
 Eq. 3.9

It is worth mentioning that no device has been developed to measure shielding by multiplereflection separately; therefore, SE_{MR} is inherent in SE_R and SE_A . The overall shielding can be calculated as

$$SE_{OA} = SE_R + SE_A$$
 Eq. 3.10

Dielectric Permittivity

Dielectric permittivity is material's ability to transmit (permit) the electric field and a measure of how easily a dielectric polarizes in response to an electric field. This property is important for charge storage applications of CPCs.

Permittivity has two components; real permittivity (ε ') and imaginary permittivity (ε ''). Real permittivity shows the amount of energy which has been stored in a material from an external field. Imaginary permittivity is the measure of dissipation of the external electric field's energy by the material. Therefore, permittivity is defined as a complex quantity as given below;

$$\varepsilon = \varepsilon' - i\varepsilon''$$
 Eq. 3.11

Dissipation factor $(\tan(\delta))$ is the ratio of the dissipated energy to the stored energy and has great importance in industry as it links the capacitive and resistive currents in a material. High dissipation factor $(\tan(\delta) \gg 1)$ shows a good conductor material while very low dissipation factor $(\tan(\delta) \ll 1)$ indicates a good insulator. This factor is defined as below:

$$\tan(\delta) = \frac{\varepsilon^{''}}{\varepsilon'} = \frac{Energy\ dissipated/cycle}{Energy\ stored/cycle} \qquad \qquad Eq. 3.12$$

The S-parameters of each sample were recorded one at a time and used to calculate the complex permittivity with the Nicolson-Ross-Weir method [25]. Dielectric permittivity measurements were also done by using the Agilent programmable network analyzer, PNA Model E8364B.

The impedance of nanocomposites was calculated using the following equations:

$$Z = \frac{V}{I}$$
 Eq. 3.13

$$I = I_R + I_C Eq. 3.14$$

$$Z = Z' + iZ'' \qquad \qquad Eq. 3.15$$

Where *Z* is impedance, *V* is AC voltage, *I* is total current, *Z'*, *Z*["]. I_R and I_C are real impedance, imaginary impedance, resistive and capacitive currents, respectively. Substituting I_R and I_C the final equations will be:

$$\varepsilon' = \frac{1}{\omega C_0} \left[\frac{-Z''}{(Z'^2 + Z''^2)} \right]$$
 Eq. 3.16

$$\varepsilon'' = \frac{1}{\omega C_0} \left[\frac{-Z'}{\left(Z'^2 + Z''^2 \right)} \right]$$
 Eq. 3.17

$$C_0 = \varepsilon_0 \frac{S}{d} \qquad \qquad Eq. 3.18$$

Where, ω is angular frequency, C_0 is the capacitance of free space, ε_0 is permittivity of free space, *S* and *d* are area and thickness of the sample, respectively.

3.3.8. Tensile test

Mechanical behavior and properties of the composites were examined by tensile tests. The schematic of the tensile test is shown in Figure 3.14a. The tensile strength tests were carried out using a TensiTech machine (Figure 3.14b) and followed the ASTM D412 standard for dumbbell specimens with the dimensions according to the standard and thickness of 2 mm [26]. Average values of the tensile strength (TS), elongation at break, and modulus of the composites were investigated in this study to explore the mechanical performance of materials.



Figure 3.14. (a) Schematic of tensile test, and (b) TensiTech machine [27]

3.3.9. Rheometry

The elasticity and crosslinking processes were studied through rheometry. Two different rheometers were utilized for the investigation of rheological and vulcanization behavior of our nanocomposites.

- Non-isothermal curing behavior of MWCNT/FKM and GNR/FKM was studied using MCR 302 Anton Paar rheometer (Figure 3.15b). The viscoelastic characterization of elastomer composite materials, as a function of frequency, was determined using this equipment according to ASTM 4440. All measurements were performed utilizing parallel plate geometry (Figure 3.15a), with a diameter equal to 25mm. Samples for rheometry were pre-molded at 100 °C and 5000 psia for 10 minutes; they had a thickness of 0.9±0.05 mm after removing from the mold and being cooled to room temperature. The non-isothermal curing behavior of composites was monitored by temperature sweeps from 90 °C to 250 °C in linear viscoelastic regime.

- For clay-polymer nanocomposite samples, the vulcanization and rheological behavior were studied using TechPro Moving Die Rheometer (MDR+), which was performed at 160 °C and with an oscillating frequency of 1.66 Hz, with 0.5 deg arc (ASTM D5289), for 20 minutes. The rheological characterization samples were disks, with 25 mm diameter and 2 mm thickness, prepared by compression molding at 90 °C and 10 MPa for 2 minutes.





Figure 3.15. (a) Parallel plate rheometry schematic, and (b) MCR 302 Anton Paar Rheometer [28]

3.4. References

[1]: O. Breuer, U. Sundararaj, and R.W. Toogood. The design and performance of a new miniature mixer for specialty polymer blends and nanocomposites, Polymer Engineering and Science **44** (2004), 868-879.

[2]: J. Vanderstee. Uses of a sonicator. Available at http://www.ehow.com/list_7595028_uses-sonicator.html, July 2014.

[3]: Hielscher-Ultrasoudn Technology homepage, http://www.hielscher.com, Accessed July 2014.

[4]: Dispersers technical data brochure for T-series ULTRA-TURRAX® Dispersers. http://ika.com; 2014.

[5]: K. Chizari, and U. Sundararaj. The effects of catalyst on the morphology and physicochemical properties of nitrogen-doped carbon nanotubes, Materials Letters, **116** (2014), 289–292.

[6]: C.P. Ewels, and M. Glerup. Nitrogen doping in carbon nanotubes, Journal of Nanoscience and Nanotechnology, **5** (2005), 1345-1363.

[7]: A Z. Yazdi, K. Chizari, and U. Sundararaj. Nitrogen Doping of Helically Unzipped Bamboo Structured Multiwalled Carbon Nanotubes, under submission, 2014

[8]: K. Chizari, A. Vena, L. Laurentius, and U. Sundararaj. The effect of temperature on the morphology and chemical surface properties of nitrogen-doped carbon nanotubes, Carbon, **68** (2014), 369–379.

[9]: A.L. Higginbotham, D.V. Kosynkin, A. Sinitskii, Z. Sun, and J.M. Tour. Lower-Defect Graphene Oxide Nanoribbons from Multiwalled Carbon Nanotubes. ACS Nano, **4** (2010), 2059– 2069.

[10]: L.H. Sperling, and T.C. Michael. On the Crosslinked Structure of Rubber, Journal of Chemical Education, **59** (1982), 651-652.

[11]: K. Gerwert, and C. and Kötting. Fourier Transform Infrared (FTIR) Spectroscopy. eLS, 2010.

[12]: J.W. Hennel, and J. Klinowski. Magic Angle Spinning: A Historical Perspective, New techniques in solid-state NMR. Springer, 2005, 1–14

[13]: InternetChemistry homepage, www.internetchemistry.com/chemistry/ir-spectroscopy.htm, accessed at July 2014.

[14]: Microscopy and Imaging Facility, University of Calgary, available at: http://www.ucalgary.ca/mif/, accessed at July 2014.

[15]: M.H. Al-Saleh, and U. Sundararaj. Electromagnetic interference (EMI) shielding effectiveness of PP/PS polymer blends containing high structure carbon black. Macromolecular Materials and Engineering. **293** (2008), 621-630.

[16]: D.D.L. Chung, Materials for electromagnetic interference shielding. JMEPEG 9 (2000), 350-352.

[17]: .D.D.L. Chung. Electromagnetic interference shielding effectiveness of carbon Materials, Carbon, **39** (2001), 279–285.

[18]: A.J. Heeger, A.G. MacDiarmid, and H. Shirakawa. The Nobel prize in chemistry, 2000: conductive polymers. Available from: www.nobelprize.org.

[19]: Resistivity Measuring Systems Manual. Mitsubishi Chemical Analytech. N&H Technology GmbH. Available at www.nh-instruments.de; July 2014.

[20]: Instruction manual for model 8009 resistivity test fixture. Keithley Instruments, Inc., 2003.

[21]: M. Arjmand Electrical Conductivity, Electromagnetic Interference Shielding and Dielectric Properties of Multi-walled Carbon Nanotube/Polymer Composites, PhD thesis, University of Calgary, 2014.

[22]: K.L. Kaiser. Electromagnetic Shielding. Boca Raton: CRC Press (2006), 1-52.

[23]: M.H. Al-Saleh, and U. Sundararaj. Electromagnetic interference shielding mechanisms of CNT/polymer composites. Carbon, **47** (2009), 1738-1746.

[24]: M.J. Jiang, Z.M. Dang, M. Bozlar, F. Miomandre, and J.B. Bai. Broad-frequency dielectric behaviors in multiwalled carbon nanotube/rubber nanocomposites. Journal of Applied Physics, **106** (2009), 1-6.

[25]: A.M. Nicolson, and G.F. Ross. Measurement of intrinsic properties of materials by timedomain techniques, IEEE Trans. Instrum. Meas. IM19 (1970), 377-382.

[26]: ASTM Standard D412, 2013, Standard Test Methods for Vulcanized Rubber and Thermoplastic Elastomers-Tension.

[27]: Data sheet for tensiTECH+ Universal Tensile Tester, Alpha Technologies, available at http://www.alpha-technologies.com; July 2014.

[28]: Viscometry/Rheometry brochure, MCR Rheometer Series, Anton Paar Inc., Available at http://www.anton-paar.com; 2014.

Chapter 4

Modification of Montmorillonite with Alkyl Silanes and Fluorosurfactant for Clay/Fluoroelastomer (FKM) Nanocomposites*

4.1. Presentation of the Article

The focus of this article is chemical treatment of a nanoclay, namely montmorillonite (Mnt), and effect of the modifications on the morphology and properties of Mnt/fluoroelastomer (FKM) nanocomposite. In the first section of this project, different types of modifiers including saturated and non-saturated organosilanes, and an ammonium quaternary surfactants were tested through different modification procedures. In addition to higher clay basal spacing for the modified clays, another interesting result was better thermal resistance of the modified Mnt versus the commercial available product. In the second section of this work, nanoclay/FKM nanocomposites were produced via melt-mixing process. Improved interaction of the modified Mnt with FKM led to noticeably enhanced dispersion of clay in polymer matrix and ameliorated properties such as swelling resistance, and mechanical and thermal performance of the nanocomposite. The main part of this work has been done by Maryam Khajehpour, Dr. U. Sundararaj has supervised the work, and Dr. Genaro Gelves (now with 3M, Canada) helped with interpretation of the results.

^{*} Published in Clays and Clay Mineral, 2014

Modification of Montmorillonite with Alkyl Silanes and

Fluorosurfactant for Clay/Fluoroelastomer (FKM) Nanocomposites

Maryam Khajehpour¹, Genaro A. Gelves¹, Uttandaraman Sundararaj¹

1: Department of Chemical and Petroleum Engineering, University of Calgary, 2500 University Drive N.W. Calgary, AB, Canada, T2N 1N4

4.2. Abstract

The main objective of this work was to functionalize nanoclays with organosilanes and surfactant in order to facilitate the dispersion of the nanofillers in the host fluoroelastomer (FKM) polymer matrix. The better dispersion was achieved by improving interaction between the clay polymer nanocomposite (CPN) constituents. In the first part of this work, modification of montmorillonite (Mnt), using different saturated and unsaturated alkyl silanes and an alkyl hydrocarbon ammonium quaternary surfactant was investigated. Silicon magic angle spinning nuclear magnetic resonance (²⁹Si MAS NMR) spectroscopy, thermal gravimetric analysis (TGA), elemental analysis, X-ray diffraction (XRD) and Fourier transform infrared spectroscopy (FTIR) were used to characterize the silane-grafted clays. Results indicated that the amount of silane grafting was dependent on the specific structure of the silane. Silane-grafted Mnt was also modified with ionic surfactants intercalated between the clay sheets. A 169% increase in the clay basal spacing (from initial spacing of 1.00 nm up to 2.69 nm) could be achieved. In the second part of this work, fluoroelastomer (FKM) nanocomposites, containing custom-functionalized Mnt were

successfully synthesized, with the aim of producing reinforced high-performance materials. The effect of clay modification on the morphology and thermal properties of the CPN were studied using XRD, TGA, scanning electron microscopy (SEM) and transmission electron microscopy (TEM). The CPN made with the modified clay exhibited higher thermal stability relative to the CPN of the commercially available modified Mnt (an onset degradation point of about 40°C higher was obtained).

4.3. Introduction

In recent decades, interest in inorganic nanofiller polymer nanocomposites [1, 2] has increased. The most important advantage of nanofillers over conventional micro-particles is the remarkable improvement in the final clay polymer nanocomposites' (CPN) properties, with very low filler content, due to the interaction between polymer and filler on the nano scale [3-5]. Among nanofillers, silicate layers have gained specific attention since the 1950s, stemming from nanoclays' interesting structural features and their high aspect ratios [1, 6-9].

Nanoclay incorporation can enhance mechanical, thermal and barrier properties of polymers [7, 10, and 11]. The key factor for this improvement is the clay sheets' chemical compatibility and uniform dispersion in the host polymer [6, 12-15]. A complete delamination of the layered clays increases the interfacial interaction between the polymer chains and the nanoclays, leading to exfoliated clay/polymer nanocomposites [15, 16]. Although the hydrophilic nature of silicate layers is generally incompatible with organic polymers [2, 7, 8, 11, 16, 17-20], with active sites, such as hydroxyl groups and exchangeable interlayer cations, clay can be modified to be compatible with an organic polymer matrix [7].

Previous studies have explained that the superior properties of CPN are dependent on the clay's dispersion, the aspect ratio, and the interfacial interaction between the clay and polymer matrix [11,

14, and 20]. Large clay particles and low affinity of natural clays to most organic polymers diminish their reinforcing ability in CPN [9]. Therefore, it is important to make them compatible via organophylization of clays to facilitate their intercalation with the hydrophobic polymer macromolecules [2], so as to improve the clay sheet dispersion in the matrix and enhance efficiency in modifying the final properties [2, 14, 17-19, and 21-24]. While both the basal spacing and chemical affinity of silicate layers are important for their dispersion, two approaches are used for clay modification: interlayer ion exchange with surfactant and, treatment of functional groups on the clay surface and edges by organic compounds, such as silane [8, 9, 14, 18, and 22-25].

Montmorillonite (Mnt) is one of the most commonly studied clay minerals for polymer nanocomposites and is also the most used in different applications of CPN [9, 26]. One of the most successful ways for organophilizing clay is silane grafting, which is possible through the reaction between the alkoxy groups of silane and the hydroxyl groups of Mnt [9]. Grafting of clays with bifunctional silanes not only improves interfacial interaction, but also enables chemical reactions between clays and functional groups in the macromolecules [12, 16]. The end groups of the grafted silanes can react with monomers before polymerization and/or with polymer chains during melt mixing or vulcanization [14].

The thermal stability of Mnt/polymer nanocomposites can be improved by replacing ion exchanged ammonium intercalants with covalently bonded silane [14, 16]. Enhanced mechanical properties and an increased crystallization temperature are expected as a result of edge grafting of clay with silane [16]. While the size of the surfactant molecules is much larger than the cations that are normally placed between the silicate layers in pristine clay, the replacement of cations with surfactant should help to open up the interlayer spaces.

The reinforcement of elastomers by clay incorporation has a wide range of applications, due to their light weight, higher processability relative to metals [27], and enhanced mechanical properties

compared to traditional elastomers [27,28]. Although many studies have been done on CPN with thermoplastics and thermosets, much less attention has been paid to elastomers [29]. Most applications of elastomers, however, are impossible without reinforcement [10]. Fluoroelastomer (FKM) is a type of elastomer that exhibits excellent performance when high temperatures and chemical resistance are required [30]. These materials are proposed for applications where elastic behavior is needed for severe environments demanding special improved material performance such as high temperature stability and oil resistance [31].

In this work, modification of Mnt with the purpose to be more compatible with, and well dispersed in FKM was investigated using both organosilane as chemical compatibilizer and surfactant as dispersion-aid. Herein, the effectiveness of silane grafting and the use of surfactant for increasing intercalation in the clay is investigated and reported. The modification was carried out using saturated and unsaturated alkyl silanes, namely, vinyltrimethoxysilane, octadecyltrimethoxysilane, 7-octenyltrimethoxysilane, and 10-undecenyltrimethoxysilane; and a quaternary ammonium surfactant was used as cation exchanger. Incorporating the modified nanoclay in FKM, the nanocomposite was produced, and its properties were studied. The unsaturated functionalities in the silane-modified clays provide for better interaction between clays and polymers, and make it easier to fabricate reinforced elastomer nanocomposites that are vulcanized through free radical mechanisms.

4.4. Experimental

4.4.1. Materials

Montmorillonite clay, Nanofil 116 (pure unmodified Mnt), and Cloisite 20A (organo-modified Mnt with dimethyl dihydrogenated tallow quaternary ammonium surfactant) were obtained from Southern Clay Products Inc, TX, United States. The structure of unmodified Mnt is available in

77

literature (He et al, 2005; Herrera et al, 2004; Hussain et al, 2006). Octadecyltrimethoxysilane (90%) was purchased from Sigma-Aldrich Chemistry Company Inc., ON, Canada, and 7octenyltrimethoxysilane (95%) and 10-undecenyltrimethoxysilane from Gelest, Inc., PA, USA, Vinyltrimethoxysilane (SCA972 silane coupling agent) was kindly provided by Struktol, ON, Canada. Masurf® FS-1620 fluoroaliphatic quaternary fluorosurfactant and Viton® fluoroelastomer (grade GF-200S) were supplied by Mason Chemical Company, OH, USA and DuPont, ON, Canada, respectively.

4.4.2. Clay modification

The two main methods of Mnt modification examined in this study as illustrated in Figure 4.1: (1) silane grafting, and (2) ion exchange with surfactant. Silane grafting is the reaction of alkoxysilane Si-O-R functionalities with hydroxyl groups on the edges of the clay forming Si-O-Si bridges with elimination of alcohols (R-OH) [9]. Typically, adding surfactant reduces the surface and interfacial tension. In this work, four different silanes were used for silylation: octadecyltrimethoxysilane, 7-octenyltrimethoxysilane, 10-undecenyltrimethoxysilane and vinyltrimethoxysilane. The exchangeable cations between the clay layers were replaced by a cationic surfactant (trimethyloctadecyl ammonium chloride) to increase the basal spacing between layers.

With both silane and surfactant used in Mnt modification, two different procedures were tested. In method 1, the surfactant was added first, followed by the silane. In method 2, silane was added to the clay prior to the surfactant. Modification procedures, using 100 mL of a mixture of methanol (90 vol. %) and water (10 vol.%) as the dispersing medium for 1 g of clay, were carried out at 70°C. 1 mL of the organosilane and/or surfactant was used per 1 g of clay and the time for the silane reaction and cation exchange with the surfactant was 4 h and 1 h, respectively. Above a certain concentration of surfactant, there is no effect of concentration on the layer spacing, and 1mL of surfactant was above the critical amount required for this system. The modified clay was dried in a vacuum oven at 60°C for 24 h, milled in a mortar and sieved through a mesh to less than 63.5 micrometers with a USA standard test sieve.



(b)

Figure 4.1. Schematics for (a) Mnt modification with alkylsilanes and (b) Mnt modification with surfactant.

4.4.3. Clay polymer nanocomposite preparation

Organically treated Mnt from the previous phase was used for FKM nanocomposite preparation. Melt intercalation is the most favored method in industry [5, 6, and 29] and, as such, was chosen for the production of CPN in this work. Two common, commercially available fillers used for making elastomeric nanocomposites are carbon black and Cloisite 20A [15, 28]. Some comparisons were made between the results using these fillers and those of the synthesized clays using the same mixing conditions.

Melt compounding was done with a Haake internal mixer. The elastomer was first masticated for 3 min, and the clay (at a concentration of 10 phr) was added to the polymer and melt mixed for about 17 min. The mixer temperature was set at 50°C; however, elastomer mastication caused the melt temperature to rise to 80°C. The modified clay dispersion in the polymer matrix is illustrated schematically in Figure 4.2.



Figure 4.2. Modified clay/FKM nanocomposite preparation

4.4.4. Characterization

A TA Instruments' Q500 series (New castle, DE, USA) thermogravimetric analyzer was used to determine the thermal stability of the modified clay and CPN. The TGA testing was done on a 10mg sample under a nitrogen (N₂) atmosphere at a heating rate of 20°C/min from 30°C to 850°C. The FTIR technique was used to characterize the modified clay. Clay samples were prepared as potassium bromide (KBr) discs (~20mm diameter) using compression molding about 2 mg of the clay mixed with KBr. FTIR spectroscopy was run on a Nicolet Nexus 470 FT-IR ESP (Thermo Fisher Scientific Inc., MA, USA) with a cesium iodide (CsI) detector. Solid-state ²⁹Si MAS NMR spectroscopy was performed with a Bruker AMX spectrometer, operating at an applied magnetic field of 7.05 T, using a BL4 magic-angle spinning probe and 4 mm (OD) zirconia oxide rotors. ²⁹Si MAS NMR spectra were referenced to an external sample of DSS at 8.8 ppm. Clay samples were packed and spun at the magnetic angle at a frequency of 4.0 kHz. Elemental analysis was done using a Perkin Elmer Model 2400 series II instrument to analyze the CHN (carbon, hydrogen, nitrogen) content.

The basal spacing of clay layers and the intercalation level of clay/FKM nanocomposites were estimated from the XRD test (Rigaku Ultima III, Scottsdale, AZ, USA) with Cu K α radiation and $\lambda = 0.154$ nm. For XRD characterization, CPN samples, with a diameter of 25 mm and thickness of 2 mm, were compression molded at 90°C and 6 MPa for 2 min. The generator operated at 40 kV and 44 mA. Transmission electron microscopy (TEM) and scanning electron microscopy (SEM) were used to examine the morphology of the CPN. TEM was carried out using a Tecnai TF20 G2 FEG-TEM (FEI, Hillsboro, OR, USA), at 200 kV acceleration voltage with the standard single-tilt holder. Cryo ultra-microtome sectioning of the samples for TEM was done with a Leica EM FC6 at -160°C using liquid nitrogen. TEM images were captured on a Gatan UltraScan 4000 CCD (Gatan, Pleasanton, California, USA) camera at 2048x2048 pixels from samples with the thickness of 50-70 nm. SEM was carried out using a SEM, FEI XL30 (FEI, Hillsboro, OR, USA) with adjustable voltage between 0.5-30 kV. The surface of the samples for SEM image was trimmed with the microtome and were coated with gold before imaging.

4.5. Results and discussion

4.5.1. Clay modification

4.5.1.1. Silane grafting

The three methoxy groups in the silane structure can be hydrolyzed in the presence of methanol/water mixtures, and the resulting hydroxyl (OH) groups enable grafting reactions with the OH groups on the clay. In this work, silane compounds, containing saturated (octadecyltrimethoxysilane) and unsaturated (10-undecenyltrimethoxysilane, 7-octenyltrimethoxysilane) alkyl chains, were successfully grafted to Mnt and their effects were compared.

From the TGA results (Figure 4.3) for unmodified and silane-modified Mnt, and the commercially available alkyl-ammonium modified clay (Cloistie 20A) a loss of mass below 200°C was observed, which corresponds to the residual solvents, organics and gases absorbed onto the clay. In the range of 100°C to 400°C, pristine Mnt typically showed decomposition of water absorbed inside the platelets (interlayer) and of water hydrating the cations that were intercalated in the interlayer. The dehydroxylation of the aluminosilicate typically occurred between 500°C and 700°C [32].

The onset temperature of degradation (Table 4.1) is defined here as the temperature at which the modified clays lost 5 mass%. Moreover, the specific molar amount of silane grafted on the functionalized clays can be calculated from the mass loss percentage using this formula (Table 4.1);

$$X = \frac{(mass\% \ loss \ of \ modified \ clay) - (mass\% \ loss \ of \ pure \ Mnt)}{100 - dividend} \times \frac{1}{MW}$$

Where *X* is the molar amount of grafted silane per gram of Mnt, and MW is the molecular weight of the organosilane used as modifier. The unmodified Mnt used in this study exhibited a mass loss

of 1.8 % up to 200°C and a loss of 8.2% between 200°C and 700°C. The TGA of silylated clays showed that the most significant mass loss took place at 460°C for 7-octenyltrimethoxysilane-modified Mnt (Figure 4.3b), 505°C for octadecyltrimethoxysilane-modified Mnt (Figure 4.3c), and 510°C for 10-undecenyltrimethoxysilane-modified Mnt (Figure 4.3d).

The onset temperature of degradation is defined here as the temperature at which the modified clays lost 5 mass%. Moreover, the specific molar amount of silane reacted with the clay can be calculated from the mass loss percentage. These parameters for the functionalized Mnt are summarized in Table 4.1. The unmodified Mnt used in this study exhibited a mass loss of 1.8 % up to 200°C and a loss of 8.2% between 200°C and 700°C. The TGA of silylated clays showed that the most significant mass loss took place at 460°C for 7-octenyltrimethoxysilane-modified Mnt (Figure 4.3c), 505°C for octadecyltrimethoxysilane-modified Mnt (Figure 4.3b).

According to the mass loss results (Table 4.1), vinyltrimethoxysilane/Mnt only had a 6.3% of mass loss, indicating that the reaction used in this study did not lead to any strong evidence of Mnt grafting with this silane. The mass loss of the unmodified Mnt in the range of 200°C to 700°C was about 8.2%. Silane-grafted Mnt, in the same temperature range showed mass losses of 13.1% for 7-octenyltrimethoxysilane- Mnt 18.9% for 10-undecenyltrimethoxysilane- Mnt and 39.8% for octadecyltrimethoxysilane- Mnt. Assuming that the same amount of dehydroxylation occurred for silane-grafted Mnt, the difference between the mass losses from 200°C to 700°C would correspond to the amount of silane grafted on Mnt for each compound.



Figure 4.3. TGA (red lines) and differential TGA (blue lines) results for (a) unmodified Mnt, (b) Mnt modified with 7-octenyltrimethoxysilane, (c) Mnt modified with octadecyltrimethoxysilane, (d) Mnt modified with 10-undecenyltrimethoxysilane, and (e) Cloisite 20A.

The differential TGA (D-TGA) results show that the thermal degradation for unmodified Mnt occurred in the range of 400°C to 700°C, due to the dehydroxylation of the structural OH units of Mnt. Silane-modified Mnt exhibited decomposition in the range between 400°C and 600°C. The thermal dehydroxylation of the aluminosilicate, therefore, should overlap with the decomposition

of the silane from the clay surface. For comparison purposes, the onset temperature, based on the same criteria for a commercial Mnt modified with dimethyl dihydrogenated tallow quaternary ammonium surfactant (i.e. Cloisite 20A), is 287° C. As can be observed in the results, strong evidence exists of better thermal modification for the clay by the silanes, relative to the commercially available alkyl-ammonium modified clay (Cloistie 20A). The TGA and D-TGA results indicate that the order of thermal stability for the silane modified clays was 10-undecenyltrimethoxy > octadecyltrimethoxy > 7-octenyltrimethoxy > Cloisite 20A.

 Table 4.1. Degradation onset points for modified Mnt and the amount of silane reacted with the clay surface for different organosilane modifiers

Clay	Temperature at 5% mass loss (°C)	mass loss % (200-700°C)	mmoles of silane/ grams of Mnt
10-undecenyltrimethoxysilane- Mnt	475	18.9	0.849
octadecyltrimethoxysilane- Mnt	420	39.8	1.233
7-octenyltrimethoxysilane- Mnt	300	13.1	0.64
Cloisite 20A	287	38	-

The onset temperatures for silane-grafted Mnt demonstrated the higher thermal stability of these clays versus those modified with quaternary ammonium surfactants. The silicon-oxygen-silicon (Si-O-Si) bonds formed between the clay surface and the silane were more thermally stable than the ionic bonds formed between ammonium- or phosphonium-based surfactants typically used for modification of clays for polymer nanocomposites. Thus, grafting of Mnt with silane led to modified clays with increased thermal stability and, consequently, greater thermal stability of the polymer nanocomposite materials.

The elemental analyses (Table 4.2) confirm the silane grafting on clay's surface, and indicate that the amount of modifier grafted on the clays. One conclusion can be that the amount of silane grafting was higher for silanes with longer chains.

Class	Actual element (%)		
Clay	Carbon	Hydrogen	
Mnt	0.96	1.50	
Octadecyltrimethoxysilane- Mnt	31.86	5.78	
10-undecenyltrimethoxysilane- Mnt	13.08	2.57	
7-octenyltrimethoxysilane- Mnt	9.62	2.09	

Table 4.2. Elemental analysis of unmodified and silane-modified Mnt

FTIR spectra of pure Mnt and silylated clays (Figure 4.4) show evidence of the organosilane grafting for the modified Mnts. The peaks in the range of 1000 cm⁻¹ to 1130 cm⁻¹ and the signal at about 1430 cm⁻¹ were attributed to Si-O-Si bonds [33, 34] that existed for both the unmodified and modified clays. More specifically, the peak around 1040 cm⁻¹ corresponded to Si-O-Si stretching [28]. The absorption at around 900 cm⁻¹ was related to OH deformation, which is linked to cations; and, the peak at 1635 cm⁻¹ corresponded to hydrogen-oxygen-hydrogen (H-O-H) deformation [35].



Figure 4.4. FTIR results for (a) unmodified Mnt (blue line), Mnt modified with (b) 7octenyltrimethoxysilane (orange line), (c) 10-undecenyltrimethoxysilane (green line), and (d) octadecyltrimethoxysilane (red line)
Generally, the absorption peaks in the range of 2850 cm⁻¹ to 2960 cm⁻¹ can be attributed to C-H (carbon-hydrogen) from alkyl chains [36]. The peak at 2940 cm⁻¹ showed the C-H stretch [37] for C atoms that are bound to OH groups. The peak at 2830 cm⁻¹ confirmed the oxygen-methyl (O-CH₃) bond [38], but this may also indicate unreacted methoxy groups of the silane. Also the peak at 2850 cm⁻¹ can be related to CH₂ stretching modes [39], which is again an indication of alkyl chains of the grafted organosilanes. The broad peak in the range of 3200 cm⁻¹ to 3500 cm⁻¹ can be assigned to intermolecular H bonds, which could be seen for unmodified clay [40], whereas the peak at 3400 cm⁻¹ corresponded to H-O-H hydrogen-bonded water [35], which existed in both the octadecyltrimethoxy and vinyltrimethoxy silane-modified clays. This may be due to the O-H bonds on the platelet surface and substitution of methoxy groups of the silane after synthesis. The same is true for the peak at 3634 cm⁻¹, which can be attributed to O-H stretching vibration [35].

²⁹Si MAS NMR spectroscopy (Figure 4.5) was used to confirm the grafting of Mnt with different silanes. The chemical shifts are summarized for both the unmodified and silane modified clays (Table 4.3). The spectrum for unmodified Mnt displayed only one peak at -86.8 ppm; whereas silane-grafted Mnt exhibited additional peaks at -68.2 ppm and -61.1 ppm for octadecyltrimethoxy silane, -55.11 ppm and -44 ppm for undecenyltrimethoxy silane and -53.4 ppm and -51.2 ppm for octenyltrimethoxy. The resonance signal at -86.8 ppm corresponded to Q³ [Si(OSi)₃O(Al, Mg)], which is characteristic of the silicon atom forming the layered silicate. No signal was detected for Q⁴ [Si(OSi)₄], indicating that silica was not present in the clay while also demonstrating the purity of the Mnt [41]. Generally, signals in the range -80 to -120 ppm show Q¹, Q², Q³ or Q⁴ silicon types with 4 attached Oxygens which by substitution of any methyl group would be shifted to T types in the range of -70 to +10 ppm (Process NMR Associates webpage, 2012). The resonance signals that appeared at about -60 to -70 ppm for octadecyltrimethoxysilane- Mnt correspond to T³ [Si(OSi)₃R] [42], where R corresponds to the alkyl chain of the silane used for grafting. The signals at -55 ppm and -44 ppm for undecenyltrimethoxysilane- Mnt are due to T^2 [Si(OSi)₂(OH')R] and T^0 , respectively. T^0 is an indication of hydrolyzed intermediate with no condensed Si-OH groups [42]. Also, the signals between -50 and -55 for the octenyltrimethoxysilane- Mnt should be related to T^2 and T^3 [Si(OSi)₃R]. Taking the NMR spectra results into account, the appearance of new signals and decrease in the intensity of Q³ signals confirms the condensation reaction of the clays 'surface silanol groups [41] and grafting of different organosilanes on Mnt.



Figure 4.5. NMR results for (a) Mnt modified with octadecyltrimethoxysilane (red line), (b) Mnt modified with 10-undecenyltrimethoxysilane (green line), (c) Mnt modified with 7-octenyltrimethoxysilane (orange line), and (d) unmodified Mnt (blue line).

Sample	Chemical Shifts (ppm)
Mnt	-86.708
octadecyltrimethoxysilane- Mnt	-86.76, -68.2, - 61.1
10-undecenyltrimethoxysilane- Mnt	-86.70, -44, - 55.11
7-octenyltrimethoxysilane- Mnt	-86.52, -53.4, - 51.18

Table 4.3. NMR chemical shifts for silane-modified and unmodified Mnt

Basal spacing for different silane grafted Mnt and the pristine unmodified Mnt (Table 4.4) can be calculated from wide angle XRD results using Bragg's law, $2d.(sin\theta) = n\lambda$, where d is the basal spacing in angstroms, θ is the diffraction angle in degrees, and λ is the wavelength in angstroms and is equal to 1.54 Å for Cu K α radiation. The d for Mnt has been reported in the literature as 0.95 nm to 1.17 nm [43, 28]. The results of this work indicate that the initial interlayer space (i.e. 1.00 nm) was slightly increased after silane grafting. Some amount of silanes, therefore, had been intercalated between clay sheets while the rest of silane were grafted at the edges via a condensation reaction with hydroxyl groups at the clay edges [7].

Table 4.4. Basal spacing for modified and unmodified Mnt

Sample	d001 (nm)
Mnt [28, 43]	0.95-1.17
Mnt (experimental result)	1.00
Octadecyltrimethoxysilane/ Mnt	1.22

4.5.2. Effect of surfactant modification

Previous studies on the silane modification of clay reported the possibility of a blockage of the interlayer spaces between the clay platelets by silane molecules grafted on the clay edges [7]. Experiments with a quaternary ammonium surfactant were carried out in this study to determine if the silanes at the clay edges prevent intercalation. The outcomes of different clay treatment

procedures were different, depending on the order of the two steps of modification (i.e. the order of adding the silane and the surfactant). In Method 1, surfactant was added first and in Method 2, silane was added first.

The XRD results (Figure 4.6) show a significant increase in the basal spacing for the Mnt that was modified with both silane and surfactant than that of unmodified clay. The basal spacing (d_{001}) was observed that has been considerably increased in both orders of modification, indicating that the surfactant was successfully intercalated in the clay. While the modification of the clay with both species can be carried out in either order to result in intercalated/silinated clay, a larger interlayer space was achieved with Method 2. Method 2 showed an additional expansion of 0.3 nm over Method 1, which was an increase of about 30% based on initial basal spacing. The reason for the difference may be that the surfactant increased the interlayer space initially in the first method; however, with the addition of silane, some surfactant was flushed out from the interlayer spaces.



Figure 4.6. XRD results for (a) unmodified Mnt (blue line) and (b) modified Mnt using method 1-surfactant addition prior to that of silane-(orange line), and (c) modified Mnt using method 2 - silane addition prior to that of surfactant-(green line).

FTIR results for both the modified and unmodified Mnt (Figure 4.7) show the effect the two methods of modification on chemical bonds of the clays. The peaks in the range of 2800 cm⁻¹ to 3000 cm⁻¹ show the alkyl chain of both the surfactant and silane, indicating their attachment to the clay surface. The decrease in the intensity of peaks at 3200-3600 cm⁻¹ region, which is correspond to stretching vibration H-bonded Si-OH groups, comparing to unmodified Mnt is due to organic surfactant intercalated into the Mnt interlayers. The decrease of peaks at 3450 and 3600-3730 cm⁻¹, which correspond to the stretching vibration of surface Si-OH groups confirms the reaction of modifiers with the surface of clay [44, 45].



Figure 4.7. FTIR results for (a) unmodified Mnt (blue line) and modified Mnt using silane and surfactant with (b) method 1-surfactant addition prior to that of silane-(orange line), and (c) method 2-silane addition prior to that of surfactant-(green line).

The development and increase in the intensity of the peaks at 2850 and 2930 cm⁻¹ are an indication of O-CH₃ and -CH₂ groups giving evidence of the attachment of the alkyl chain of the organic modifiers on the clay surface [45]. The development and increase in the intensity of the

peaks at 2850 and 2930 cm⁻¹ are the indication of $O-CH_3$ and $-CH_2$ groups [45] or can be corresponded to symmetric and antisymmetric CH_2 stretching modes [39]. With either ways of interpretation, these peaks are evidence of attachment of the alkyl chain of the organic modifiers on the clay surface.

Generally the peaks between 1000 and 1260 cm⁻¹ correspond to Si-O bonds that can be from silica, silane-silica or silane-silane sources [46]. However, the appearance of the new shoulder at 1080 cm⁻¹ in modified Mnt is a proof of existence of Si-O-Si and is another indication of grafting of organosilanes on Mnt surface [42]. It is a possibility that the surfactant has been a factor in creating these Si-O-Si bonds since the shoulder at 1080 cm⁻¹ is not visible in Figure 4.4. Up to this point, the characterization results have strongly indicated that Mnt was both modified at the clay edges by alkylsilanes and at the interlayer space by ionic surfactants.

4.6. Modified clay/FKM nanocomposites

4.6.1. Dispersion and morphology

The intercalation of FKM in CPN is reported as the interlayer space (d₀₀₁) of clay layers in the FKM matrix (Table 4.5) demonstrate that larger basal d-spacing can be obtained for modified clays than for unmodified clay. The treatment of the clay by surfactant, in addition to silane modification, caused slightly higher intercalation of clay. However, when introduced in the polymer matrix, the final basal spacing for the nanocomposites was similar for all the clays. This may be a consequence of interaction of clay and polymer during CPN production. The decrease in basal spacing for the 18CSI-SF-Mnt/FKM may have been due to unbound surfactant that was in the clay galleries that were pushed out by the polymer chains during intercalation.



Figure 4.8. XRD results for unmodified Mnt (blue dashed line), octadecyltrimethoxysilane-Mnt clay; 18CSI-Mnt (orange dashed line), clay modified with silane and surfactant; 18CSI-SF-Mnt (green dashed line), and the respective nanocomposites with FKM (continues lines with same color as for the clays).

Table 4.5. Intercalation of modified and unmodified Mnt/FKM nanocomposites

Sample	Filler	d001 (nm)
18CSI-SF-Mnt/FKM	octadecyltrimethoxysilane-fluorosurfactant-Mnt	1.447
18CSI- Mnt /FKM	octadecyltrimethoxysilane-Mnt	1.417
Mnt/FKM	Mnt	1.168

The effect of these modifications in d_{001} is observed to be more significant for pristine clay, which was not introduced into the polymer matrix. This may be a consequence of interaction of clay and polymer during CPN production. One possible mechanism for this phenomena is the excess unbounded fluorosurfactant intercalated in the gallery between clay sheets. These unbounded excess molecules cause an increase in the interlayer space of the clay sheets while they will be flushed out by polymer molecules during melt-mixing process.



Figure 4.9. d-spacing decrease during nanocomposite production

As has been illustrated in the schematic of Figure 4.9, some of the surfactant molecules are bounded with the clay and some other excess amount are not. Having high affinity with the fluoroelastomer polymer matrix, these unbounded amount may be flushed out of the gallery to the polymer matrix hence, the basal spacing between clay sheets will be reduced.

Through the investigation of the morphology of different fillers and FKM nanocomposites, significant improvement in the dispersion of nanoclays into the FKM matrix was obtained by combined silane grafting and surfactant treatment. From TEM images (Figure 4.10) less agglomeration was observed for the silylated Mnt than the unmodified one. Consequently, improved distribution and higher intercalation can be achieved by silane modification of nanoclays.

The effects of surfactant on the dispersion of modified clay were also investigated by TEM and SEM imaging. The effect of surfactant modification of nanoclays, as can be observed from TEM images (Figure 4.11), confirms that the ion exchange in clays by surfactant resulted in an enhanced

intercalation of clay particles into the CPN. Also, noticeably better dispersion for the surfactantsilane-modified clays than the silane-modified clays in the FKM matrix was observed in SEM images (Figure 4.12). This is due to higher intercalation between the clay layers because of the existence of surfactant molecules in the interlayer space. As a result of enhanced dispersion of fillers improved mechanical properties [20] and oil or chemical resistance are expected.



Figure 4.10. TEM image of (a) unmodified Mnt /FKM, (b) organosilane-modified Mnt /FKM



Figure 4.11. TEM images of (a) silane-modified Mnt /FKM and (b) surfactant and silane modified Mnt /FKM



Figure 4.12. SEM images of (a) silane-modified Mnt /FKM and (b) silane and surfactant modified Mnt /FKM

4.6.2. Thermal stability

Another important property of CPN is its thermal resistance for high-temperature applications. The effect of the applied modifications on the thermal stability of the resultant CPN, therefore, was also studied. In this regard, TGA testing for the different clay/FKM nanocomposites was conducted (Table 4.6). The filler concentration for all the CPN was 10 phr, and the method of compounding was melt intercalation in a ThermoFischer Haake internal batch mixer.

Considering a mass loss of 5% as the onset degradation point, one may conclude that silane modification brought about an increase in the thermal stability of the CPN, relative to commercially modified clays (Cloisite 20A). The use of ammonium ions as surfactant for clay treatment, however, has a negative effect on the thermal stability of the CPN [47]. Moreover, the use of carbon black as the second filler caused a decrease in the temperature where degradation started. The optimum treatment of the clay, therefore, depends on the final application and the favored properties of the elastomer nanocomposite to which the clay is incorporated.

Clay Polymer nanocomposite	Filler	T (°C)
18CSI-Mnt/FKM	octadecyltrimethoxysilane- Mnt	425
CB-18CSI-Mnt/FKM	Carbon black /octadecyltrimethoxysilane - Mnt	415
18CSI-SF-Mnt/FKM	octadecyltrimethoxysilane-fluorosurfactant- Mnt	390
Cloisite 20A / FKM	Cloisite 20A	386
FKM	N/A	416

 Table 4.6.
 5% mass degradation start point for modified and unmodified Mnt /FKM nanocomposites

4.7. Conclusion

Considering the fact that both chemical compatibility and dispersion of nanoclays in polymer affect the final properties of CPNs, simultaneous modification using organosilane and surfactant have been successfully performed in this work via two different methods. Mnt with both intercalated fluorosurfactant and silane modification on the edges were produced. This is the first report of using both fluorosurfactant and silane for clay functionalization. By using different saturated and unsaturated silanes on Mnt, it was found that the amount of silane grafting and the thermal stability of the clay both vary depending on the silane chemical structure. Results demonstrated that surfactant and silane addition could noticeably increase the basal spacing for montmorillonite (Mnt) from an initial spacing of 1.00 nm up to 2.69 nm; essentially, a 169% increase. This is one of the few studies that investigated different length silanes for modification of clay surfaces. Silanes with longer alkyl chains were more readily grafted on the clay edges relative to those with shorter alkyl chains. The thermal stability of silane-modified Mnt was much higher than the commercially available modified Mnt, which was modified by a tallow surfactant. Further modification of clay, with a fluorosurfactant to increase the spacing between the clay layers, was successfully performed. These materials were also more thermally stable than the commercially available Mnt. A significant increase in clay interlayer spaces was achieved with the ion-exchange reaction as the result of surfactant modification of Mnt; this increase in basal d-spacing has been shown to lead to a better dispersion of clays in the nanocomposites (Bukka and Miller, 1992). Enhanced interaction between the modified clay and the FKM, and hence, improved dispersion of the nanoclay in polymer matrix was achieved. The best intercalation and exfoliation of the clays was obtained by clay modification with surfactant prior to silane grafting.

4.8. References

[1]: N.N. Herrera, J.M. Letoffe, J.L. Putaux, L. David, and E. Bourgeat-Lami. Aqueous Dispersions of Silane-Functionalized Laponite Clay Platelets. A First Step toward the Elaboration of Water-Based Polymer/Clay Nanocomposites. Langmuir, **20** (2004), 1564-1571.

[2]: H. He, J. Duchet, J. Galy, and J.F. Gerard. Grafting of swelling clay materials with 3aminopropyltriethoxysilane. Journal of Colloid and Interface Science, **288** (2005), 171-176.

[3]: M. Modesti, A. Lorenzetti, D. Bon, and S. Besco. Effect of processing conditions on morphology and mechanical properties of compatibilized polypropylene nanocomposite. Polymer, **46** (2005), 10237-10245.

[4]: N.K. Borse, and M.R. Kamal. Melt Processing Effects on the Structure and Mechanical Properties of PA-6/Clay Nanocomposites. Polymer Engineering and Science, **46** (2006), 1094-1103.

[5]: M. Al-haj Ali, and R.H. Elleithy. Viscoelastic Properties of Polypropylene/Organo-Clay Nano-Composites Prepared Using Miniature Lab Mixing Extruder from Masterbatch. Journal of Applied Polymer Science, **121** (2011), 27-36.

[6]: H.R. Dennis, D.L. Hunter, D. Chang, J.L. White, J.W. Cho, and D.R. Paul. Effect of melt processing conditions on the extent of exfoliation in organoclay-based nanocomposites. Polymer, 42 (2001), 9513-9522.

[7]: A.M. Shanmugharaj, K.Y. Rhee, and S.H. Ryu. Influence of dispersing medium on grafting of aminopropyltriethoxysilane in swelling clay materials. Journal of Colloid and Interface Science, **298** (2006), 854-859.

[8]: W. Shen, H. He, J. Zhu, P. Yuan, and R.L. Frost. Grafting of montmorillonite with different functional silanes via two different reaction systems. Journal of Colloid and Interface Science, **313** (2007), 268-273.

[9]: F. Bergaya, M. Jaber, and J.F. Lambert. Rubber-Clay Nanocomposites, Science, technology and Applications (Galimberti, M. Edition). Clays and Clay Minerals (Chapter 1) and Organophilic Clay Minerals (Chapter 2), Wiley, Hoboken, New Jersey, 2011.

[10]: Y.P. Wu, Q.X. Jia, D.S. Yu, and L.Q. Zhang. Modeling Young's modulus of rubber–clay nanocomposites using composite theories. Polymer Testing, **23** (2004), 903-909.

[11]: G. Mingliang, and J. Demin. Influence of Organoclay Prepared by Solid State Method on the Morphology and Properties of Polyvinyl Chloride/Organoclay Nanocomposites, Journal of Elastomers and Plastics, **40** (2008), 223-235.

[12]: G.X. Chen, J.B. Choi, and J.S. Yoon. The Role of Functional Group on the Exfoliation of Clay in Poly(L-lactide). Macromolecular Rapid Communication, **26** (2005), 183-187.

[13]: D.R. Paul, and L.M. Robeson. Polymer nanotechnology: Nanocomposites. Polymer **49** (2008), 3187-3204.

[14]: Z. Qian, H. Zhou, X. Xu, Y. Ding, S. Zhang, and M. Yang. Effect of the Grafted Silane on the Dispersion and Orientation of Clay in Polyethylene Nanocomposites. Polymer Composite, **30** (2009), 1234-1242.

[15]: F. Bergaya, and G. Lagaly. Developments in Clay Science, Volume 5: Handbook of Clay Science. Introduction to Clay Polymer Nanocomposites (Chapter 13) and Smectites Polymer Nanocomposites (Chapter 13.1). Elsevier Science & Technology, Jordon Hill, GBR, 2013.

[16]: X. Xu, Y. Ding, F. Wang, B. Wen, J. Zhang, S. Zhang, and M. Yang. Effects of Silane Grafting on the Morphology and Thermal Stability of Poly(ethylene terephthalate)/Clay Nanocomposites.Polymer Composite, **31** (2009), 825-834.

[17]: M. Park, I.K. Shim, E.Y. Jung, and J.H. Choy. Modification of external surface of laponite by silane grafting. Journal of Physical Chemistry of Solids, **65** (2004), 499-501.

[18]: J.H. Joo, J.H. Shim, J.H. Choi, D.S. Kim, and J.S. Yoon. Effect of the Silane Modification of an Organoclay on the Properties of Polypropylene/Clay Composites. Journal of Applied Polymer Science, **109** (2008), 3645-3650.

[19]: A. Das, K.W. Stöckelhuber, R. Jurk, D. Jehnichen, and G. Heinrich. A general approach to rubber–montmorillonite nanocomposites: Intercalation of stearic acid. Applied Clay Science, **51** (2011), 117-125.

[20]: H. Heinz, Clay minerals for nanocomposites and biotechnology: surface modification, dynamics and responses to stimuli. Clay Minerals, **47** (2012), 205-230.

[21]: A. Akelah, and A. Moet. Polymer-clay nanocomposites: Free-radical grafting of polystyrene on to organophilic montmorillonite interlayers. Journal of Materials Science, **31** (1996), 3589-3596.
[22]: L. Zhu, and M. Xanthos. Effects of Process Conditions and Mixing Protocols on Structure of Extruded Polypropylene Nanocomposites. Journal of Applied Polymer Science, **93** (2004), 1891-1899.

[23]: L.M. Daniel, R.L. Frost, and H.Y. Zhu. Edge-modification of laponite with dimethyloctylmethoxysilane. Journal of Colloid Interface Science, **321** (2008), 302-309.

[24]: F.E. Monasterio. Effect of the organic groups of difunctional silanes on the preparation of coated clays for olefin polymer modification. Clay Minerals, **45** (2010), 489-502.

[25]: F. Hussain, M. Hojjati, M. Okamoto, and R.E. Gorga. Polymer-matrix Nanocomposites, Processing, Manufacturing, and Application: An overview. Journal of Composite Materials, **43** (2006), 3107-3123.

[26]: F. Bergaya, and G. Lagaly. Surface modification of clay minerals. Applied Clay Science, **19** (2001), 1-3.

[27]: V. Mittal, J.K. Kim, and K. Pal. Recent Advances in Elastomeric Nanocomposites. Springer-Verlag, Berlin Heidelberg, 2011. [28]: S. Lakshminarayanan, B. Lin, G.A. Gelves, and U. Sundararaj. Effect of Clay Surfactant Type and Clay Content on the Rheology and Morphology of Uncured Fluoroelastomer/Clay Nanocomposites Prepared by Melt-Mixing. Journal of Applied Polymer Science, **112** (2009), 3597– 3604.

[29]: J. Hrachova, P. Komadel, and I. Choda'k. Effect of montmorillonite modification on mechanical properties of vulcanized natural rubber composites. Journal of Materials Science, **43** (2008), 2012-2017.

[30]: B. Ameduri, B. Boutevin, and G. Kostov. Fluoroelastomers: synthesis, properties and applications. Progress in Polymer Science, **26** (2001), 105-187.

[31]: R. Valsecchi, L. Torlaj, S. Turri, C. Tonelli, and M. Levi. Barrier Properties in Hydrogenated Acrylonitrile Butadiene Rubber Compounds Containing Organoclays and Perfluoropolyether Additives, Journal of Applied Polymer Science, **119** (2011), 3476-3482.

[32]: W. Xie, Z. Gao, W.P. Pan, D. Hunter, A. Singh, and R. Vaia. Thermal Degradation Chemistry of Alkyl Quaternary Ammonium Montmorillonite. Chemistry of Materials, 13 (2001), 2979-2990.
[33]: D.S. Marynick, and D.A. Dixon. Electron affinity of the methyl radical: Structures of CH₃ and CH₃-, Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of American, 74

(1977), 410-413.

[34]: S. Pramanik, G. Das, and N. Karak. Facile preparation of polyaniline nanofibers modified bentonite nanohybrid for gas sensor application. The Royal Society of Chemistry, **3** (2013), 4574-4581.

[35]: K. Bukka, and J.D. Miller. FTIR study of deuterated montmorillonites: Wtructural features relevant to pillared clay stability, Clays and Clay Minerals, **40** (1992), 92-102.

[36]: R.T. Morrison, and R.N. Boyd. Organic Chemistry, 4th Edition, New York University, New York, 1983.

102

[37]: R. Orprecio, and C.H. Evans. Polymer-Immobilized Cyclodextrin Trapping of Model Organic
Pollutants in Flowing Water Streams, Journal of Applied Polymer Science, 90 (2003), 2103-2110.
[38]: S.S. Zumdahl. Chemistry, 5th Edition, Houghton Mifflin Harcourt, Boston, 1999.

[39]: H. He, L.R. Frost, and J. Zhu. Infrared study of HDTMA⁺ intercalated montmorillonite. Spectrochimica Acta Part A, **60** (2004), 2853-2859.

[40]: J. Coates. Interpretation of infrared spectra, a practical approach. Encyclopedia of Analytical Chemistry (2000), 10815–10837.

[41]: M. Huskic, M. Zigon, and M. Ivanković. Comparison of the properties of clay polymer nanocomposites prepared by montmorillonite modified by silane and by quaternary ammonium salts, Applied Clay Science, **85** (2013) 109–115.

[42]: C. Abbehausen, A.L.B. Formiga, E. Sabadini, and I.V.P. Yoshid. A- βcyclodextrin/siloxane hybrid polymer: synthesis, characterization and inclusion complexes. Journal of Brazilian Chemical Society, **21** (2010), 1867-1876.

[43]: K. Norrish. The Swelling of Montmorillonite, Division of Soils, C.S.I.R.O., Adelaide, Australia, 1954.

[44]: H.E. Rassy, and A.C. Pierre. NMR and IR spectroscopy of silica aerogels with different hydrophobic characteristics, Journal of Non-Crystalline Solids **351** (2005), 1603–1610.

[45]: M.C. Hermosin, and J. Cornejo. Methylation of Sepoilite and Palygorskite with Diazomethane, Clays and Clay Minerals, **34** (1986), 591-596.

[46]: R. Tian, O. Sitez, M. Li, W. Hu, Y.J. Chabal, and J. Gao. Infrared Characterization of Interfacial Si-O Bond Formation on Silanized Flat SiO2/Si Surfaces, Langmuir **26** (2010), 4563–4566.

[47]: Y. Wang, X. Wang, Y. Duan, Y. Liu, and S. Du. Modification of montmorillonite with Poly(oxypropylene) Amine hydrochlorides: Basal spacing, amount intercalated, and thermal stability. Clays and Clay Minerals, **59** (2011), 507-517.

Chapter 5

Tuning the curing behavior of fluoroelastomer by incorporation of nitrogen doped graphene nanoribbons^{*}

5.1. Presentation of the Article

In this chapter, we report synthesize of a novel nanofiller, namely graphene nanoribbon (GNR), from parent multiwalled carbon nanotubes (MWCNT). In addition, nitrogen doping and thermal reduction of the GNRs and MWCNTs were performed via chemical and thermal treatments. In the next step, the customized nanofillers, i.e. GNRs and MWCNTs, have been incorporated in fluoroelastomer (FKM) matrix through a solution mixing/melt mixing protocol. The surface chemistry of both nanofillers and nanocomposites are investigated through X-Ray Photoelectron Spectroscopy (XPS) and Fourier transform infrared spectroscopy (FTIR). The effect of both modified and non-modified GNR and MWCNT on the final properties and curing behavior of GNR/FKM and MWCNT/FKM nanocomposites are discussed. The main target was to tune the crosslinking density of GNR/FKM nanocomposites via surface modification of the nanofillers. Curing process, rheological and elastic behavior of the samples studied using differential scanning calorimetry (DSC) and rheometry. The main part of experiments in this work for production and characterization of the samples has been done by Maryam Khajehpour, Mr. S. Sadeghi helped with the rheology and results interpretation, Mr. A. Zehtab Yazdi helped with nanofiller synthesis and results interpretation, and Dr. U. Sundararaj has supervised the project.

^{*} Published in Polymer, 2014

Tuning the curing behavior of fluoroelastomer (FKM) by incorporation of nitrogen doped graphene nanoribbons (CNx-GNRs)

Maryam Khajehpour¹, Soheil Sadeghi¹, Alireza Zehtab Yazdi¹, Uttandaraman Sundararaj¹

1: Department of Chemical and Petroleum Engineering, University of Calgary, 2500 University Drive NW Calgary, AB, Canada, T2N 1N4

5.2. Abstract

Graphene nanoribbons (GNRs), obtained by different methods from carbon nanotubes (CNTs) or graphene, are attractive materials for polymer nanocomposites due to their considerably high interfacial area, as compared to CNTs. Consequently, a better adhesion with a polymer matrix is anticipated for GNRs. Also, surface modification of these nanofillers, such as nitrogen doping, is known to be an efficient method to improve their properties. In this work, fluoroelastomers (FKM) were used as the polymer matrix to host GNRs. Undoped and nitrogen doped GNRs (CNx-GNR) were synthesized from the parent multiwall carbon nanotubes (MWCNTs). MWCNT/FKM and GNR/FKM nanocomposites were prepared via a solution mixing/melt mixing protocol.

Adding nanofillers can affect the crosslinking density of crosslinked polymers, such as elastomers and rubbers. The effect of interfacial interaction between the functional groups on the surface of the GNR and FKM matrix have been studied in this project. Our results showed that the concentration and type of the surface functional groups were the main contributors in determining the cure behavior of the nanocomposites. While reduced CNx-GNR had a similar cure behavior as neat FKM, oxidized GNRs had relatively slower cure kinetics. These observations were found to be correlated with the presence of a hydroxyl functional group on the surface of oxidized GNRs (O-CNx-GNR).

5.3. Introduction

Fluoroelastomer (FKM) has been used in many industrial applications, such as gaskets, seals and O-rings, due to its unique combination of mechanical properties and excellent resistance to chemicals and heat [1-3]. End-use requirements usually dictate the type of fluoroelastomers, vulcanization system and the fillers to be used [4]. Vulcanization is the process through which individual linear polymer chains convert to a three dimensional cross-linked network [5]. The network structure significantly affects the elasticity and properties of rubbers; a homogenous three dimensional network leads to considerably higher ultimate properties [6]. Likewise, filler incorporation in the elastomeric compound can affect the vulcanization process, as well as the final properties [7].

For decades, silicas and carbon blacks have proven their capabilities in meeting a wide range of requirements in the rubber industry. Functional groups, introduced on the surface of fillers, are believed to induce differences in the cure behavior by changing both the cure reaction mechanism [8] and the cure reaction kinetics [9]. There is long-standing literature on cure enhancement by incorporation of carbon blacks in rubber compounds. The presence of functional groups, such as carboxyl, quinone, phenol and lactone groups, alongside other surface properties, was considered as the main reason behind improved effects. Filler surface properties, including total surface area,

porosity, surface roughness and surface activity, play major roles in determining final physical and mechanical properties of elastomeric compounds. Although filler surface activity is poorly defined, this term has been widely used in the filled polymer research area. Highly structured carbon blacks, with high surface activity, are known to have a significant effect on cure behavior and crosslink density. Adding silica-containing binding systems [10], graphitization and polymer grafting [11, 12] are some of the frequently used methods to alter the surface activity of carbon blacks. Carbon black halogenation has also been reported to have an appreciable effect on cure efficiency and final crosslink density [13]. Using inverse gas chromatography (IGC) measurements, it was demonstrated that the main contribution to the surface energy for studied commercial carbon black grades comes from a dispersive component [14-16]. The reinforcing effects, therefore, induced by the carbon black presence, is controlled by filler-rubber interactions, while the weak filler network has a minor effect.

To date, several attempts have been made to develop CNT reinforced-rubber nanocomposites [17] with enhanced properties for different applications. Although there has been considerable interest in carbon nanotubes (CNTs) as ideal fillers for the property enhancement of polymer nanocomposites [18-21], CNT dispersion state and interfacial adhesion between elastomeric composite components has remained problematic. For instance, poorly dispersed nanofillers hinders the reactive species mobility, resulting in a heterogeneous crosslink topology [22].

Recently, graphene nanoribbons (GNRs), one dimensional graphene based nanomaterials, were obtained from synthesis methods such as chemical vapor deposition (CVD) [23], lithographic patterning, plasma etching, oxidation of graphite, and unzipping CNTs [24-29]. Unzipping CNTs can be performed via different methods, including catalytic nanoparticles, electron beam, potassium vapor, and sodium/potassium intercalation [19, 22-24]. The longitudinal unzipping of MWCNTs,

through chemical oxidation in a mixture of acids, has been proven to produce a high yield of low defect GNRs [23, 30, and 31]. Generally, GNRs are attractive materials for polymer nanocomposites due to their higher interfacial area and, hence, their better adhesion with the polymer matrix and enhanced properties, as compared to CNTs [32].

Altering the carbon-based nanofillers' surface chemistry would be beneficial to enhance interfacial adhesion, by providing a strong interaction between the filler and the polymer matrix. For example, substituting carbon atoms with other atoms, as dopants, is known as an efficient method to improve the properties of CNT [24, 25, and 33]. Despite the importance of the subject, literature is scarce in reporting the effect of surface chemistry of the carbon-based nanofillers on the cure behavior of elastomeric nanocomposites. Few research works have reported the effect of CNT pretreatment on physico-mechanical properties of the final nanocomposite for other reactive systems, such as thermosetting resins, which can only be usable for comparative purposes. In an attempt to elucidate the cure behavior of chemically reduced graphene/natural rubber nanocomposite with a sulfur cure system [34], authors reported a pronounced acceleration effect at low loading of the nanofiller. Such an effect was completely suppressed at higher concentrations, which was interpreted to be a result of the hindered mobility of reactive species. In this work, undoped and CNx-GNR, synthesized from the parent multiwall carbon nanotubes (MWCNTs) via a chemical route, were used as nanofillers. FKM, a copolymer of vinylidene fluoride (VDF), hexafluoropropylene (HFP), and tetrafluoroethylene (TFE), was used as the polymer host. MWCNTs and GNRs, with and without nitrogen doping, were incorporated as fillers in the FKM matrix and the curing behavior of the nanocomposites was investigated. To the best of our knowledge, this is the first report on GNR/FKM nanocomposites.

5.4. Experimental

5.4.1. Materials

In-house synthesized undoped and nitrogen doped MWCNTs (CNx-MWCNT) were produced in our laboratory through catalytic carbon vapor deposition (CCVD) process [18]. The undoped MWCNTs have an average diameter of 25 nm and a length of 3.7 µm. The CNx-MWCNTs have a bamboo structure with an average diameter of 45 nm, a length of 2.5 µm and nitrogen doping of 2.31%. Undoped and CNx-GNR were synthesized from the parent multiwall carbon nanotubes (MWCNTs) via a chemical route [31], based on the developed protocol proposed by Tour's group [30]. In this method [31], 150 mg of MWCNTs was stirred in 36 ml H₂SO₄ for 1 h. Then 4 ml of the second acid, H₃PO₄ or Trifluoroacetic acid (TFA), was added to the mixture and stirred for 15 min; 750 mg KMnO₄ was slowly added to the mixture and stirred for 1 h at room temperature, followed by another 2 h stirring at 65 °C. Finally, the product was rinsed with 20% HCl and diethyl ether, then vacuum filtered to obtain GNR flakes. The undoped GNR and CNx-GNR, with about 1.75 wt% of nitrogen, were produced from the original undoped and CNx-MWCNT, respectively. The reduced GNR, with a high 8.45 wt% of nitrogen, was synthesized from the CNx-GNR through a thermal reduction of CNx-GNR. The thermal reduction process was performed at 500 °C, using NH₃ gas. Viton[®] fluoroelastomer, grade GF-200S, was supplied by Dupont. Triallyl Isocyanurate (TAIC), ZnO, and 2.5-dimethyl-2.5-di(t-butylperoxy)hexane were obtained from Cray valley, U.S.ZINC, and VAROX[®] respectively, for the curing process. Methyl Ethyl Ketone (MEK) was purchased from VWR.

5.4.2. Method

5.4.2.1. Nanocomposites preparation

GNR/FKM and MWCNT/FKM nanocomposites were produced using a solution mixing/melt mixing protocol. First, FKM was dissolved in MEK; the MWCNTs and GNRs were separately dispersed in MEK via ultrasonication in a bath sonicator for 30 min. The filler solution, either MWCNT or GNR, was added to the FKM solution, drop wise, while using probe sonication (Hielscher UP200S ultrasonic processor) with 50% amplitude and 50 pulse cycles for 15 minutes. The curing agents, TAIC (2 phr), ZnO (3 phr), and 2,5-dimethyl-2.5-di(t-butylperoxy) hexane (2 phr), were added to the composite solution and the mixture was homogenized by using an IKA T10 homogenizer, at 10,000 rpm, for 10 minutes. The solution was dried for 24 hours, under the fume hood, at room temperature and annealed in the vacuum oven at 60 °C for 6 hours. The last step was melt-mixing using an Alberta Polymer Asymmetric Minimixer (APAM), a specialized 2 mL miniature mixer developed in our research group in 2004 [29]. Melt compounding was performed at 120 °C, with the rotor speed of 50 rpm for 5 minutes.

5.4.2.2. Characterization

The vulcanization and rheological behavior of MWCNT/FKM and GNR/FKM was studied using a MCR 302 Anton Paar rheometer. All measurements were performed using parallel plate geometry, with a diameter equal to 25 mm. Samples for rheometry were pre-molded at 100 °C and 5000 psia for 10 minutes; they had a thickness of 0.9±0.05 mm after unmolding and being cooled to room temperature. The non-isothermal curing behavior of composites was monitored by temperature

sweeps from 90 °C to 250 °C, in a linear viscoelastic regime with a heating rate of 0.5 K/min. High resolution transmission electron microscopy (HRTEM) analysis was carried out on the ultramicrotomed sample sections using a Tecnai TF20 G2 FEG-TEM (FEI, Hillsboro, Oregon, USA), at a 200 kV acceleration voltage with the standard single-tilt holder. The images were captured on a Gatan UltraScan 4000 CCD camera (Gatan, Pleasanton, California, USA) at 2048x2048 pixels. Differential scanning calorimetry (DSC) was conducted via a Q-500 TA instrument, with a heating rate of 10 K/min from -50 to 250 °C. Glass transition temperature measurements were also performed upon heating, before and after the cure process. X-Ray Photoelectron Spectroscopy (XPS) were conducted via a Physical Electronics PHI VersaProbe 5000-XPS to determine the elemental composition of the nanofillers. A 200.0 µm diameter beam from a monochromatic aluminum source, at 1486.6 eV and 49.3W, was used for spectra. The double neutralization beam consisted of a low energy electron beam and a low energy Ar+; the chamber analysis pressure was 2.0×10^{-7} Pa during spectra acquisition. Samples were pressed on indium foil and, for each of the samples, a high sensitivity mode spectrum was taken with a wide binding energy range of 0–1350 eV. Then, a narrower binding energy window, with a pass energy of 23.50 eV, was used to gather high energy resolution spectra to determine the chemical environment of the elements. The binding energies were reported relative to C1s at 284.8 eV.

5.5. Results and discussion

5.5.1. TEM images

HRTEM images in Figure 5.1 depict the successful unzipping process that occurred through the chemical treatment of MWCNTs to produce GNRs. Images 5.1(a) and 5.1(b) show undoped

MWCNT before and after oxidation, respectively. Here, a longitudinal unzipping mechanism can be easily realized. CNx-MWCNTs with bamboo structures (Figure 5.1(c)), however, are observed to be unzipped via a helical mechanism, as shown in Figure 5.1(d).



Figure 5.1. TEM images of (a) undoped MWCNT before unzipping, (b) undoped MWCNT after unzipping, (c) N-doped bamboo structure MWCNT before unzipping and (d) after unzipping [31].

Both the geometrical complexities of bamboo compartments and chemical doping of nitrogen species within the sp² graphitic network may be responsible for these substantially different mechanisms. MWCNTs and GNRs were then compounded with FKM. According to TEM images for the GNR/FKM and MWCNT/FKM nanocomposites (Figure 5.2), well-dispersed GNRs were observed in the FKM matrix and a considerably less aggregated structure was obtained for GNR particles relative to MWCNTs.



Figure 5.2. TEM images of (a) CNx-MWCNT /FKM and (b) O-CNx-GNR/FKM nanocomposites after curing.

5.5.2. Surface Chemistry of Nanoparticles

To study the oxygen and nitrogen surface functionalities, all samples were analyzed by XPS. The high resolution C1s spectra of original CNx-MWCNTs, CNx-GONRs and CNx-GNRs are given in Figure 5.3(a). The deconvolution of C1s peaks, based on a Lorentz-Gauss algorithm, indicates that the oxygen functional species exists predominantly in the form of hydroxyl (C—OH, 286.2-286.5 eV) and/or epoxy (C—O, 286.7-287.0 eV) groups. A few of them are carbonyl (C=O, 287.6-

287.8 eV) and carboxyl (O=C—OH, 288.8-289.1 eV) groups. Note that all spectra is calibrated with a binding energy of 284.8 eV for C—C bond.



(b)

Figure 5.3. C1s XPS spectra for (a) CNx-MWCNTs, oxidized, reduced, and (b) Un-MWCNTs, oxidized, reduced

According to the generally accepted Lerf-Klinowski model for graphene oxides, hydroxyl and epoxy groups predominately attached to the graphene basal plane, while carbonyl and carboxyl groups located presumably at the edges [35]. Figure 5.3(b) also displays the C1s XPS spectra of Un-MWCNTs after oxidation with a second acid. This figure clearly demonstrates the formation of larger amounts of epoxy and hydroxyl groups inside the graphene basal plane, rather than carbonyl and carboxyl groups on the edges of OGNRs. After reduction in ammonia, the peaks associated with the oxygen functional groups almost disappeared.

Figure 5.4 also shows the high resolution N1s spectra of CNx-MWCNTs samples after oxidation and reduction. Based on the deconvoluted peaks of CNx-MWCNTs (Figure 5.4(a)), nitrogen may incorporate into the hexagonal carbon structure in four main configurations: pyridinic (398.3–399.8 eV), pyrrolic (400.1–400.5 eV), quaternary (401.0–401.4 eV) and intercalated nitrogen molecules (404.0–405.6 eV) [18]. The removal of nitrogen molecules trapped inside the nanotube structure after oxidation could be an indication of successful unzipping, thus creating more edges in the structure (Figure 5.4(b)). Reduction of the same sample in ammonia not only removed most of the oxygen functional groups, but also simultaneously, nitrogen doped the sp² carbon structure (Figure 5.4(c)). In this case, most of the nitrogen species are characterized as pyridinic groups. The presence of more edges in the faceted structure of unzipped samples may increase the overall nitrogen content, peak intensity and, thus, the amount of pyridinic groups. The ratios and percentages of the functional groups of GNRs, obtained from XPS spectra analysis, are summarized in Table 5.1.



(c)

Figure 5.4. N1s XPS spectra for (a) N-MWCNT, (b) after oxidation, and (c) after reduction

Filler	C/O ratio	N%	N functional groups	O functional groups	%
		0	-	COOH, Carboxyl	5
				C=O, Carbonyl	12
Undoped oxidized GNR	1.35			C-O, Epoxy	20
				C-OH, Hydroxyl	15
				C-C, C=C	49
	1.93	1.75	Quaternary (70%) Pyrrolic (10%) Pyridinic (20%)	COOH, Carboxyl	4
N-doped oxidized GNR (CNx-GNR)				C=O, Carbonyl	7
				C-O, Epoxy	12
				C-OH, Hydroxyl	6
				C-C, C=C	72
	7.5	8.45	NOx (10%) Quaternary (20%) Pyrrolic (30%) Pyridinic (40%)	COOH, Carboxyl	0
				C=O, Carbonyl	0
N-doped reduced GNR (R- CNx-GNR)				C-O, Epoxy	5
				C-OH, Hydroxyl	0
				C-C, C=C	95

Table 5.1. Functional groups for the nanofillers (XPS results)

5.5.3. DSC

Numerous research works [30] reported deviation in the glass transition temperature (T_g) of polymer nanocomposites from that of the pure polymer matrix. In a simplified overview, this behavior is thought to be associated with interfacial surface energy which controls the polymer chain mobility in the interphase region. In other words, at the same dispersion state, the polymer chain dynamic, in the interfacial region, is determined by the interaction between the matrix and the nanoparticle surface. It was observed that the nanocomposite T_g shifted to either higher or lower temperatures due to attractive/ non-attractive interactions in the interfacial region [36].

Table 5.2 summarizes the T_g for different uncured nanocomposite samples, with different fillers and filler loadings. All samples exhibited an increase in T_g , with respect to the FKM matrix. This implies the existence of hindered dynamics in the interfacial region. The C_p step at T_g remained almost unchanged among all samples.

	∆Cp (J/g.°C) ^a				T _g (°C)			
Filler wt. %	Undoped MWCNT	CNx- MWCNT	Undoped GNR	CNx- GNR	Undoped MWCNT	CNx- MWCNT	Undoped GNR	CNx- GNR
0	0.1882	0.1882	0.1882	0.1882	-22.46	-22.46	-22.46	-22.46
0.1	0.1864	0.141	0.1259	0.1677	-11.94	-14.63	-11.12	-9.72
0.2	0.164	0.1796	0.1477	0.1696	-13.57	-14.25	-10.28	-11.24
0.5	0.0977	0.2741	0.1845	0.1313	-9.9	-14.3	-11.45	-10.5
0.7	0.1097	0.1522	0.1174	0.1375	-10.2	-13.46	-11.2	-12.28
1	0.1277	0.1758	0.267	0.1461	-11.5	-12.18	-12.7	-11.34

Table 5.2. ΔCp and T_g for uncured compounds measured upon heating with the rate of 10 K/min

a: ΔC_p values are normalized with respect to the polymer content.

The T_g always shifted to higher temperatures upon the cure reaction [37]. This well-known trend can possibly be explained in terms of additional stiffness arising from the crosslinks. The increase in T_g upon cure reaction, ΔT_g , is plotted as a function of filler loading in Figure 5.5. Different values for ΔT_g for different nanocomposite samples may be a consequence of differences in segmental dynamics caused by topological differences in the cured rubber network. The highest ΔT_g was observed for N-doped CNT samples. This can be considered as an indication for relatively higher crosslink density achieved in these samples. GNR and undoped CNT samples had apparently smaller ΔT_g , probably as a result of lower crosslink density. These observations can be attributed to the dominance of side reactions of the cure process in GNR samples. The dominance of side reactions could lead to networks with a lower density of crosslinks and higher content of non-elastic defects [38, 39]. Under such circumstances, the spatial distribution of crosslink density should be highly inhomogeneous down to very local scales.



Figure 5.5. ΔT_g over curing reaction as a function of filler loading for N-doped MWCNT/FKM, undoped MWCNT/FKM, CNx-GNR/FKM, and undoped GNR/FKM nanocomposites

To provide further evidence of the crosslinking process, non-isothermal DSC experiments were performed. Figure 5.6 depicts non-isothermal DSC thermograms of FKM gum and nanocomposite samples. The observed exothermic peak broadened as the filler concentration was increased for both un-doped and CNx-GNR/ FKM samples. This exothermic peak corresponds to crosslink formation and cure process side reactions [40]. The heat produced by the cure reaction also had a descending trend as a function of filler concentration. It is also noticeable that un-doped oxidized GNR had a relatively more deleterious effect. This is mostly the effect of GNRs; such behavior was not observed for CNT nanocomposite samples (Figure 5.6(a)). This can be a result of higher crosslinking efficiency achieved in CNT nanocomposite samples.



Figure 5.6. DCS results for curing process heat flow for; (a) 0.5 wt% filler/FKM nanocomposites (fillers: CNx-doped MWCNT, undoped MWCNT, CNx-doped GNR, and undoped GNR/FKM) (b) different loadings of CNx-GNR/FKM nanocomposites, and (c) different loadings of undoped GNR/FKM nanocomposites

For highly complex reactions of curing, it is well-known that side reactions may interfere with the crosslinking process by either peroxide consumption in a non-productive manner or chain scission. Considering the surface chemistry of GNRs, one possible side reaction - consuming peroxide in a non-productive way - would be between the hydroxyl group on the surface of GNRs and the organic peroxide (see Table 5.1).

According to XPS data, more hydroxyl groups exist on the surface of un-doped OGNR as compared to the nitrogen-doped O-CNx-GNR. This would explain the less harmful effect observed for O-CNx-GNR. It is also previously reported that acidic fillers may adversely affect the peroxide efficiency in the crosslinking process due to acid-catalyzed decomposition of the peroxide [8, 9]. In the next section, our observation of side reactions, found through spectroscopic techniques, will be discussed extensively. To summarize the hypothesis: we may conclude that by having more hydroxyl groups, we anticipate more harmful effects for curing reactions induced by the presence of oxidized GNRs.

5.5.4. Fourier transform infrared spectroscopy (FTIR) and reactions

Several cure process side-reactions can be assumed for different GNRs with different functionalities. First, peroxide is decomposed to primary alkoxy radicals (Reaction 1), which are necessary to initiate further reactions, including curing or other side reactions. The next step for oxidized un-doped GNRs, might be a reaction between the free radicals and oxygen functional groups on the GNR surface (Reaction 2). The hydroxyl and carboxyl groups, especially the phenolic hydroxyl groups, in the presence of a high temperature and using ZnO as a catalyst, will react and
produce Ketone groups and H₂O. The possible reactions for the CNx-GNR occurred between Pyridinic or Pyrrolic nitrogen atoms, substituted for carbon atoms, in the graphene structure. In the presence of heat and residual acids from the unzipping process, some nitrogen-oxygen bonds will be created, resulting in different N-O or N=O bondings with different energies.



Based on the FTIR results for the different GNRs/FKM nanocomposites (Figure 5.7(a) and 5.7(b)), we analyzed the chemical bonds before and after the curing reaction for different fillers/FKM nanocomposites. The association/dissociation of chemical bonds validates the reactions between GNRs' surface functional groups and the peroxide. The peaks at 1130 and 1190 cm⁻¹ correspond to C-F bonds. No noticeable change is seen in the intensity of these peaks, before and after the curing reaction for neat FKM and R-CNx-GNR/FKM composites, appears.



Figure 5.7. FTIR results for FKM and GNR/FKM nanocomposites (a) 800 to 1800 cm⁻¹, and (b) 2800 to 3000 cm⁻¹

We did observe a decrease in the intensity of peaks at 1190 cm⁻¹ for undoped OGNR/FKM and O-CNx-GNR/FKM, which can be a consequence of side reactions rather than crosslinking, resulting in a decrease of the relative amount of C-F. Moreover, two peaks, at 1540 and 1580 cm⁻¹ for N-GNR/FK, are attributed to the N-O and C=C bonds, respectively. The association of the N-O bond may be due to the reaction of nitrogen on the GNR surface during the curing process. The peak at 1580 may be the consequence of the dissociation of C=N (peak at 1690 cm⁻¹) and the production of some C=C bonds. Peaks at 2850 cm⁻¹ and 2920 cm⁻¹(Figure 5.7(b)), correspond to C-H and O-H groups, which were unchanged for neat FKM and R-GNR/FKM. For undoped GNR/FKM, a small increase in the intensity of these peaks can be observed; for N-GNR/FKM, a big increase is apparent. Having more hydroxyl groups on the surface of the un-doped oxidized GNRs, compared to CNx-GNRs, the difference in the intensity of peaks related to O-H groups, before and after curing, is less visible for the former samples. This is due to the overlap of broad peaks which correspond to different O-H groups. Generally, peaks in the range of at 2500-3500 cm⁻¹ can be related to different types of O-H.

5.5.5. Rheology

Rheological measurements can provide valuable information about the cured rubber network structure and kinetics of crosslink formation [41]. Small amplitude oscillatory time/ temperature sweep can be performed to monitor the cure process [42]. The increase in sample elasticity, as a result of the curing process, can be used as a quantitative assessment of the crosslink density and organic peroxide efficiency [43]. Contrary to DSC, rheology is only affected by the formation of crosslinks contributing elastically to the cured rubber network and not by non-elastic defects (loops, isolated chains and dangling chains) [40]. Consequently, compared to other techniques like DSC

and solvent extraction, rheology is minimally impacted by cure process side reactions [43]. Figure 5.8 shows the frequency dependence of elastic modulus for uncured rubber compounds. It is observed that the CNx-doped MWCNT sample exhibited higher elasticity in the terminal region as compared to other nanocmposite samples. This can be attributed to the relatively stronger filler network formed in this sample, resulting in a higher terminal elasticity compared to OGNR/ FKM nanocomposites.



Figure 5.8. Frequency dependence of elastic modulus for uncured MWCNT/FKM and GNR/FKM compounds before curing at 90 °C

Figure 5.9 shows the elastic modulus of FKM gum and nanocomposite samples as a function of temperature. Different features are distinguishable on the curing curve. Based on these results, it is possible to determine the gel point temperature (G'-G" cross over which is not shown here): the point at which a percolating three-dimensional gelled network structure is forming. Based on the definition, the gel point of a crosslinking polymer coincides with a G'-G" crossover only if the loss and storage modulus are equal over the whole spectrum of frequencies and follow the power law correlation defined by G'~G"~ $\omega^{\frac{1}{2}}$.



Figure 5.9. Temperature evolution of elastic modulus for (a) un-doped oxidized GNR, (b) oxidized CNx-GNR, (c) undoped MWCNT and (d) CNx- MWCNT nancomposite samples for different concentrations

The other observed region is the substantial increase in elasticity (stiffness) due to the increase in the three dimensional network density as a result of the continued crosslinking process. As the curing process reaches its final stages, a high temperature plateau-like region is observed; however, an equilibrium value is not observable. No over-curing reversion was observed for temperatures as high as 200 °C. Based on the results presented in Figure 5.9, slower cure kinetics, and also smaller final elasticity, were observed for oxidized GNR nanocomposite samples. A critical concentration, at which the hindrance effect of un-doped OGNR presence on crosslinking process becomes dominant, is distinguishable and an almost uncured state was reached at 2 wt% loading of undoped OGNR. For O-CNx-GNR nanocomposite, the deleterious effect was less significant. These findings are in good agreement with non-isothermal DSC results and cured rubber glass transition temperature measurements. One may suggest that by incorporating oxidized GNRs, it is possible to limit organic peroxide efficiency and control the final topology of the cured rubber network. It can be hypothesized that these observations are correlated to oxidized GNR surface functional groups, which could either change the mechanism of the curing process or consume the organic peroxide in a non-productive manner.

In Table 5.3, cure behavior parameters of the FKM gum and nanocomposites are given. Both the gel point temperature and maximum cure temperature (T_{max} is the temperature at which $\left(\frac{\partial^2 G'}{\partial T^2}\right) =$ 0) are both shifted to higher temperatures for nanocomposite samples, as compared to FKM gum. The delayed gelation process for nanocomposite samples can be partly because of the hindered mobility of the reactive species as a result of the increase in viscosity in presence of nanofillers. However, the huge decrease in maximum cure rate, $\left(\left(\frac{\partial G'}{\partial T}\right)_{T=T_{max}}\right)$, for higher concentrations of oxidized GNR/ FKM nanocomposites can be explained only in conjunction with the so-called hindered mobility. This would substantiate the hypothesis of the existence of a side reaction interfering with the crosslinking process in oxidized GNR/ FKM nanocomposites. The difference between the final elasticity G'_{∞} and minimum elasticity G'_0 revealed a descending trend for the oxidized GNR samples. This indicates the lower crosslink density and organic peroxide efficiency achieved in these samples.

Sample	Filler loading (wt %)	Gel point temperature (°C)	T _{max} (°C)	G'∞-G'₀ (kPa)	$\left(\frac{\partial G'}{\partial T}\right)_{T=T_{max}}$ (kPa.°C ⁻¹)
FKM rubber	0	112.1	138.0	1972	63.3
CNx-GNR/FKM	$0.1 \\ 0.2 \\ 0.5 \\ 0.7 \\ 1 \\ 2$	114.4 116.7 117.8 118.9 121.1 115.5	145.2 134.9 148.6 146.3 155.5 150.9	1713 1773 1583 1528 568 52	91.1 59.0 90.6 53.3 24.4 1.8
undoped GNR/FKM	$0.1 \\ 0.2 \\ 0.5 \\ 0.7 \\ 1 \\ 2$	114.0 117.6 118.7 121.2 123.5 120.1	145.2 134.9 148.6 146.3 155.7 153.2	1871 1855 1913 1164 548	75.0 32.5 59.1 44.5 16.3
CNx-MWCNT/FKM	0.1 0.2 0.7 1 3	115.0 115.5 114.4 117.8 121.5	140. 6 142.9 140.6 145.2 150.9	1968 1975 1980 1994 2688	71.0 70.0 72.1 75.1 140
undoped MWCNT/FKM	0.1 0.2 0.5 1	118.9 116.7 117.8 121.0	142.9 141.8 140.6 146.3	1699 2111 1942 1599	68.8 90.0 92.7 78.8

Table 5.3. Cure behavior of FKM rubber compounds with different loading of the filler

From a theoretical point of view, the final elasticity is supposed to be a direct function of the number of elastic crosslinks and trapped entanglements. Obviously, the formation of non-elastic defects would not be desirable and have no contribution to the cured rubber elastic network. As

mentioned earlier, the dominance of side reactions could lead to networks with a lower density of crosslinks and higher content of non-elastic defects [43].

Figure 5.10 compares the cure behavior of the nanocomposite based on thermally reduced CNx-GNR with those of the oxidized GNRs at a fixed concentration of 2 wt%. FKM gum results were also included for comparison. As observed, reduced graphene nanoribbons had relatively no harmful effect on the cure behavior of FKM rubber. The efficiency of organic peroxide, in the FKM/ reduced GNR nanocomposite, is comparable with FKM gum.



Figure 5.10. Temperature dependence of (a) elastic modulus and (b) damping factor for FKM gum and different GNR nanocomposites

The presence of the nanofiller slightly retarded the crosslinking process. This latter observation provides further evidence for the validity of our hypothesis, which considers oxygen surface functional groups as the main reason for the suppressed crosslinking process in concentrated GNR/ FKM nanocomposites.

Figure 5.11 depicts the frequency dependence of the elastic modulus for different cured GNR nanocomposites. These samples underwent the same thermal protocol as the samples in Figure 5.10 and their elastic modulus has been captured as a function of frequency at 250°C. The result for reduced GNR nanocomposite corresponds to a polymer gel far above the gel point, with solid-like behavior. Such behavior, however, is not observed for the oxidized GNR samples, which is in good agreement with our previous observations.



Figure 5.11. Frequency dependence of elastic modulus for cured CNR nanocomposite samples and uncured FKM, with no curative, at 250°C

5.6. Conclusion

Nitrogen doped and undoped GNRs were successfully obtained through chemical unzipping the parent MWCNTs. Then, FKM/GNR and FKM/MWCNT nanocomposites were prepared using a solution-mixing/melt-mixing protocol. The effect of MWCNT, CNx-GNR and un-doped GNR,

incorporated into FKM on the curing behavior, was studied. The importance of accounting for the effect of surface functional groups on the cure behavior of oxidized GNR/FKM nanocomposites is validated, based on the results of this work. Linear viscoelasticity, in conjunction with DSC, shows that oxygen functional groups on the GNR surface can significantly interfere with a C-C covalent bond formation; hence, an almost uncured state was achieved for concentrated samples. Conventional spectroscopy results further revealed the signature for potential side reactions explaining this behavior. The thermal reduction technique was able to efficiently suppress this deleterious effect and a similar cure behavior as FKM gum was observed for the reduced GNR/FKM samples.

5.7. References

[1]: S. Mitra, A. Ghanbari-Siahkali, P. Kingshott, K. Almdal, H.K. Rehmeier, and A.G. Christensen. Chemical degradation of fluoroelastomer in an alkaline environment, Polymer Degradation and Stability, **83** (2004) 195–206.

[2]: S. Lakshminarayanan, B. Lin, G.A. Gelves, and U. Sundararaj. Effect of Clay Surfactant Type and Clay Content on the Rheology and Morphology of Uncured Fluoroelastomer/Clay Nanocomposites Prepared by Melt-Mixing, Journal of Applied Polymer Science, **112** (2009), 3597–3604.

[3]: D. L. Hertz. Evaluating thermal stability of fluoroelastomers via strain energy density, Sealing Technology, **9** (2005), 5-9.

[4]: B. Ameduri, B. Boutevin, and G. Kostiv. Fluoroelastomers: synthesis, properties and applications, Progress in Polymer Science, **26** (2001) 105-187.

[5]: A. J. Etzel, S. J. Goldstein, H. J. Panabaker, D. G. Fradkin, and L. H. Sperling. Molecular and Mechanical Behavior of Elastomers, Journal of Chemical Education, **63** (1986), 731-732.

[6]: H. Dohi, S. Horiuchi. Heterogeneity of a vulcanized rubber by the formation of ZnS clusters, Polymer, **48** (2007), 2526-2530.

[7]: S. Wolff. Chemical Aspects of Rubber Reinforcement by Fillers, Rubber Chemistry and Technology, **68**, 3 (1996).

[8]: P. R. Dluzneski. Peroxide vulcanization of elastomers, Rubber Chemistry and Technology, 74(2001) 451-492.

[9]: J. Class. A review of the fundamentals of crosslinking with peroxides, Rubber World **220**, 5 (1999) 35-39.

[10]: V.G. Geethamma, M.K. Thomas, R. Lakshminarayanan, and S. Thomas. Composites of Short Coir fiber and Natural Rubber: Effect of Chemical Modification, Loading and Orientation of Fiber, Polymer, **39** (1998), 1483–1491.

[11]: J. Liang, N. Feng, S. Chang, C. Xinhong Wang, and G. Zhang. Effect of Polysulfane Silanized Silica on the Morphology and Mechanical Properties of Brombutyl Rubber Vulcanizates, Rubber Chemistry and Technology. **86**, 4 (2013), 558-571.

[12]: J. Fröhlich, W. Niedermeier, and H.-D. Luginsland. The effect of filler–filler and filler– elastomer interaction on rubber reinforcement, Composites: Part A, **36** (2005), 449–460.

[13]: E. M. Dannenberg. The Effects of Surface Chemical Interactions on the Properties of Filler-Reinforced Rubbers, Rubber Chemistry and Technology, 48, 3 (1975), 410-444.

[14]: H. Darmstadt, C. Roy, S. Kaliaguine, and H. Cormier. Surface Energy of Commercial and Pyrolytic Carbon Blacks by Inverse Gas Chromatography, Rubber Chemistry and Technology, **70** (1997), 759-768.

[15]: H. Darmstadt, N.Z. Cao, D.M. Pantea, C. Roy, L. Sümmchen, U. Roland, J.B. Donnet, T.K. Wang, C.H. Peng, and P. J. Donnelly. Rubber Chemistry and Technology, **73** (2000), 293-309.
[16]: M.J. Wang, S. Wolff, J.B. Donnet. Filler—Elastomer Interactions. Part III. Carbon-Black-Surface Energies and Interactions with Elastomer Analogs, Rubber Chemistry and Technology, **64** (1991), 714-736.

[17]: L. Bokobza. Multiwall carbon nanotube elastomeric composites: A review, Polymer, 48, 17(2007) 4907-4920.

[18]: K. Chizari and U. Sundararaj. The effects of catalyst on the morphology and physicochemical properties of nitrogen-doped carbon nanotubes, Materials Letters **116** (2014), 289–292.

[19]: D.R. Paul, L.M. Robeson, Polymer nanotechnology: Nanocomposites, Polymer, 49 (2008), 3187–3204.

[20]: A. Fletcher and M. C. Gupta. Mechanical properties of elastomer nanocomposites for electromagnetic interference shielding applications, Journal of Composite Materials, 0(0) (2013), 1–16.

[21]: Y. Wang, S. ZiXing, and Y. Jie. Unzipped Multiwalled Carbon Nanotubes for Mechanical Reinforcement of Polymer Composites, Journal of Physical Chemistry C, **114** (2010), 19621–19628.
[22]: M. Abdalla, D. Dean, P. Robinson, and E. Nyairo. Cure Behavior of epoxy/MWCNT nanocomposites: The effect of nanotube surface modification, Polymer, **49** (2008), 3310-3317.

[23]: L. Ma, J. Wang, and F. Ding. Recent Progress and Challenges in Graphene Nanoribbon Synthesis. Journal of Chemical Physics and Physical Chemistry, **14** (2013), 47–54.

[24]: L. Elias, A.R. Botello-Méndez , D. Meneses-Rodríguez, V.J. González, D. Ramírez-González,

L. Ci, E. Muñoz-Sandoval, P.M. Ajayan ,H. Terrones, and M. Terrones. Longitudinal Cutting of Pure and Doped Carbon Nanotubes to Form Graphitic Nanoribbons Using Metal Clusters as Nanoscalpels. Nano Letters, **10** (2010), 366-372.

[25]: R. Cruz-Silva, A.M. Gómez, S. Vega-Díaz, F. Tristán-López, A.L. Elias, N. Perea-López, H. Muramatsu, T. Hayashi, K. Fujisawa, Y.A. Kim, M. Endo, and M. Terrones Formation of Nitrogen-Doped Graphene Nanoribbons via Chemical Unzipping. ACS Nano, 7 (2013), 2192-2204.

[26]: M. Terrones, A.R. Botello-Méndez, J. Campos-Delgado, F. López-Urías, Y.I. Vega-Cantú, F.J. Rodríguez-Macías, A.L. Elías, E. Muñoz-Sandoval, A.G. Cano-Márquez, J.C. Charlier, and H. Terrones. Graphene and graphite nanoribbons: Morphology, properties, synthesis, defects and applications. Nano Today, **5** (2010), 351-372. [27]: K. Kim, A. Sussman, and A. Zett1. Graphene Nanoribbons Obtained by Electrically Unwrapping Carbon Nanotubes, ASC Nano, **4** (2010), 1362-1366.

[28]: D.V. Kosynkin, W. Lu, A. Sinitskii, G. Pera, Z. Sun, and J. M. Tour, Highly Conductive Graphene Nanoribbons by Longitudinal Splitting of Carbon Nanotubes Using Potassium Vapor, ACS Nano, **5** (2011), 968-974.

[29]: B. Genorio, W. Lu, A. M. Dimiev, Y. Zhu, A.R.O. Raji, B. Novosel, L. B. Alemany, and J. M. Tour. In Situ Intercalation Replacement and Selective Functionalization of Graphene Nanoribbon Stacks, ACS Nano, 6 (2012), 4231-4240.

[30] A.L. Higginbotham, D.V. Kosynkin, A. Sinitskii, Z. Sun, and J. M. Tour, Lower-Defect Graphene Oxide Nanoribbons from Multiwalled Carbon Nanotubes, ASC Nano, **4** (2010), 2059-2069.

[31]: A Z. Yazdi, K. Chizari, and U. Sundararaj, Nitrogen Doping of Helically Unzipped Bamboo Structured Multiwalled Carbon Nanotubes, under submission, 2014.

[32]: M. A. Rafiee, W. Lu, and A.V. Thomas, A. Zandiatashbar, J. Rafiee, J. M. Tour, and N.A. Koratkar. Graphene Nanoriboon Composites, ASC Nano, **4** (2010), 7415-7420.

[33]: P. Avouris. Graphene: electronic and photonic properties and devices. Nano Letters, **10** (2010),4285–94.

[34]: J. Wu, W. Xing, G. Huang, H. Li, M. Tang, S. Wu, and Y. Liu, Vulcanization kinetics of graphene/ natural rubber nanocomposites, Polymer, **54** (2013), 3314-3323.

[35]: S. Stankovich, D.A. Dikin, R.D. Piner, K.A. Kohlhaas, A. Kleinhammes, Y. Jia, Y, Wu, S. Nquyen, and R.S. Ruoff. Synthesis of graphene-based nanosheets via chemical reduction of exfoliated graphite oxide, Carbon **45** (2007) 1558–1565.

[36]: B. Natarajan, Y. Li, H. Deng, L. C. Brinson, and L. S. Schadler. Thermomechanical properties of bimodal brush modified nanoparticle composites, Macromolecules, **46** (2013), 2833–2841.

[37]: A. Shefer and M. Gottlieb. Effect of crosslinks on the glass transition temperature of end-linked elastomers, Macromolecules, **25** (1992), 4036–4042.

[38]: J. L. Valentin, P. Posadas, A. Fernandez-Torres, M. A. Malmierca, L. Gonzalez, W. Chasse, and K. Saalwachter. Inhomogeneities and Chain Dynamics in Diene Rubbers Vulcanized with Different Cure System, Macromolecules, **43** (2010), 4210–4222.

[39]: R. A. Orza, P. C. M. M. Magusin, V. M. Litvinov, M. van Duin, and M. A. J. Michels, Solidstate 1H NMR study on chemical cross-links, chain entanglements, and network heterogeneity in peroxide-cured EPDM rubbers, Macromolecules **40** (2007), 8999-9008.

[40]: R. Ding and A.I. Leonov, A kinetic model for sulfur accelerated vulcanization of a natural rubber compound, Journal of Applied Polymer Science, **61** (1996) 455-463.

[41]: S. Mani, P. Cassagnau, <u>M. Bousmina</u>, and P. Chaumont. Cross-Linking Control of PDMS Rubber at High Temperatures Using TEMPO Nitroxide. *Macromolecules*, 42 (2009) 8460–8467.

[42]: D. Pearson and W.W. Graessley. The Structure of Rubber Networks with Multifunctional Junctions, Macromolecules, **11** (1978), 528–533.

[43]: F. J. Stadler. Quantifying primary loops in polymer gels by linear viscoelasticity, Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America (PNAS), **110** (22) (2013), E1972.

Chapter 6

Dielectric Properties of Multi-Walled Carbon Nanotube (MWCNT)/Clay/Polyvinylidene fluoride (PVDF) Nanocomposites: Effect of Clay Incorporation^{*}

6.1. Presentation of the Article

In this article we investigate the effect of utilizing hybrid fillers in tuning dielectric properties of poly vinylidene fluoride (PVDF) for charge storage applications. PVDF were chosen as the matrix due to its piezoelectric properties. The main nanofiller, as for most of the electrical applications of polymer nanocomposites, was multi wall carbon nanotube (MWCNT) and the secondary filler was nanoclay. Hybrid nanocomposites of MWCNT/nanoclay/ PVDF were successfully produced through melt-mixing process with a range of MWCNT concentration (0.1 to 1.0 wt%) and different clay loadings (1.0 and 3.0 wt.%). For the specific application of charge storage, these materials need to have high dielectric permittivity and low dielectric loss. Based on the results presented, this goal could be accomplished at an optimum level of clay and MWCNT loadings. The main part of this work has been done by Maryam Khajehpour, Dr. Sundarararj has supervised the work, and Dr. Arjmand has helped with interpretation of the results.

^{*} Published in **Polymer Composite**, DOI 10.1002/pc.23167

Dielectric Properties of Multi-Walled Carbon Nanotube (MWCNT)/Clay/Polyvinylidene fluoride (PVDF) Nanocomposites: Effect of Clay Incorporation

Maryam Khajehpour¹, Mohammad Arjmand¹, Uttandaraman Sundararaj¹

1: Department of Chemical and Petroleum Engineering, University of Calgary, 2500 University Drive NW Calgary, AB, Canada, T2N 1N4

6.2. Abstract

This study investigates the effect of clay addition on the broadband dielectric properties of multi-walled carbon nanotube/polyvinylidene fluoride (MWCNT/PVDF) composites, i.e. frequency range of $10^1 - 10^6$ Hz. Different loadings of MWCNT and clay were used for the preparation of three-phase (MWCNT/Clay/PVDF) nanocomposites via melt-mixing method. The crystalline structure and morphology of nanocomposites were examined by employing characterization techniques such as X-Ray diffraction, transmission electron microscopy, and differential scanning calorimetry. The dielectric spectroscopy showed that introducing clay into the MWCNT/PVDF nanocomposites at a critical MWCNT concentration improved dielectric properties tremendously. It was interestingly observed that the incorporation of a specific amount of clay, i.e. 1.0 wt%, into the (MWCNT/PVDF) nanocomposite at a critical MWCNT loading, i.e., 0.5 wt% MWCNT, resulted in a huge increase in the dielectric permittivity (670% at 100 Hz) and a considerable reduction in the dissipation factor (68% at 100 Hz).

6.3. Introduction

In the recent decade, conductive filler/polymer composites (CPCs) have gained great attention as charge storage materials due to their high flexibility combined with tunable dielectric properties. Inherent properties of polymer matrix, conductivity of filler, and conductive filler-polymer interaction play crucial roles in CPC's performance. Electroactive polymers are ideal matrices for charge storage materials, benefiting from their electromechanical properties and large dielectric permittivity [1, 2]. Among electroactive polymers, polyvinylidene fluoride (PVDF) has drawn great attention due to its applications as a polar piezoelectric material [3-6]. PVDF is a semi-crystalline polymer which has five distinct crystalline forms; among which, the polar β -phase has found the most interest because of its piezo-, pyro- and ferroelectric properties resulting in enhanced dielectric permittivity [4, 7-9]. The ferroelectric property of PVDF comes from the dipoles formed in hexagonal crystal lattice structure of β -phase [3].

In terms of conductive filler, carbon nanotubes (CNTs) are ideal conductive fillers for CPCs due to their high aspect ratio and remarkable electrical, thermal and mechanical properties [5, 10]. Moreover, it was found that CNTs contribute significantly to the formation of β -phase of PVDF, thus, enhancing ferroelectric properties [3, 4, and 6]. However, there are some challenges while using CNTs in polymer matrices. Firstly, it is critical to achieve a good dispersion of CNTs in the polymer matrix, since enhanced properties are achieved only when there is a good interfacial interaction between CNTs and polymer matrix [11, 12]. Naturally, existence of high van der Waals attraction between CNTs causes aggregation and consequently increase in the percolation threshold [10, 12]. Thus, improving dispersion of CNTs is essential with regard to the cost, flexibility and percolation threshold [10, 12].

Secondly, high dielectric permittivity and low leakage electrical current in CPCs can be obtained only at filler loadings very close to the percolation threshold (at intermediate levels of conductivity) [13]. Narrow insulator-conductor transition window around the percolation threshold is a critical challenge in manipulating CPCs for charge storage applications [4]. Accordingly, several efforts have been taken to improve the overall dispersion of CNTs into polymer matrices and to impede the insulator-conductor transition [10, 11]; (1) chemical modification of the surface of conductive fillers [10], (2) introducing secondary particles [10, 14] and (3) aligning conductive filler [15]. Unfortunately, a reduction in the dielectric permittivity was an unavoidable consequence of these techniques [15]. Also, chemical modification may weaken atomic structure of CNTs and thus lead to decrease of electrical and mechanical properties [10, 11 and 14].

Herein, we study the impact of clay, as a secondary filler, on dispersion and dielectric properties of MWCNT/PVDF nanocomposites. It has been reported that good dispersion and load transfer of clay compared to other secondary fillers lead to improved dispersion of conductive fillers without impairing electrical and mechanical properties [16]. The results showed that clay improved the MWCNT dispersion, leading to a wider insulator-conductor transition, which makes it easier to manipulate the dielectric properties of the polymer. Furthermore, enhanced β -phase crystallization of PVDF and consequently improved dielectric properties is anticipated.

6.4. Experimental

6.4.1. Materials

A semi-crystalline PVDF polymer (3M 11008/0001) was obtained in pellet form, from 3M Canada, with an average density of 1.55 g/cm³. The Cloisite 30B clay, grade 17172, was obtained from Southern Clay Products Inc. The MWCNTs (NanocylTM NC7000) were obtained from Nanocyl

S.A. (Sambreville, Belgium). According to the manufacturer, the MWCNTs were produced with catalytic carbon vapor deposition (CCVD) process and had an average diameter of 9.5 nm, a length of 1.5 μ m, a surface area of 250-300 m²/g and high aspect ratio (>150). All the materials were used as received without any pretreatment.

6.4.2. Composite preparation and molding

To obtain homogeneous distribution of MWCNTs in the polymer matrix, melt-mixing technique was used to increase the interactions between polymer and fillers via high temperature and shear forces [11]. In this work, a Haake Rheomix Series 600[®] batch mixer with Banbury blades was used at 220°C and rotor speed of 50 rpm. The PVDF was first masticated for 3 minutes and then, clay and MWCNTs were added to the PVDF and mixed for an additional 12 minutes. Samples with dimensions of 42x25x1 mm³ were compression molded with a Carver hot press at 200°C under 35 MPa pressure for 10 min.

6.4.3. Characterization tests

Wide angle X-ray diffraction (XRD) was performed using a Geigerflex 2173 diffractometer with Co Kα radiation at a wavelength of 0.179 nm to examine the morphology, particularly the crystalline structure of the nanocomposites. Fourier transform infrared (FTIR) spectroscopy attenuated total reflectance (ATR) was used to characterize the morphology of (MWCNT/clay/PVDF) nanocomposites. FTIR-ATR was recorded on an IL Nicolet NEXUS 470 FT-IR with Zn-Se detector, having resolution of 4 cm⁻¹ and accumulation of 128 scans. Crystallization behavior was also investigated using differential scanning calorimetry (DSC) via a Q-500 TA Instrument with second melting procedure from -90°C to 200°C and cooling/heating ramp of 10°/min. The samples were ultramicrotomed to sections of ~ 70 nm using Leica EM UC6 cryomicrotome. Transmission electron microscopy (TEM) analysis was carried out on the ultramicrotomed sample sections using a Tecnai TF20 G2 FEG-TEM (FEI, Hillsboro, Oregon, USA) at a 200 kV acceleration voltage with the standard single-tilt holder. The images were captured on a Gatan UltraScan 4000 CCD camera (Gatan, Pleasanton, California, USA) at 2048x2048 pixels.

The dielectric properties of the nanocomposites were measured with an impedance/gain-phase analyzer (Solartron SI 1260) in the frequency range of 10 Hz to 10⁶ Hz. We performed three repetitions for each concentration. Prior to the measurements, the electrodes were painted on the samples using silver paste. Direct current (DC) conductivity of the samples was measured employing two different setups. For the nanocomposites with conductivities lower than 10⁻² S m⁻¹, a Keithley 6517A electrometer connected to a Keithley 8009 test fixture (Keithley Instruments, USA) was used. For the samples with electrical conductivities more than 10⁻² S m⁻¹, the measurements were performed with a Hiresta-UP (MCP-HT450) resistivity meter connected to a ring probe URS type. The applied voltage was 10 V for all the measurements.

6.5. Results and Discussion

6.5.1. Crystallization

The composites' crystalline structure and the amount of α and β phases were investigated by XRD, DSC, and FTIR-ATR tests. Since β phase is polar in nature, it is the most desirable crystal phase for charge storage applications. This form gives the best piezoelectric and ferroelectric

properties of PVDF which is more preferable for enhancement of the dielectric behavior of the composites. Figure 6.1 shows the effect of MWCNT incorporation on PVDF crystalline structure as determined by XRD results.



Figure 6.1. XRD results for pure PVDF and MWCNT/PVDF nanocomposite

From the peaks at $2\theta = 21.5^{\circ}$ and 31° , which all correspond to α phase crystals [3, 6 and 16], it can be concluded that MWCNT incorporation enhances the transformation of α into β phase. Furthermore, it has been reported that clay addition also enhances the β phase formation [3, 17]. Presence of clay restricts the polymer chain's motion and can induce the polymer lamellae to grow on the clay surface. In addition, it is believed that the crystals formed on clay have a high amount of β -phase compared to other phases, when the crystallization of PVDF occurs in a confined state [3, 17]. Therefore, we may conclude that the clay addition can result in higher tendency to beta phase crystallization in MWCNT/PVDF composite. Considering those effects, a α to β transformation in the hybrid nanocomposites of MWCNT/Clay/PVDF is anticipated. This hypothesis can be proved by XRD and FTIR results for MWCNT/Clay/PVDF nanocomposites, as will be discussed in the following paragraphs. More β phase favors piezoelectric properties, therefore, an improvement in the dielectric behavior is expected.

The effect of clay addition on 0.5 wt% MWCNT/PVDF nanocomposite structure as presented by XRD results is provided in Figure 6.2. 0.5 wt% MWCNT/PVDF nanocomposite was used as representative in order to study the effects of clay addition on the MWCNT/PVDF nanocomposites. The intensity of the peaks at 20 around 4.2°, which are attributed to the clay sheets basal spacing, increased confirming clay intercalation [4]. The addition of clay led to a decrease in the intensity of the peak at 21.5° and disappearance of the peak at 31° showing the transformation of α phase into β phase. Furthermore, an increase in the intensity of the peak at 23.5° (0.43 nm), which is attributed to both 110 and 200 β crystal planes is a more indication of α to β phase transformation [3, 6].



Figure 6.2. XRD results for pure PVDF, 0.5 wt% MWCNT/ PVDF, 0.5 wt% MWCNT/1.0 wt% Cloisite 30B/PVDF, and 0.5 wt% MWCNT/3.0 wt% Cloisite 30B/PVDF

The FTIR-ATR results, illustrated in Figure 6.3, show the effect of clay addition on crystal phase transformation of the 0.5 wt% MWCNT/PVDF nanocomposites. The absorbance peaks at 614, 795, and 976 cm⁻¹ correspond to α phase and the peak at 840 cm⁻¹ is attributed to β phase. FTIR-ATR results show that adding clay decreased the intensity of the peaks linked to α phase and increased the intensity of peak engaged with β phase.



Figure 6.3. FTIR-ATR results for pure PVDF, 0.5 wt% MWCNT/PVDF, 0.5 wt% MWCNT/1.0 wt% Cloisite 30B/PVDF, and 0.5 wt% MWCNT/3.0 wt% Cloisite 30B/PVDF

The relative β phase content of the composites can be calculated according to FTIR result using Eq.6.1 [18];

$$F(\beta) = \frac{A_{\beta}}{\binom{K_{\beta}}{K_{\alpha}}A_{\alpha} + A_{\beta}}$$
(Eq. 6.1)

Where A_{α} and A_{β} are absorbance at 766 and 840 cm⁻¹ and K_{α} and K_{β} are the absorbance coefficients (6.1x10⁴ and 7.7x10⁴ cm².mol⁻¹) [18]. With the increase in the amount of β phase, as represented in

Table 6.1, we can conclude that embedding MWCNT and clay into the PVDF matrix led to α - β crystal phase transformation and improved dielectric behavior of the PVDF matrix.

Sample ID	β-phase content (%)		
Pristine PVDF	41.1		
0.5% MWCNT/PVDF	41.5		
0.5% MWCNT/PVDF/1% C30B	47		
0.5% MWCNT/PVDF/3% C30B	55.9		

Table 6.1. β-phase content for 0.5 wt% MWCNT/PVDF composites with different clay contents

Figure 6.4 depicts the DSC results, from which we can observe an increase in both the crystallization temperature (Figure 6.4-a) and melting temperature (Figure 6.4-b) as consequences of clay addition to the MWCNT/PVDF composite. These increases can be ascribed to the β -phase formation. It is reported that the tendency of PVDF to crystallize increases in the presence of nanoclay's silicate layers because of the restricted motion of PVDF molecules and good adhesion between polymer and silica particles [9, 17]. Therefore, from DSC results along with XRD and FTIR results, we conclude that clay addition increases the molecular orientation [18] and facilitates crystallization of PVDF; hence the composite would melt at higher temperature (T_m) which is an indication of more β -phase.



Figure 6.4. DSC results for pure PVDF, 0.5 wt% MWCNT/ PVDF, 0.5 wt% MWCNT/1.0 wt% Cloisite 30B/PVDF, and 0.5 wt% MWCNT/3.0 wt% Cloisite 30B/PVDF

6.5.2. Morphology

TEM images depicted in Figure 6.5 support the idea that clay addition improves the dispersion of MWCNTs into the PVDF matrix. More homogeneous dispersion of MWCNTs and less agglomerates can be observed for the MWCNT/Clay/PVDF nanocomposites (Figure 6.5-a) compared to the MWCNT/PVDF nanocomposites without clay (Figure 6.5-b). The improvement of MWCNT dispersion and distribution upon introducing clay can be attributed to three factors: (1) increase in polymer matrix viscosity; (2) excluded volume by clay particles in the matrix; and (3) improved interaction of MWCNTs with clays [4, 10, 13, and 16]. Clay incorporation restricted the motion of polymer chains and thus led to higher viscosity of the PVDF matrix [16, 17, and 19]. The higher viscosity resulted in higher applied shear rate to MWCNT agglomerates and, hence caused better dispersion of MWCNTs. Another factor is excluded volume which is defined as the volume around a particle, i.e. clay, which other similar particles are not allowed to enter [20]. Clay particles would occupy some area in the matrix where other particles, e.g. MWCNTs, cannot get in. Consequently, MWCNTs are not able to re-aggregate and form big agglomerations in those areas in the matrix and thus will have a lower chance to form agglomerations. This will result in better distribution of MWCNTs [13]. Furthermore, it is believed that MWCNTs interact more strongly with clay than polymer matrix [16]. There is good adhesion between clay particles and polymer, and because of the better interaction of CNTs with clay, this allows for better dispersion of CNT. This synergetic effect can be ascribed to the electrophilic nature of clay and electronegativity of CNT. This attraction will contribute to an improved dispersion of CNTs in presence of clay. Thus, introducing clay into the PVDF matrix contributed possibly to improved dispersion of nanotubes. However, as illustrated in the schematic in Figure 6.6, clays also have the role of barrier as well as dispersion aid. Having much less conductivity than nanotubes, clays may introduce between the contact spots of the MWCNTs and destroy the path for electric charge carriers through the network.



Figure 6.5. TEM images of (a) 0.5 wt% MWCNT/Clay/ PVDF and (b) 0.5 wt% MWCNT/PVDF composites. Better dispersion of MWCNT is seen when clay is added to the composite.



Figure 6.6. Schematic illustration of (a) MWCN/PVDF, (b) MWCNT/Clay/PVDF with moderate clay content, and (c) MWCNT/Clay/PVDF with high clay content. They black folded lines stand for MWCNTs and the blue sheets represent clays.

6.5.3. Dielectric Properties

High dielectric permittivity and low leakage current in CPCs is obtainable at filler loading close to the percolation threshold [4, 21]. Therefore, due to the insulator-conductor transition occurring at

the percolation threshold, the first step to evaluate the dielectric properties of CPCs is to determine the percolation threshold. Figure 6.7 illustrates the percolation curves of the MWCNT/Clay/PVDF nanocomposites for different clay contents. It is clear that the percolation threshold increased slightly by increasing the clay content in the MWCNT/Clay/PVDF nanocomposites. The percolation threshold for the composite without clay is around 0.3 wt% of MWCNT; however, clay addition at this concentration of MWCNT shifts the nanocomposites to the insulative region. In other words, incorporating 1.0 and 3.0 wt% clay raised the percolation threshold, i.e, around 0.5 wt% of MWCNT. The increase in the percolation threshold can be related to the deteriorated conductive network arising from the barrier role of clay sheets (Figure 6.6).



Figure 6.7. Volume resistivity as a function of MWCNT concentration for different clay contents in MWCNT/Clay/PVDF nanocomposites

Moreover, it was observed that the clay incorporation led to a smoother insulator-conductor transition. This smooth transition is a favorable dielectric behavior since it gives a wider concentration window to control the resistivity around the percolation threshold, while a sharp

insulator-conductor transition makes it extremely difficult to manipulate CPCs for charge storage applications. It is obvious that for the nanocomposites without clay a relatively sharp reduction of volume resistivity occurred, in the range of 0.2 to 0.4 wt% of MWCNT content, while the insulator-conductor transition was muted by clay incorporation. The broader concentration window of the insulator-conductor transition in the MWCNT/Clay/PVDF nanocomposites is attributed to the hindrance role of clay. This is an advantage for charge storage application like capacitors [15].

As charge storage materials should present high dielectric permittivity and low dielectric loss, the impacts of clay incorporation on the dielectric properties of MWCNT/PVDF nanocomposite were investigated. Figure 6.8 shows that dielectric permittivity increased tremendously with MWCNT content in the frequency range of study. High dielectric permittivity at high MWCNT loadings originates from nano-capacitor structures experiencing interfacial polarization [22]. Nano-capacitors in CPCs comprise conductive filler as nanoelectrodes, and insulative polymer layers between the nanofiller as nano-dielectrics [22]. Polarization moment has a magnitude equal to strength of each charge times the separation between charges. Thus, considering the scale at which charges are polarized in interfacial polarization and the presence of a large amount of nanocapacitor structures, a large dielectric permittivity was observed at high MWCNT loadings.

According to the electrical resistivity results presented in Figure 6.7, the percolation threshold is about 0.4 wt%. In order to investigate the impact of clay on dielectric properties, a MWCNT loading close to and above the percolation threshold was chosen, i.e. 0.5 wt%, where the conductive network was formed but was still unstable. The objective was to employ clay as insulating barrier to disturb unstable conductive network to reduce the leakage current. Figure 6.8 presents the impact of clay on the dielectric permittivity of the 0.5 wt% MWCNT/PVDF nanocomposites.



Figure 6.8. Dielectric permittivity of 0.5 wt% MWCNT/PVDF composites with different clay contents

As demonstrated in Figure 6.8, the addition of a specific amount of clay (1.0 wt %) increased the permittivity notably; that is, by 670% at 100 Hz. However, with 3.0 wt% clay content, a significant decrease was observed. This behavior can be explained by considering two counteracting parameters arising from clay addition; (1) enhanced interfacial polarization due to better MWCNT dispersion, and (2) barrier role of the clay. These roles for the incorporated clay can be simply visualized as presented in Figure 6.6. It seems that at low clay concentrations clay improved dielectric permittivity by improving dispersion; however, with increase in clay content the role of clay as barrier layer took over leading to a decay in dielectric permittivity. Therefore, it is likely that there is an optimum concentration up to which introducing clay helps to enhance dielectric permittivity. It is worth noting that incorporating clay impacted dielectric permittivity similarly for the other MWCNT contents.

As mentioned before, CPCs as charge storage materials are required to show a low dissipation factor, which is the ratio of leakage current (dielectric loss) over dielectric permittivity. The dielectric loss in CPCs originates from the movement of mobile charge carriers along conductive fillers [21]. It is also believed that at greater conductive network formation, free electrons can find more mean free paths to move in each half cycle of alternating field, and thus can dissipate more electrical energy. Given that, adding clay as insulative barrier is expected to decrease the dielectric loss by deteriorating the conductive network. Figure 6.9 presents the effect of clay addition on the dissipation factor, i.e. $tan(\delta)$, of 0.5 wt% MWCNT/PVDF nanocomposites.



Figure 6.9. Dissipation factor, tan (δ), of 0.5 wt% MWCNT/ PVDF composites versus frequency for different clay contents

It was observed that incorporation of clay led to a considerable reduction in dissipation factor. For instance, at 100 Hz incorporating 1.0 wt% of clay reduced the dissipation factor of 0.5 wt% MWCNT/PVDF, 68% while adding 3.0 wt% clay reduced the dissipation factor several orders of magnitude. This can be related to the barrier effect of the clay sheets that disrupted the conductive network of MWCNTs and made it more difficult for charge carriers to move throughout the network [3]. The positive impacts of clay addition (1.0 wt%) on controlling the insulator-conductor transition, improving dielectric permittivity and reducing dissipation factor is an outstanding achievement which can potentially find industrial applications.

6.6. Conclusion

Hybrid nanocomposites of MWCNT/Clay/PVDF were produced by melt-mixing method at different concentrations of MWCNT and clay. It has been shown that introducing clay into the composite system increased the amount of β phase crystal, which is beneficial for piezoelectric, ferroelectric and dielectric properties. It was observed that adding clay to the MWCNT/PVDF nanocomposites led to a wider insulative to conductive transition window. This was ascribed to the barrier formed by clay platelets in between the MWCNTs network. Muting the sharp insulator-conductor transition through introducing clay is a significant achievement since it facilitates manipulation of CPCs around the percolation threshold.

Regarding to dielectric performance of the nanocomposites, clay showed to be effective in two ways; acting as (1) dispersion aid, and (2) barrier layer. Based on the results, clay concentration defines the controlling factor. At lower clay content (1.0 wt%), due to better dispersion of MWCNTs, improved interfacial polarization and higher dielectric permittivity were achieved. However, at higher clay content (3.0 wt%) the barrier role of clay was dominant and caused lower permittivity.

Besides the permittivity, dielectric loss also depends on the clay content. Results confirm that the dissipation factor considerably decreased by clay addition as a result of the hindrance role. Therefore, there is an optimum clay concentration to gain the desirable properties enhancement for charge storage application, which is combination of high dielectric permittivity and low dielectric loss.

6.7. References

[1]: M.J. Jiang, Z.M. Dang, M. Boziar, F. Miomandre, and J. Bai. Broad frequency dielectric behaviors in multiwalled carbon nanotube/rubber nanocomposite. Applied Physics, **106** (2009), 084902.

[2]: C. Huang and Q.M. Zhang. High-dielectric-constant all-polymer percolative composites. Applied Physics Letters, **82** (2003), 3502.

[3]: F. Sadeghi and A. Ajji. Study of Crystal Structure of (Polyvinylidene fluoride/Clay) Nanocomposite Films: Effect of Process Conditions and Clay Type, Polymer Engineering and Science, **49** (2009), 200.

[4]: M. Khajehpour, M. Arjmand, and U. Sundararaj. Effect of Clay Incorporation on the Broadband Dielectric Properties of MWCNT/Polyvinylidene Fluoride Nanocomposites. In: ANTEC Conference Proceeding (2013), 659.

[5]: J.N. Martins, T.S. Bassani, G.M. Barra, and R. VB. Oliveira. Electrical and rheological percolation in poly(vinylidene fluoride)/multi-walled carbon nanotube nanocomposites. Polymer International, **60**, 430 (2011).

[6]: A. Lund, C. Gustafsson, H. Bertilsson, and R.W. Rychwalski. Enhancement of β phase crystal formation with the use of nanofillers in PVDF films and fibers. Composites Science and Technology, 71 (2011), 222.

[7]: Q. Zhang, R. Adebeisi, and J. Gladden. Synthesize Procedures, Mechanical and Electrical Properties of Poly(vinylidene Fluoride) Nanocomposite Thin Films Containing Multi Wall carbon Nanotubes, Polymer Composite, **33** (2012), 509.

[8]: S. Satapathy, S. Pawar, P.K. Gupta, and KBR Varma. Effect of annealing on phase transition in poly(vinylidene fluoride)films prepared using polar solvent. Bulletin Material Science, 34 (2011), 727.

[9]: D.R. Dillon, K.K. Tenneti, C.Y. Li, F.K. Ko, I. Sics, and B.S. Hsiao. On the structure and morphology of polyvinylidene fluoride-nanoclay nanocomposites. Polymer, **47** (2006), 1678.

[10]: Z.M. Dang, S.H. Yao, J.K. Yuan, and J. Bai. Tailored Dielectric Properties based on Microstructure Change in BaTiO₃-Carbon Nanotube/Polyvinylidene Fluoride Three-Phase Nanocomposites. Journal of Physical Chemistry: C, **114** (2010), 13204.

[11]: J.K. Yuan, S.H. Yao, Z.M. Dang, A. Sylvestre, M. Genetoux, and J. Bai. Giant Dielectric Permittivity nanocomposites: Realizing True Potential of Pristie Carbon Nanotubes in Polyvinylidene Fluoride Matrix through an Enhanced Interfacial Interaction. Journal of Physical Chemistry: C, **115** (2011), 5515.

[12]: G. O'Bryan, E.L. Yang, T. Zifer, J. Wally, J.L. Skinner, and A.L. Vance. Nanotube Surface Functionalization Effects in Blended Multiwalled Carbon Nanotube/PVDF Composites. Journal of Applied Polymer Science, **120** (2011), 1379.

[13]: S.H. Yao, Z.M. Dang, M.J. Jiang, and J.B. Bai. BaTiO3-carbon nanotube/polyvinylidene fluoride three-phase composites with high dielectric constant and low dielectric loss, Applied Physics Letters, **93** (2008), 182905.

[14]: S.H. Yao, J.K. Yuan, Z.M. Dang, and J. Bai. High dielectric performance of three-component nanocomposites induced by a synergetic effect, Materials Letters, **64** (2010), 2682.
[15]: M. Arjmand, M. Mahmoodi, S. Park, and U. Sundararaj. An innovative method to reduce the energy loss of conductive filler/polymer composites for charge storage applications, Composites Science and Technology, **78** (2013), 24.

[16]: L. Liu and J.C. Grunlan. Clay Assisted Dispersion of Carbon Nanotubes in Conductive Epoxy Nanocomposites. Advance Functional Materials, **17** (2007), 2343.

[17]: L. Priya and J.P. Jog. Poly(vinylidene fluoride)/Clay Nanocomposites Prepared by Melt Intercalation: Crystallization and Dynamic Mechanical Behavior Studies. Journal of Polymer Science: Part B: Polymer Physics, **40** (2002), 1682.

[18]: V. Sencadas, R. Gregorio, and S. Lanceros-Méndez. α to β Phase Transformation and Microestructural Changes of PVDF Films Induced by Uniaxial Stretch. Journal of Macromolecular Science, Part B: Physics, **48** (2009), 514.

[19]: B. Yalcin, D. Valladares, and M. Cakmak. Amplification effect of platelet type nanoparticles on the orientation behavior of injection molded nylon 6 composites. Polymer, **44**, 6913 (2003).

[20]: A. Celzard and E. McRae. Critical concentration in percolating systems containing a high-aspect-ratio filler. Physical Review B, **53** (1996), 6209.

[21]: M.H. Al-Saleh, G.A. Gelves, and U. Sundararaj. Copper nanowire/polystyrene nanocomposites: Lower percolation threshold and higher EMI shielding. Composites: Part A, **42** (2011), 92.

[22] M. Arjmand, T. Apperley, M. Okoniewski, and U. Sundararaj. Comparative study of electromagnetic interference shielding properties of injection molded versus compression molded multi-walled carbon nanotube/polystyrene composites. Carbon, **50** (2012), 5126.

Chapter 7

Influence of Melt-Mixing Process Conditions on Mechanical Performance of Organoclay/Fluoroelastomer Nanocomposite*

7.1. Presentation of the Article

The main purpose of this article is to optimize the fabrication method and conditions for polymer nanocomposites. Melt-intercalation method for nanoclay/fluoroelastomer (FKM) production has been studied in this work. Cloisite 20A, a modified montmorillonite (Mnt) clay, was incorporated in FKM matrix via melt-mixing process using an internal Haake batch mixer. The effect of three different process conditions namely, time, temperature, and shear rate on curing behavior and mechanical performance of the nanocomposites have been investigated. Optimum combination of the process conditions led to improved crosslinking kinetics, tensile strength, elongation and modulus. The main part of this work has been done by Maryam Khajehpour and Dr. U. Sundararaj has supervised the work.

^{*} Submitted to International Polymer Processing, under review

Influence of Melt-Mixing Process Conditions on Mechanical Performance of Organoclay/Fluoroelastomer Nanocomposites

Maryam Khajehpour¹ and Uttandaraman Sundararaj¹

1: Department of Chemical and Petroleum Engineering, University of Calgary, 2500 University Drive NW, Calgary, AB, Canada, T2N 1N4

7.2. Abstract

In this study, Cloisite 20A, an organically modified Montmorillonite (Mnt), has been incorporated into Fluoroelastomer (FKM) through melt intercalation. Since the nanocomposite preparation method and conditions, and consequently, the resulting morphology play a critical role in the final properties, the effect of different process conditions such as time, temperature, and shear rate on the vulcanization, thermal and mechanical properties have been investigated. The morphology of nanocomposites, prepared at different melt-mixing conditions, was studied using X-ray diffraction (XRD). Rheological, thermal and mechanical behaviors were investigated by moving die rheometer (MDR), thermal gravimetric analysis (TGA), and tensile strength test respectively. Also, the crosslinking density has been measured for the composites. By optimization of the melt-mixing conditions, the best mechanical performance of clay/FKM nanocomposite can be attained. We achieved the following enhancements for FKM by clay incorporation: enhancement of tensile strength up to 70%; elongation up to 94%; and modulus up to 405%.

Process temperature was found to have a critical role in the final properties of the nanocomposites, while mixing residual time and shear rate had a moderate effect. The most desirable properties and curing behaviors, including highest maximum torques, cure rates, crosslinking densities, fast crosslinking kinetics, high intercalation and best improved tensile strengths, resulted with specific combination of melt-mixing parameters.

7.3. Introduction

One well-established way to enhance the mechanical properties of polymers is adding inorganic filler to the organic polymer matrix. The incorporation of conventional fillers (e.g. carbon black or glass fiber) may cause some drawbacks, such as sloughing or brittleness; however, introducing well-dispersed nanofillers, such as nanoclay, into the polymer matrix overcomes this problem, bringing significant improvement in heat resistance and in mechanical properties, e.g. hardness, modulus, tensile and tear strength [1-4]. The significant advantage of nanofillers to the conventional micro-scale fillers is their extremely high surface area and stronger interaction with the polymer matrix [1, 2, 5, and 6]. Among nanoparticles, nanoclays are considered as ideal fillers for thermoplastic and thermoset polymer nanocomposites [1-6] due to ion exchange ability, swelling properties, active sites and high aspect ratio [7-10]. The clay's miscibility in the polymer, and its intercalation and exfoliation, determine the final properties of nanocomposites [11-14]. Different types of nanocomposites are likely, depending on the interaction between polymer and silicate layers; in each nanocomposite type, the physical properties are different [15, 16]. Studies show that nanocomposite structure - hence, mechanical properties - depend on both the processing conditions and the chemical nature of the clay and polymer [2, 4, 14, 17, and 18]. Therefore, to

obtain optimized properties, different methods of compounding and process conditions must be studied. While the agglomeration of nanoparticles seriously impairs the final performance of composites [12], several routes have been developed to improve the dispersion of nanoclays in polymer [19].

Direct melt intercalation is the most industrially appropriate technique for clay/polymer nanocomposites' preparation [1, 2, 14, 20, and 21] in which molten polymer penetrates the galleries between dispersed silicate platelets [4, 16]. Different compounding parameters, such as mixing time, temperature, and shear rate can affect the final nanocomposite's morphology [4, 22]. The addition of compatibilizer and/or accelerators has been shown to lead to better mixing [2, 18, and 23]. Based on previous studies, it could be concluded that: (a) a higher temperature (below degradation temperature) enhances exfoliation [3, 4, and 24]; (b) increased mixing time facilitates dispersion of clay layers [6, 14, 18, and 24]; (c) increased shear stress, up to a moderate level, yields better dispersion [18]; (d) excessive shear stress reduces exfoliation [4]; (e) using compatibilizer improves the intercalation and exfoliation but may also induce clay agglomeration [18]; and (f) a minimum mixing residence time is required to obtain a well-intercalated or exfoliated state [4].

Less attention has been paid to the nanoclay/elastomer nanocomposites compared to thermoplastics and thermosets [20, 22]. Reinforcement of elastomers by nanoclay incorporation can lead to a wide range of applications due to their light weight and processability, compared to metals [25], and enhanced mechanical properties, compared to unreinforced elastomers and traditional elastomer composites [25, 26]. Studies show that both tensile strength and modulus could be improved by a clay addition to rubber [24]. It is well known that the nanocomposite

structure, or the dispersion of nanofiller, significantly impacts the final mechanical properties. Thus, there is significant need to find an industrially viable way to disperse clay well in rubbers [23]. Some issues with processing and blending clay into elastomer occur. First, the extremely high van der Waals attraction at the nanoscale, coupled with high surface contact area, make it very difficult to disperse clay. Second, even if polymer intercalates into the clay during blending of the composite, during cross-linking, the polymer molecules are pulled out of the clay galleries.

Fluoroelastomer (FKM) is a special type of rubber that shows excellent performance when high thermal and chemical resistance are required [22, 27, and 28]. These materials are proposed in applications where elastic behavior is needed for severe environments, such as oil-well completion and production [24]. Specifically, their superior oil and water swelling resistance and low flammability make them desirable for many oil and gas industry applications [27].

In this work, montmorillonite clay/FKM nanocomposites were synthesized and their curing behavior, mechanical and thermal properties investigated. Clay/FKM nanocomposites were produced via melt intercalation by different conditions to study the effect of temperature, time, and shear stress on the final morphology and mechanical properties. We showed that an optimized combination of different process conditions leads to the composite's most desirable properties.

7.4. Experimental

7.4.1. Materials

Organically modified Montmorillonite, Cloisite 20A was obtained from Southern Clay Products Inc. Viton[®] Fluoroelastomer grade GF-200S (copolymer of hexafluoropropylene, vinylidene fluoride, and tetra fluoroethylene) was supplied by Dupont. Triallyl Isocyanurate (TAIC), ZnO, and 2,5-dimethyl-2.5-di(t-butylperoxy) hexane were obtained from Cray Valley, U.S. ZINC, and VAROX[®] respectively.

7.4.2. Clay/ FKM Nanocomposite preparation

Clay/FKM nanocomposites, with a clay concentration of 10 phr, were prepared by the meltmixing process using an internal batch mixer (Thermo-Fisher Haake Rheomix Series 600[®]) with Banbury blades. The clay is a commercial Montmorillonite, modified with dimethyl, dihydrogenated tallow quaternary ammonium, named as Cloisite 20A. Degradation starts at about 285°C for Cloisite 20A, which is due to thermal stability of the tallow surfactant modifier that have been used in the structure of the clay. The half-life time for the specific peroxide is 10 hours for the temperature up to 120°C which will be reduced to 1 hour at 142°C. Considering degradation temperature of Cloisite 20A, activation temperature of the peroxide, onset degradation for the pure FKM at 390°C, and also taking into account that the curing temperature for this type of clay/FKM composite is around 160°C, the processing temperature and time should be such that neither degradation nor scorching happens for the composites. The effect of three different factors, including process temperature, residual time, and the shear rate (i.e. rotor speed), were studied, each at two or three different levels. The mixing temperature was set at three values of 50, 75, and 100°C; the process residual times at two levels of 15 and 30 minutes; and the rotor speeds at 45 and 100 rpm. The experiments were designed based on the factorial design method. Considering the negative effect of co-existence of the high level of temperature and the shear rate, which leads to sample scorching, some of conditions were omitted from the design. We end up, therefore, with a set of conditions as summarized in Table 7.1.

It is worth mentioning that the melting temperature increases during the mixing procedure as a result of viscous heating due to shear applied to the composite. Thus, the maximum melting process temperature is higher than the set temperature. This maximum temperature has been also reported in Table 7.1 to show how the mixing time and rotor speed affect the temperature. Records show that the combination of high rotor speed and longer mixing time caused a relatively large rise in temperature that probably leads to composite samples scorching. This incident is noticeable for sample # 6, with a rotor speed of 100 rpm and a mixing residual time of 30 minutes.

Sampla	Sample — ID	Process 1	Process Output		
No.		Tset (°C)	Mixing residual	Rotor speed	Max melt T
			time (iiiii)	(rpm)	()
1	TL/tL/RH	50	15	100	91
2	TL/tH/RL	50	30	45	72
3	TM/tL/RL	75	15	45	91
4	TM/tH/RL	75	30	45	90
5	TM/tL/RH	75	15	100	115
6	TM/tH/RH	75	30	100	135
7	TH/tL/RL	100	15	45	113
8	TH/tH/RL	100	30	45	113

Table 7.1. Experimental design of melt-mixing process conditions

Vulcanization is essential to provide sufficient mechanical strength for rubbers, as uncrosslinked matrices show poor mechanical performance [26]. It is well-known that contributions of clay and vulcanization agents have equally important effects on improving curing behavior and that vulcanization affects the intercalation/exfoliation process [20, 26]. Some common curing agents were added to the Clay/FKM nanocomposites during the melt-mixing procedure. The curing additives and their concentrations were constant for all the composites: 3 phr of ZnO, 2 phr of peroxide (2,5-dimethyl-2.5-di(t-butylperoxy)hexane) and 2 phr of TAIC . After compounding FKM and the clay at the conditions of Table 7.1, the vulcanization agents were added at the same temperature and rotor speed and mixed for another 15 minutes. Then, the samples were cured via compression molding at 160 °C and 5000 psia pressure for 20 minutes.

7.4.3. Nanocomposite Characterization

Thermal gravimetric analysis (TGA) TA instruments Q500 series was used to determine the thermal stability of nanocomposites. The TGA test was done under N₂ atmosphere at a 10°C/min heating rate, from 30°C to 800°C. An X-Ray Diffraction (Rigaku Multiflex X-ray Diffractometer) test, with Cu K α X-ray tube at a voltage of 40 kV and a current of 20 mA, was conducted to evaluate the basal spacing of clay layers in nanocomposites. The XRD tests were conducted on 18mmx20mmx2mm cured compression molded samples. Tensile strength was tested using a TensiTech machine, following the ASTM D412 standard for dumbbell specimens with the dimensions according to the standard and thickness of 2mm.Vulcanization and rheological behavior of the composites were studied using a TechPro Moving Die Rheometer (MDR⁺), which was performed at 160°C and at an oscillating frequency of 1.66 Hz, with 0.5 deg arc (ASTM D5289), for 20 min. The rheological characterization samples were disks with a 25 mm diameter and 2 mm thickness which were prepared by compression molding at 90°C and 10 MPa for 2 minutes.

7.4.4. Cross-linking Density Measurement

Three 1cmx1cmx2mm compression molded samples of each composite were exposed to methyl ethyl ketone (MEK) for 72 hours at room temperature and then dried for 24 hours at 60°C

under vacuum. The weights before and after swelling were recorded for crosslinking density calculation.

7.5. Results and Discussion

7.5.1. Thermal Stability

From the TGA and differential TGA (D-TGA) results, presented in Table 7.2, we can discern no significant difference between the thermal stability of the composites prepared at different meltmixing conditions. The degradation onset (corresponding to 5.0% weight loss) and the total weight loss are almost the same for all composites. The only exception is sample # 6, which starts to degrade at a lower temperature compared to the other composites. This was anticipated for sample # 6 since it experienced very high melt temperature and probably was scorched.

Sample No.	Sample ID	5% weight loss T (°C)	D-TGA peak (°C)
1	TL/tL/RH	310	345
2	TL/tH/RL	310	350
3	TM/tL/RL	305	345
4	TM/tH/RL	305	345
5	TM/tL/RH	310	345
6	TM/tH/RH	290	340
7	TH/tL/RL	310	345
8	TH/tH/RL	310	345

 Table 7.2. 5.0% weight degradation start point for Clay/FKM composites

7.5.2. Morphology

A fairly good dispersion and intercalation of the nanoclay sheets in FKM matrix, for two of the samples can be observed from TEM images in Figure 7.1. These TEM images are representative of all the samples. More exact quantitative data about the level of intercalation were obtained from X-ray diffraction (XRD) test.



Figure 7.1. TEM images of Cloisite 20A/FKM composites; (a) sample 2, (b)^{*} sample 8.

*: dark spots are agglomeration of curing agents.

The XRD was carried out to study the effect of process conditions on the intercalation of clay sheets. Focusing on the XRD graphs demonstrated in Figure 7.2, a peak shift to the left is clearly visible for all the composites relative to pristine Cloisite 20A. The shift to lower angles and broadening of the peaks are evidence of polymer intercalation into the clay interlayers and partial exfoliation of clay sheets in the matrix. Moreover, a comparison of the final morphology for the different samples is possible in accordance to the d-spacing measured from XRD results.



Figure 7.2. XRD results of Cloisite 20A/ FKM composites made at different mixing conditions.

According to the peak positions, which are summarized in Table 7.3, the highest d-spacing, hence most intercalation, correspond to samples 1, 2, and 8. In these three samples, only one of the melt-mixing times or shear rates assumes its highest value, while the other parameters take its lowest one. One major conclusion is that each and every one of the studied process parameters has an effect on the intercalation of clay. Furthermore, the interactions of the factors were found to

have considerable effect on the intercalation. Our observations showed that a simultaneous increase in time and shear rate has a negative effect on the intercalation.

Sample No.	Sample ID	Peak position (deg)	d ₀₀₁ (nm)
1	TL/tL/RH	2.700	3.268
2	TL/tH/RL	2.513	3.511
3	TM/tL/RL	2.978	2.963
4	TM/tH/RL	3.029	2.913
5	TM/tL/RH	2.943	2.998
6	TM/tH/RH	2.823	3.126
7	TH/tL/RL	3.064	2.880
8	TH/tH/RL	2.703	3.265
Cloisite 20A	Cloisite 20A	3.640	2.424

Table 7.3. Basal spacing of clay layers in the composites according to the XRD peaks

7.5.3. Rheometry and Crosslinking Measurement

The rheological behavior of polymer composites depends on their viscoelastic characteristics, which are affected by both filler type and concentration and the process parameters [22]. The effect of process conditions on some rheological properties are studied in this paper. Rheometry results, via MDR rheometer, represent the curing behavior and vulcanization characteristics of the composites at 160°C. From the cure curve (i.e. torque against cure time), some significant parameters - namely, minimum torque (M_L), maximum torque (M_H), induction time (t_{S2}), and optimum cure time (t_{C90}) - are determined. The curing rate (CR), which is defined as CR = $100/(t_{C90} - t_{S2})$ is calculated and indicates the rate of crosslinking and stiffness after the scorch time [29].

As the compound is heated under pressure, the viscosity decreases and consequently, torque falls [29]. When the vulcanization process starts, the torque increases and after a while, it attains a

maximum value (M_H) [29]. M_H is the maximum torque exerted on the elastomer during crosslinking and is the measure of stiffness or shear modulus of the fully vulcanized specimen which indicates the level of curing [30]. M_L , the measure of stiffness or shear modulus of the unvulcanized specimen [30], is proportional to the viscosity of the uncured compound. The t_{S2} value is the time at which scorch occurred. t_{S2} , is being recorded when viscosity of the specimen rises 2 units above M_L , therefore "s" stands for scorch and 2 stands for the viscosity. t_{C90} , is the time when 90% of the maximum torque is achieved during curing; these times give us an estimate of the vulcanization kinetics.



Figure 7.3. MDR Rheographs for clay/FKM composites

The rheometry test results are reported in Table 7.4 and the corresponding rheographs are illustrated in Figure 7.3. Generally, we can say that the kinetics are similar for all composites

except sample # 6, which shows unusual behavior, including scorching of the composite. Therefore, we excluded sample # 6 from comparisons and discussion. However, all data for this sample are included in the results to show that not all process conditions result in good properties, particularly in this case, when the composite is scorched.

Sample No.	Sample ID	M _H (lb _f .in)	M _L (lb _f .in)	tc ₉₀ (min)	t _{S2} (min)	CR
1	TL/tL/RH	16.72	2.25	3.2	1.41	55.87
2	TL/tH/RL	20.23	2.54	3.18	1.22	51.02
3	TM/tL/RL	16.98	2.2	3.38	1.38	50.00
4	TM/tH/RL	16.48	2.03	3.36	1.37	50.25
5	TM/tL/RH	13.32	1.96	5.64	2.45	31.35
6	TM/tH/RH	27.56	4.59	9.79	1.82	12.55
7	TH/tL/RL	16.57	1.94	13.26	1.32	8.38
8	TH/tH/RL	13.71	1.95	3.57	1.6	50.76

Table 7.4. MDR rheology results for clay/FKM composites: maximum and minimum torques,
 t_{C90} , t_{S2} , and cure rate

Based on the results, we can conclude that both the highest maximum torque (M_H) and fastest crosslinking kinetics (low t_{C90}) correspond to the composites such as samples # 1 and 2 that were prepared at conditions with either high shear rate or longer mixing residual time, while the rest of mixing parameters take their lowest levels. Sample # 1 was produced at a high shear rate but low mixing temperature and residual time, while sample # 2 was produced at a low shear rate and temperature but longer mixing time. Considering that these samples have the lowest increase in melt-mixing temperature in comparison to the others, it can be postulated that high temperature impairs the crosslinking performance.

The mechanical performance and crosslinking density were also measured. The experiments for the crosslinking measurements were done at room temperature. The chemical crosslink density of the composites can be calculated by the Flory-Rehner equation (Equation 7.1) [31].

$$\mu = \frac{-[\ln(1-V_2)+V_2+\chi_1V_2^2]}{\overline{V_1}[V_2^{\frac{1}{3}}-V_2/_2]} \qquad Eq. 7.1$$

$$V_2 = \frac{m_1 \rho_s}{m_1 (\rho_s - \rho_{FKM}) + m_2 \rho_{FKM}}$$
 Eq. 7.2

Where V_2 is the volume fraction of rubber in the swollen gel (Equation 7.2 is taken from reference [32]). $\overline{V_1}$ is the molar volume of the solvent. χ_1 is the Flory-Huggins interaction parameter of the rubber with the solvent. m_1 is the mass of polymer before swelling and m_2 is the mass after swelling. Using the weights before and after swelling, the volume fraction has been calculated. The χ_1 value for FKM and MEK system at 25 °C is taken to be -1.0 [33].

Crosslinking results, given in Table 7.5, confirm that introducing clay in the FKM matrix improves crosslinking up to 87.8% (for sample # 2) compared to the neat cured FKM. Moreover, results indicate that the process conditions for samples # 1 and 2 lead to the highest crosslinking densities. These results match the calculated cure rates (Table 7.4), since the maximum CR values correspond to the same samples with the highest degree of crosslinking. In addition to having the highest M_H and lowest t_{C90} values, samples # 1 and 2 also showed the highest clay intercalation in the composite, according to the XRD test results (Table 7.3). This is additional evidence that the most promising condition is when only one of the processing parameters is at the high level while the two other factors are kept at their lower level.

Sample No.	Sample ID	Crosslinking density (mol/cm ³) x10 ³
1	TL/tL/RH	4.92
2	TL/tH/RL	4.62
3	TM/tL/RL	4.59
4	TM/tH/RL	4.47
5	TM/tL/RH	3.86
6	TM/tH/RH	4.47
7	TH/tL/RL	4.32
8	TH/tH/RL	4.13
FKM (cured)	FKM	2.62

 Table 7.5. Crosslinking density for FKM/clay composites prepared at different process conditions

7.5.4. Mechanical Properties

Tensile tests were performed to examine the mechanical performance of the composites. At least three individual specimens were tested for each composite. Figure 7.4 shows the tensile curves for the different materials. The average values of the tensile strength (TS), elongation at break, modulus of the composites and their standard deviations are reported in Table 7.6. The mechanical properties of pure FKM are also reported. It is well-known that the interaction of fillers and the polymer in the composites contributes to enhancing macroscopic properties, such as tensile properties [34]. The comparison of FKM properties, with and without filler from the tensile test results shows that introducing clay in the FKM matrix significantly improves mechanical properties. Particularly surprising was the increase in elongation at break for several samples. Typically, fillers tend to lead to lower elongations for polymer composites. Our results, however, indicate a stronger bond between polymer chains and clay layers than typically found, and this is the reason for the unexpected increase in the elongation [34]. As expected, sample # 6 is the exception due to the scorching that occurred during mixing process and its tensile strength is even

less than pristine FKM. When the process temperature is close to the curing temperature, the composite starts to be cured and scorched; hence, the tensile, elongation, and modulus values will be noticeably decreased. Process conditions, therefore, should be set such that scorching is avoided.



Figure 7.4. Tensile test results for FKM/clay composites prepared at different process conditions

First, by comparing the results with previous work on the same nanocomposite (i.e. 10 phr Cloisite 20A/FKM) with the same recipe and preparation method [35], we observe improvements in both tensile strength and elongation for all of our nanocomposites compared to their composites with slightly different mixing conditions. This indicates the significance of the effect of process conditions on the final properties of the composites. Studying the mechanical test results, several conclusions can be made. From the results, the highest tensile strength corresponded to Sample #2, which also exhibited the maximum torque in the rheo-curves and the most intercalation per the XRD results. With the specific conditions of low temperature, low shear and long residence time,

the tensile strength was improved by 70% for Sample #2 compared to pure FKM. These results support the idea that the conditions which lead to better crosslinking are closely related to the increase in tensile strength.

No.	Sample ID	TS		Elongation at break		Young's Modulus	
		TS (psi)	St Dev.	Elongation (%)	St Dev.	100% Modulus	St Dev.
1	TL/tL/RH	2512.9	94.3	568.4	11.5	765	6
2	TL/tH/RL	2902.9	96.6	362.4	11.3	789	8.6
3	TM/tL/RL	2475.5	75.4	329.1	12.2	816	19.7
4	TM/tH/RL	2641.9	159.6	345.6	4.4	753	18.6
5	TM/tL/RH	2305.7	10.0	598.4	7.8	703	13.4
6	TM/tH/RH	1403.1	99.6	191.2	18.1	763	31.5
7	TH/tL/RL	2544.1	130.6	336.4	25.5	869	30.2
8	TH/tH/RL	2444.1	107.7	662.1	16.3	661	6.4
FKM	FKM	1709.3	60.3	342.5	0.6	172	0.7

 Table 7.6. Tensile test results for FKM/clay composites prepared at different process conditions

The elongation at break was increased up to 94% (Sample #8) and the 100% Young's modulus value was increased up to 405% (Sample #7). Considering the effect of excessive shear on the elongation and tensile strength of the composite, we can conclude that to achieve the best combination of mechanical properties of a composite, the three parameters of mixing conditions (temperature, time and shear rate) should not all be set to their highest level. Results prove that by optimization of mixing parameters the elongation could be improved as a result of good interaction between clay and polymer. Most of the previous research literature, however, shows poor elongation values since components of the nanocomposites are not able to achieve good adhesion [34]. The highest elongations correspond to samples # 8, 5 and 1, in rank order. According to their

mixing conditions, we may conclude that time, shear rate and their interaction significantly alter the elongation. For instance, in order to get a higher elongation at high shear rate it is better to have a shorter mixing time, which were the conditions for samples # 1 and 5. Also, when the mixing time is at the higher level, the best results for elongation are achieved with lower shear rate, as seen in sample # 8. Another conclusion from the comparison of samples # 5 and 3 is that we can assume that higher shear rate, with other mixing parameters kept at fixed values, causes more elongation and intercalation; however, tensile strength and modulus reduce slightly at the same time. Moreover, it could be concluded that the effect of residual mixing time on the mechanical properties depends on the temperature of the process: a longer mixing time at the relatively high melt temperature close to curing temperature (above 100°C) has a negative effect on the tensile strength, while at a relatively low melt temperature (~90°C), a longer mixing time helps to improve mechanical performance. At a fixed temperature and shear rate, longer residual time results in higher tensile strength, provided that the final process temperature is below the scorching temperature. On the whole, we need to consider the final desired mechanical performance of nanocomposites to optimize the processing conditions.

7.6. Conclusion

Organoclay (Montmorillonite Cloisite 20A)/Fluoroelastomer (FKM) nanocomposites were prepared via melt-intercalation using different process conditions. The effect of process conditions on thermal stability, curing behavior, crosslinking density, and mechanical performance of the composites were studied. The thermal stability of the composites does not seem to be significantly affected by the process conditions. The composites, however, exhibited different curing behavior and different mechanical properties. All of the most desirable properties and behaviors, including highest maximum torques, cure rates, crosslinking densities, fast crosslinking kinetics, high intercalation and best improved tensile strengths, corresponded to the samples for which only one of the melt-mixing parameters assumes its highest value and the rest take their lowest ones. The most favorable combination of process conditions is long mixing residual time at the lowest level of temperature and shear rate (i.e., sample # 2). Results confirm that increasing either shear rate or residual time, up to a specific level at which the composite is still thermally stable, increases the maximum torque of the corresponding composite, resulting in more crosslinking and enhanced mechanical strength. It should be noted that using a high level of all mixing parameters (i.e., temperature, mixing residual time and shear rate) leads to an undesirably high melt temperature which has adverse effects and hampers the crosslinking process.

7.7. References

[1]: M. Al-haj Ali, and R.H. Elleithy. Viscoelastic Properties of Polypropylene/Organo-Clay Nano-Composites Prepared Using Miniature Lab Mixing Extruder from Masterbatch, Journal of Applied Polymer Science, **121** (2011), 27–36.

[2]: M. Modesti, A. Lorenzetti, D. Bon, and S. Besco. Effect of processing conditions on morphologyand mechanical properties of compatibilized polypropylene nanocomposite. Polymer, 46 (2005), 10237–10245.

[3]: I. Ghasemi, M. Karrabi, M. Mohammadi, and H. Azizi. Evaluating the effect of processing conditions and organoclay content on the properties of styrene-butadiene rubber/organoclay nanocomposites by response surface methodology, Polymer Letters, **4** (2010), 62–70.

[4]: L. Zhu, and M. Xanthos. Effects of process conditions and mixing protocols on structure of extruded polypropylene nanocomposites. Journal of Applied Polymer Science, 93 (2004), 1891–1899.

[5]: G. Naderi, M. Razavi-Nouri, E. Taghizadeh, P.G. Lafleur, and C. Dubois. Preparation of thermoplastic elastomer nanocomposites based on polyamide-6/polyepichlorohydrin-*co*-ethylene oxide. Polymer Engineering and Science, **51** (2011), 278-284.

[6]: N.K. Borse, and M.R. Kamal. Melt processing effects on the structure and mechanical properties of PA-6/clay nanocomposites, Polymer Engineering and Science, **46** (2006), 1094-1103.

[7]: W. Shen, H. He, J. Zhu, P. Yuan, and R.L. Frost. Grafting of montmorillonite with different functional silanes via two different reaction systems, Journal of Colloid and Interface Science, **313** (2007), 268–273.

[8]: M. Park, I.K. Shim, E.Y. Jung, and J.H. Choy. Modification of external surface of Laponite by silane grafting, Journal of Physics and Chemistry of Solids, **65** (2004), 499–501.

[9]: N.N. Herrera, J.M. Letoffe, J.L. Putaux, L. David, and E. Bourgeat-Lami. Aqueous Dispersions of Silane-Functionalized Laponite Clay Platelets. A First Step toward the Elaboration of Water-Based Polymer/Clay Nanocomposites, Langmuir **20** (2004), 1564-1571.

[10]: A.M. Shanmugharaj, K.Y. Rhee, and S.H. Ryua. Influence of dispersing medium on grafting of aminopropyltriethoxysilane in swelling clay materials. Journal of Colloid and Interface Science, 298 (2006), 854–859.

[11]: Z. Qian, H. Zhou, X. Xu, Y. Ding, S. Zhang, and M. Yang. Effect of the grafted silane on the dispersion and orientation of clay in polyethylene nanocomposites, Polymer Composites, **30** (2009), 1234-1242.

[12]: D.R. Paul, and L.M. Robeson. Polymer nanotechnology: Nanocomposites, Polymer, 49 (2008), 3187–3204.

[13]: G.X. Chen, J.B. Choi, and J.S. Yoon. The Role of Functional Group on the Exfoliation of Clay in Poly(L-lactide). Macromolecular Rapid Communication, **26** (2005), 183–187.

[14]: H.R. Dennis, D.L. Hunter, D. Chang, S. Kim, J.L. White, J.W. Cho, and D.R. Paul. Effect of melt processing conditions on the extent of exfoliation in organoclay-based nanocomposites, Polymer, **42** (2001), 9513-9522.

[15]: S.S. Ray, and M. Okamoto. Polymer/layered silicate nanocomposites: a review from preparation to processing. Progress in Polymer Science, **28** (2003), 1539-1641.

[16]: F. Hussain, M. Hojjati, M. Okamoto, and R.E. Gorga. Polymer-matrix Nanocomposites, Processing, Manufacturing, and Application: An overview, Journal of Composite Materials, 40 (2006), 1511-1575.

[17]: C. Wan, W. Dong, and Y. Zhang. Intercalation process and rubber–filler interactions of polybutadiene rubber/organoclay nanocomposites, Journal of Applied Polymer Science, **107** (2008), 650–657.

[18]: K.G .Gatos, R. Thomann, and J. Karger-Kocsis. Characteristics of ethylene propylene diene monomer rubber/organoclay nanocomposites resulting from different processing conditions and formulations, Polymer International, **53** (2004), 1191-1197.

[19]: D. Burgentzlé, J. Duchet, J.F. Gerard, A. Jupin, and B. Fillon. Solvent-based nanocomposite coatings: I. Dispersion of organophilic montmorillonite in organic solvents, Journal of Colloid and Interface Science, **278** (2004), 26–39.

[20]: J. Herchova, P. Komadel, I. Chodak. Effect of montmorillonite modification on mechanical properties of vulcanized natural rubber composites. Journal of Materials Science, 43 (2008), 2012–2017.

[21]: J. Gao, Z. Gu, G. Song. P. Li, and W. Liu. Preparation and properties of organomontmorillonite/fluoroelastomer nanocomposites, Applied Clay Science, **42** (2008), 272–275.

[22]: M. A. Kader, M.Y. Lyu, and C. Nah. A study on melt processing and thermal properties of fluoroelastomer nanocomposites, Composites Science and technology, **66** (2006), 1431–1443.

[23]: A. Das, K.W. Stöckelhuber, R. Jurk, D. Jehnichen, and G. Heinrich. A general approach to rubber–montmorillonite nanocomposites: Intercalation of stearic acid, Journal of Applied Clay Science, **51** (2011), 117–125.

[24]: R. Valsecchi, L. Torlaj, S. Turri, C. Tonelli, and M. Levi. Barrier properties in hydrogenated acrylonitrile butadiene rubber compounds containing organoclays and perfluoropolyether additives. Journal of Applied Polymer Science, **119** (2011), 3476–3482.

[25]: V. Mittal, J.K. Kim, and K. Pal. Recent Advances in Elastomeric Nanocomposites; Springer-Verlag; Berlin Heidelberg, (2011) Vol. 9.

[26]: S. Lakshminarayanan, Synthesis, Characterization and Production of Fluoroelastomer/clay nanocomposites. MSc thesis; University of Alberta, 2009.

[27]: B. Ameduri, B. Boutevin, and G. Kostov. Fluoroelastomers: synthesis, properties and applications. Progress in Polymer Science, **26** (2001), 105-187.

[28]: R.A. Shanks, and I. Kong. Advanced Structured Materials; Springer-Verlag; Berlin Heidelberg, (2013) Vol.11.

[29]: A.K. Singhal, Oscillating Disk Rheometer Technical Datasheet, Future Foundation Company, 2003.

[30]: ASTM D-2084; (2011), ASTM International; West Conshohocken; PA 19428-2959. http://www.astm.org.

[31]: M. Maiti, and A.K. Bhowmick. Effect of Polymer–Clay Interaction on Solvent Transport Behavior of Fluoroelastomer–Clay Nanocomposites and Prediction of Aspect Ratio of Nanoclay.Journal of Applied Polymer Science, 105 (2007), 435–445.

[32]: K. Ahmed, S.S. Nizami, N.Z. Raza, S. Kamaluddin, and K. Mahmood. An assessment of Rice Husk Ash modified, Marble Sludge loaded Natural Rubber hybrid composites. Journal of Material and Environmental Science, **4** (2013), 205-216.

[33]: S. Mitra, A.G. Siahkali, P. Kingshott, K. Almdal, H.K. Rehmeier, and A.G. Christensen. Chemical degradation of fluoroelastomer in an alkaline environment, Polymer Degradation and Stability, **83** (2004), 195–206.

[34]: M. Zhang, and U. Sundararaj. Thermal, Rheological and Mechanical Behaviors of LLDPE/PEMA/clay nanocomposites: Effect of interaction between polymer, compatibilizer and nanofiller. Macromolecule Materials and Engineering, **291** (2006), 697-706.

[35]: S. Lakshminarayanan, G.A. Gelves, and U. Sundararaj. Vulcanization behavior and mechanical properties of organoclay fluoroelastomer nanocomposites, Journal of Applied Polymer Science, **124** (2012), 5056-5063.

Chapter 8

Summary, Conclusion, and Future Work

8.1. Summary

The main objective of this PhD thesis was to improve different physical properties of polymer nanocomposites (PNC), i.e. mechanical, thermal, and electrical properties, for different applications. This objective has been met using various strategies for nanofiller modification or process optimization. The summary of different stages of the studies that have been accomplished in this research work follows:

- ✓ Modifying Montmorillonite clay (Mnt) via edge and surface chemical treatment with the purpose of (1) compatiblizing the clay with fluoroelastomer (FKM) matrix, (2) improving nanoclay dispersion in FKM, (3) and enhancing the thermal stability of the nanoclay and the resulting PNC.
- ✓ Optimizing the melt mixing process conditions to achieve the best swelling resistance, as well as thermal and mechanical performance of nanoclay/FKM nanocomposite.

- ✓ Finding the optimum combination of hybrid fillers, namely nanoclay and multi wall carbon nanotube (MWCNT), for manipulating dielectric properties of the PNC for charge storage applications.
- ✓ Studying the influence of the nanoclay loading amount on the conductive network and nanocapacitors in MWCNT/PVDF nanocomposites.
- ✓ Investigating the effect of the nanoclay addition to the crystalline structure of poly vinylidene fluoride (PVDF) in MWCNT/PVDF nanocomposite. The crystalline structure defines the piezoelectricity of the polymer and affects the dielectric properties.
- ✓ Synthesizing a novel nanofiller graphene nano ribbon (GNR) by chemical unzipping our custom synthesized MWCNTs.
- ✓ Investigating the effect of GNR and MWCNT, in their modified and original form when compounding with FKM, on the curing behavior of the elastomer matrix.

8.2. Conclusion

General conclusion of this PhD thesis is that different strategies could be successfully employed in order to improve and optimize PNC properties. These strategies depend on the inherent properties of PNC constituents and the final application of the nanocomposites. Improved curing behavior, thermal, mechanical, and electrical properties of different types of PNC achieved using different methods. The main findings from the implementation of strategies for PNC modification, discussed in chapters 3 to 6 of this dissertation, are briefly presented in this section.

8.2.1. Montmorillonite modification for clay/FKM nanocomposite

The chemical modification of nanoclay was the main focus of Chapter 4. Different chemical modifiers were employed for the modification of clay via solution reaction. Then, the modified clay was compounded with FKM, through the melt mixing process. The morphology and thermal properties of PNCs were investigated. Noticeable improvements in properties of Mnt were successfully achieved by both organo-silane grafting and intercalation of surfactant in clay by ion-exchange reactions. The modifications led to: (1) increased basal spacing of the clay up to ~ 170%, (2) enhanced interaction between the clay and FKM, (3) improved dispersion of the clay in the polymer matrix, (4) advanced thermal stability of the modified clay compared to commercially available products. Among different clay modification methods, surfactant treatment prior to silane grafting resulted in the best intercalation and exfoliation of the clay nanolayers in FKM.

8.2.2. Tuning the curing behavior of FKM by incorporation of Nitrogen-doped Graphene Nano Ribbon (CNx-GNR)

The nanofillers' effect on the crosslinking density of crosslinked polymers, such as elastomers and rubbers, is an important issue that has been addressed in Chapter 5. The target nanofiller here was GNR which were synthesized from MWCNT. FKM was chosen as the crosslinked matrix. The effect of GNR on crosslinking process of FKM was investigated. Based on our results, the concentration and type of GNR surface functional groups exhibited noticeable effect on the curing behavior of GNR/FKM nanocomposites. In this study, un-doped and nitrogen-doped GNRs were synthesized from unzipping custom synthesized un-doped and nitrogen-doped MWCNTs via chemical oxidation protocol. The GNR's surface would be oxidized as a consequence of the oxidation reaction for unzipping. A thermal reduction process was performed to eliminate the oxygen groups and produce a new GNR for GNR/FKM nanocomposite. The GNR/FKM and MWCNT/FKM nanocomposites were prepared through a solution-mixing/melt-mixing protocol. The curing process data showed that while reduced nitrogen-doped GNRs (R-CNx-GNR) had a similar cure behavior as neat FKM, oxidized GNRs had relatively slower cure kinetics. Rheology results, in conjunction with DSC results, support the idea that the oxygen functional groups on the GNR surface can significantly hinder the curing process of FKM composites. Our hypothesis for such behavior is that potential side reactions occur due to the presence of hydroxyl functional groups on the surface of the oxidized GNRs. The effect of reduced GNR on the curing behavior of FKM validates this hypothesis, while the reduced GNR/FKM nanocomposites exhibit a similar cure behavior as that of neat FKM.

Considering all the effects and hypotheses, we conclude that the crosslinking density can be tuned using different types of nanofillers. GNR, because of its high aspect ratio and possibility to modify through surface functional groups, is an ideal nanofiller for this purpose. Using GNR as for property enhancement of the crosslinked polymers is a significant advantage for the curing process.

8.2.3. Hybrid fillers/PVDF nanocomposites

The strategy of using a secondary filler to manipulate dielectric properties was investigated in Chapter 6. Herein, a specific application for MWCNT/poly vinylidene fluoride (PVDF) as charge storage was investigated. These properties could be accomplished by adding an optimum level of nanoclay into the MWCNT/PVDF nanocomposite. The hybrid nanocomposites of MWCNT/Clay/PVDF, with different concentrations of MWCNT and nanoclay, were produced by melt-mixing.

For the particular charge storage application of conductive polymer composites (CPCs), high dielectric permittivity and low dielectric loss are desired. Accordingly, in this work, an interesting combination of a ~670% increase in the dielectric permittivity, combined with a ~ 68% reduction in dissipation factor - the relative dielectric loss - was achieved. In conclusion, we can assume two roles for clay when it is incorporated into the MWCNT/PVDF nanocomposite: (1) dispersion aid, and (2) barrier layer. By examining the effect of clays at two different loading levels - 1.0 wt% and 3.0 wt% - we observed that at a low clay concentration (around 1.0%), they would act as dispersion aids and improve the interfacial polarization and, in turn, the dielectric permittivity. At a higher concentration (3.0 wt.%), however, their barrier role is the most dominant factor, which leads to deterioration in permittivity. Moreover, the clay incorporation also muted the sharp insulator-conductor transition. This would help us to manipulate the CPC close to the percolation threshold, which is significant when the desired dielectric properties are achievable close to the percolation region.

From another perspective, PVDF is a semi-crystalline polymer with piezoelectric properties which vary for different crystalline forms of the polymer. Since the best piezoelectric behavior has been seen for β phase crystal, as compared to other possible crystal phases in PVDF, the effect of nanoclay incorporation on the amount of the β phase were discussed in Chapter 5. It was observed

that as a consequence of the clay incorporation, the amount of β phase crystal increased. Therefore, better piezoelectric, ferroelectric and dielectric properties are expected for this hybrid composite.

8.2.4. Melt-mixing process conditions optimization for clay/FKM nanocomposite mechanical performance

One important factor that determines the properties of nanocomposite is the processing method for the PNC production. Chapter 6 delves into the melt intercalation technique as a means of PNC production. In this project, the melt-mixing process conditions were studied with the goal of attaining the best curing behavior and mechanical performance for the clay/FKM nanocomposite. Cloisite 20A, an organically modified Mnt, was incorporated into the FKM using an internal batch mixer with different shear rates, temperatures and mixing times. An experimental design methodology was used to study the influence of any of these three processing parameters, alone and in combination, on the final properties of the nanocomposites. The enhancement in mechanical properties up to 70%, 94%, and 405% for tensile strength, elongation at break and modulus, respectively, could be achieved through optimizing the process parameters.

Considering thermal, mechanical and rheological properties of the nanocomposites prepared in different conditions, the main conclusions are: (1) the most desirable properties and behaviors, including highest maximum torques, cure rates, crosslinking densities, fast crosslinking kinetics, high intercalation and best improved tensile strengths, were achieved when only one of the meltmixing parameters assumes its highest value and the rest take their lowest ones, (2) the consequence of increasing either the shear rate or residual time causes an increase in the maximum torque, resulting in more crosslinking and enhanced mechanical strength, (3) the best combination of results corresponded to the conditions where the mixing residual time is comparatively longer, and both the temperature and shear rate are at their lower level, and (4) the thermal stability of the composites does not seem to be significantly affected by the process conditions unless we approach or exceed the scorching temperature.

8.3. Recommendations for future work

According to the work accomplished in this thesis and the literature from previous and current studies on this research area, opportunities to continue the study are apparent. Future work and recommendations related to this dissertation are summarized in this section, and split into three areas: (1) mathematical modeling, (2) hybrid fillers, and (3) GNR/FKM nanocomposites.

8.3.1. Mathematical modeling

One recommended method to acquire a more comprehensive understanding about the structure–processing–property relationships of PNCs is via mathematical models. Mathematical modeling can be used to determine a rough estimation about the microstructure and intermolecular forces between the polymer matrix and nanofillers. Moreover, modeling may help in the development of material processing [1]. In addition, some properties and characteristics of the material, such as mechanical properties and elastic behavior of polymers, can be predicted theoretically using micromechanics relationships in mathematical methods [2]. This helps enhance

the interpretation of the materials' behavior and manipulating properties by considering the value of different coefficients and factors of PNC constituents. Two examples of mathematical modeling including interfacial interaction calculation and mechanical properties, i.e. modulus calculation for PNCs are introduced in the following sections.

8.3.1.1. Interfacial interaction between polymer and nanofillers in PNCs

Having a comprehensive understanding of interfacial interactions, optimum filler/polymer nanocomposites with highest level of dispersion thus better properties can be attained with less trial and error experiments. This is due to possibility of prediction of the desired properties based on the interaction between filler and polymer. The interfacial structure and intermolecular forces can be evaluated based on the interfacial tension [3]. The interfacial tension originates from polymers' molecular conformational restriction on the interface and the difference in polarities and intermolecular forces of the two phases [3, 4].

The surface tension of each phase, γ_i , is composed of two components: polar tension, γ_i^P and non-polar (dispersion) tension, γ_i^d [4].

$$\gamma_i = \gamma_i^P + \gamma_i^d \qquad \qquad Eq.8.1$$

Knowing the surface energies of each of the phases - filler and the polymer - the interfacial tension can be estimated:

Where γ_{12} is the interfacial tension, and \emptyset^P and \emptyset^d are the interaction terms for dispersion and polar energies, respectively. Therefore, using the surface energy of the fillers (e.g. carbon nanotube or clay), the interfacial tension for filler/polymer composites can be calculated with the Equation 8.3 [5].

$$\gamma_{12} = \gamma_1 + \gamma_2 - \frac{4\gamma_1^d \gamma_2^d}{\gamma_1^d + \gamma_2^d} - \frac{4\gamma_1^p \gamma_2^p}{\gamma_1^p + \gamma_2^p} \qquad Eq. 8.3$$

8.3.1.2. Mechanical performance of PNCs

Some mathematical models have been studied to predict PNCs' properties based on the properties of the pure components and the morphology of the composite. For instance, the Halpin-Tsai model is a well-known composite theory [1, 2, 6, and 7] that can be used for this purpose. The Halpin–Tsai model was applied to calculate the modulus of the clay/polymer nanocomposite as a function of the clay concentration and aspect ratio. This model evaluates the elasticity of the composite material based on the geometry and orientation of the filler and the elastic properties of the filler and matrix. Different parameters, including the stiffness of the clay and polymer, as well as the clay's volume fraction and aspect ratio, are considered in this model [1, 2].

The overall composite moduli (E_c) can be predicted by the Equation 8.4. [1, 2]

Where E_f , and E_m are overall Young's modulus of the filler and matrix, respectively; ϕ_f is the volume fraction of the filler; and ε is a shape parameter which is a function of the geometry of the filler and the loading direction which itself is a function of the aspect ratio.

$$\varepsilon = f\left(\frac{L}{t}\right)$$
 Eq. 8.6

Using the above mathematical modeling, the optimum amount and type of filler in the PNC, improved mechanical performance can be achieved. In order to get to this point, first validation of the mathematical modelling should be performed and then PNC production based on the properties of filler and polymer can be accomplished.

8.3.2. Hybrid fillers

As shown in Chapter 6, the existence of a secondary filler can tune some properties of the nanocomposites as a consequence of benefitting from superior properties of both fillers with a combination of their optimum amount. For instance, using the electrical conductivity of CNTs
beside the barrier role of nanoclays, tuning the electric and dielectric properties was shown to be possible.

It is proposed that the addition of a second filler in clay/polymer composite reduces the clay platelets' movement, while simultaneously increasing the viscosity of the composite [8]. Further studies are recommended to determine the effect of the second filler in the clay/FKM nanocomposites' properties. The ratio and nature of the second filler should be considered. Carbon black, one of the common fillers for elastomer composites, may be used as the second filler, as it is supposed to reduce the de-intercalation. Finally, thermal and mechanical properties of the dual filler composites should be considered to decide the optimum combinations.

The other interesting hybrid filler composite could be a combination of GNR and CNT. CNT has a higher stiffness and electrical conductivity and GNR has a much higher available surface area. The hybrid's possibility of altering surface functional groups to manipulate compatibilities of fillers and polymer matrix is worth exploring. This has not been purposed previously and would be an original contribution to the area.

8.3.3. GNR/FKM nanocomposites

8.3.3.1. Mechanical and electrical properties

The main purpose of incorporating modified or un-modified nanofillers into polymers is to enhance the materials' properties for different applications. Measuring the nanocomposites' properties is significant to evaluate the effectiveness of each nanofiller in the polymer matrix. Graphene nanoribbon (GNR) is a novel nanofiller which has been synthesized, modified, and utilized in fluoroelastomer in this work. After fully comprehending the role of GNR and its effect on the structure and curing behavior of the fluoroelastomer, the next step is to study the electrical and mechanical properties of the GNR/FKM nanocomposites.

Generally, graphene-based fillers are attractive for nanocomposites due to their stiffness, strength, and thermal conductivity, combined with an impermeability to gases [9-12]. Note that nitrogen-doping is supposed to positively affect morphology, electrical and thermal conductivity [13-16]. It is expected that the proper dispersion of GNR in the FKM matrix leads to reinforcement of the nanocomposite [17]. Also, the change in the electrical properties, as compared to the CNT/FKM nanocomposites, is anticipated. To the best of our knowledge, to date there is no reports on the properties of GNR/FKM nanocomposites.

8.3.3.2. Improve compounding protocol

In this work, the mixing protocol for the GNR/FKM nanocomposite production was solution mixing and several steps of ultra-sonication, followed by melt-intercalation. The microscopic imaging results show that the GNRs lengths were broken. This leads to deterioration in the electrical and mechanical properties of GNR-based nanocomposites. It is essential to find out a more efficient method of mixing without harming the properties of GNRs during the mixing process.

8.3.4.3. Different curing system for GNR/FKM nanocomposites

Although the reactions are not clearly defined, it is essential to consider the possibility of sidereactions between the functional groups on the GNRs' surface with the curing agents, as well as the effect of residue acids on the peroxide curing mechanism. Other curing mechanisms, such as sulfur curing, are worth examining for GNR/FKM nanocomposites to determine the role of GNRs as crosslinking hinderer.

8.4. References

[1]: K.C. Yung, J. Wang, and T.M. Yue. Modeling Young's Modulus of Polymer-layered Silicate Nanocomposites Using a Modified Halpin–Tsai Micromechanical Model, Journal of Reinforced Plastics and Composites, **25** (2006), 847-861.

[2]: J.C. Halpin and J.L. Kardos. The Halpin-Tsai Equations: A Review, Polymer Engineering and Science, **16** (1976), 344-352.

[3]: S. Wu. Surface and Interfacial Tensions of Polymer Melts, Journal of Physical Chemistry, **74** (1969), 632-638.

[4]: S. Wu. Calculation of interfacial tension in polymer systems. Journal of Polymer Science: Part C, 34 (1971), 19-30.

[5]: M. Sumita, K. Sakata, S. Asai, K. Miyasaka, and H. Nakagawa. Dispersion of fillers and the electrical conductivity of polymer blends filled with carbon black. Polymer Bulletin, **25** (1991), 265-271.

[6]: J. C. Halpin, Stiffness and Expansion Estimates for Oriented Short Fiber Composites. Journal of Composite Materials, **3** (1969), 732–734.

[7]: J.E. Ashton, J.C. Halpin, and P.H. Petit, Primer on Composite Materials: Analysis, (1969).Stamford, Conn: Techomic Pub. Co.

[8]: S. Lakshminarayanan, Synthesis, Characterization and Production of Fluoroelastomer/clay nanocomposites, MSc thesis, University of Alberta, 2009.

[9]: H. Kim, A.A. Abdala, and C.W. Macosko. Graphene/polymer nanocomposites.Macromolecules, 43 (2010), 6515–6530.

[10]: R. Verdejo, M.M. Bernal, L.J. Romansanta, and M.A. Lopez-Manchado. Graphene filled polymer nanocomposites. Journal of Material Chemistry, **21** (2011), 3301–3310.

[11]: V. Singh, D. Joung, L. Zhai, S. Das, S.I. Khondaker, and S. Seal. Graphene based materials: past, present and future, Progress in Material Science, **56** (2011), 1178–1271.

[12]: R.J. Young, and I.A. Kinloch. Graphene composites, in: L. Nicolais, A. Borzacchiello, andS.M. Lee, editors. Wiley Encyclopedia of Composites, 2011.

[13]: K. Chizari, A. Vena, L. Laurentius, and U. Sundararaj, The effect of temperature on the morphology and chemical surface properties of nitrogen-doped carbon nanotubes, Carbon, **68** (2014), 369–379.

[14]: K. Gong, F. Du, Z. Xia, M. Durstock, and L. Dai. Nitrogen-doped carbon nanotube arrays with high electrocatalytic activity for oxygen reduction, Science, **323** (2009) 760–764.

[15]: M. Terrones, P.M. Ajayan, F. Banhart, X. Blase, D.L. Carroll, and J.C. Charlier. N-doping and coalescence of carbon nanotubes: synthesis and electronic properties, Journal of Applied Physics A; Material Science Process, **74** (2002), 355–361.

[16]: C.P Ewels, and M. Glerup. Nitrogen doping in carbon nanotubes, Journal of Nanoscience Nanotechnology, **5** (2005), 1345–63.

[17]: Y. Wang, Z. Shi, and J. Yin. Unzipped Multiwalled Carbon Nanotubes for Mechanical Reinforcement of Polymer Composites, Journal of Physical Chemistry C, **114** (2010), 19621–19628.